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2016/17 has been a fantastic year for 
Medway and I feel very fortunate to have 
stepped into the role of Chairman at such 
a positive time.  
As you will be aware, the Care Quality 
Commission published its report in mid-
March, in which the Trust’s rating 
improved considerably. At the same time, 
NHS Improvement removed the Trust from 
special measures, which had been 
imposed on Medway in 2013. 
This is great news for our staff who are so 
committed to the continued improvement 
of quality and safety at the hospital. But 
most importantly, it is great news for our 
patients. 
Of course, we know we still need to do 
more, and we are now focused on 
addressing points raised in the report, and 
on taking this Trust from ‘better’ to ‘best’ 
and on to ‘brilliant’. In May we launched 
phase three of our improvement plan, 
which sets out some specific areas we will 
be concentrating on to ensure we maintain 
momentum. This will be aligned with the 
Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership (STP), the Kent and Medway-
wide overview of how health and social 
care services will need to be delivered 
across the whole of Kent and Medway in 
future. 

There have been changes to our Board 
with the appointment of two new non-
executive directors, Jon Billings and Mark 
Spragg, both of whom bring a wealth of 
experience. They have replaced me in my 
NED role, now that I have become Chair, 
and Martin Jamieson whose term of office 
came to an end in December 2016. 
The Council of Governors have continued 
to support the Trust and provide challenge 
to the Board. During the last 12 months, 
the Governors have further engaged with 
our communities with a series of drop-in 
coffee mornings and membership 
recruitment events. 
I would like to thank the League of Friends 
for the invaluable support they have 
provided to the Trust. We deeply value our 
longstanding relationship with the Friends 
and the equipment that they help to fund 
makes a huge difference to our patients. 
On behalf of the Board, I would like to 
thank all our staff and volunteers for their 
passion and commitment in providing the 
very best of care to our patients and their 
families. 
The future is bright for Medway, and I look 
forward to being a part of it. 
 
 
 
Stephen Clark 
Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Foreword from the Chairman 

Stephen Clark, Chairman 
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Introduction from the Chief Executive 

 
Lesley Dwyer, Chief Executive 

It has been a momentous year at Medway 
and I would like to take this opportunity to 
reflect on the challenges and the 
numerous achievements of the last 12 
months. 
Without doubt the most important moment 
for the Trust this year was NHS 
Improvement’s decision to remove us from 
the special measures regime. I am so 
pleased that the improvements that we 
are all so proud of have been recognised. 
This is a great tribute to our dedicated 
staff and the fantastic job they do day in, 
day out. They really are the best of 
people, working hard to deliver the best of 
care. 

“I’m absolutely delighted that 
Medway has exited special 
measures – and I want to pay 
tribute to the outstanding staff 
there who have always sought 
to put patients first” 
Jeremy Hunt 
Secretary of State for Health 
March 2017 

 

Patient safety is the number one priority 
for any healthcare provider and building 
on the progress we have already made in 
this area has continued to be a key theme 
for us in 2016/17. I’m pleased to say that 
our mortality rates have continued to fall 
and are now in line with national 
averages; our high mortality rates were 
one of the main reasons the Trust was 
placed into special measures in 2013. Our 
patient safety improvements include better 
systems for recognising and responding to 
patients whose condition has deteriorated, 
improved governance processes and 
better shared learning from safety 
incidents. In addition, corridors in our 
Emergency Department are no longer 
used for treating patients. 
We continue to make great strides in 
improving the Medway experience for our 
patients. Our care is now more responsive 
and effective; our patients see fewer 
doctors, enabling them to receive more 
consistent treatment, and are discharged 
sooner. Thanks to the new Home First 
initiative with our partners Medway 
Community Healthcare and Medway 
Council, patients who require further 
support at home can have their needs met 
sooner, allowing them to get back to the 
comfort of their own home. This is better 
for our patients and means that as a Trust 
we have fewer patients on our wards who 
don’t need to be there, freeing up beds for 
the acutely ill. We have also begun work 
on a new community engagement strategy 
that will ensure that the people of Medway 
and Swale are more involved in decisions 
about the services provided at the 
hospital. 

Overview 
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I’m pleased to say that the hospital went 
smoke-free in October 2016; this has 
resulted in a much better and healthier 
environment for all users of our site. This 
was a major milestone for the Trust and I 
would like to thank everyone who has 
been involved in helping us to achieve 
this. We have had fantastic support from 
staff, patients and visitors for which we are 
very grateful. 

 

We were delighted to launch our new 
Trust vision this year which was created 
following feedback from more than 500 
staff. The vision ‘Best of Care, Best of 
People’ represents our aspiration to 
provide the highest quality of care for our 
community with highly-skilled staff. The 
values that underpin this vision, Bold, 
Every Person Counts, Sharing and Open, 
and Together, embody the behaviours of 
our staff in their work every day. 
I always say that without the staff a 
hospital is just bricks and mortar. They are 
the beating heart of everything that we do. 
We have worked hard this year to improve 
the working environment for our staff; 
ensuring they have better support from 
leadership, more training and 
development opportunities and do not 
suffer from unacceptable practices such 
as bullying and harassment. We are 
particularly proud of the fantastic 
MediLead programme which offers 
leadership development for junior doctors 
aspiring to be leaders of the future. 

Developing new and better ways to 
support our staff is something that will 
forever be ongoing and we still have a lot 
to do, but I’m delighted to say that much 
improved feedback from the 2016 Staff 
Survey indicates that staff feel we are 
moving in the right direction. I would like to 
pay tribute to all our staff for the 
compassionate care they provide for our 
patients and for their hard work and 
commitment to improving the hospital. 
However, 2016/17 has not been without 
challenge. The period immediately 
following Christmas was a time of very 
significant pressure for the Emergency 
Department and the hospital more widely. 
This meant that our performance against 
some of the key national targets was not 
what we would like it to be. We have since 
introduced new processes that have 
improved flow and we will continue to 
work with our healthcare partners to 
ensure only the patients that need to 
come to hospital do so, and that patients 
are discharged efficiently. This will be 
greatly aided by the completion of the final 
phase of our Emergency Department 
redevelopment in 2017. 
We continue to work hard to ensure that 
we have the right staffing levels at the 
hospital. In 2016/17 we launched a new 
Trust recruitment campaign featuring our 
own staff and we have been proud to 
welcome many new people to our team.  
Our other significant challenge is our 
financial position. We have to be realistic 
and recognise that improving our financial 
position and eliminating our deficit will 
take some time and cannot be done in a 
few weeks or months. We have developed 
a financial recovery plan which aims to 
take us to a sustainable financial or break 
even position in three to five years. This 
will involve achieving greater efficiencies 
and productivity from our existing 
services, prioritising the recruitment of 
permanent staff to reduce dependency on 
agency workers and improving our 
procurement and contract management. 
We will also work closely with our partners 
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across Kent to look at how we can deliver 
services more efficiently, through the Kent 
and Medway Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership.  

 

 

It has been a fantastic year for the Trust 
but we know we still have much to do if we 
are to consistently provide the level of 
care that the people of Medway and 
Swale deserve. This is why in 2017/18, we 
will work hard to deliver the next phase of 
our improvement plan and continue our 
journey of recovery. 
 
 
 

Lesley Dwyer 
Chief Executive 
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Purpose, activities and history 

Medway Maritime Hospital was originally a 
Royal Naval Hospital, opened by King 
Edward VII in 1905. The hospital cost 
£800,000 and boasted a main corridor of 
nearly 1000 feet in length. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The hospital as it looked in its early days 

 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is a public 
benefit corporation authorised under the 
National Health Service Act 2006. It is a 
single site hospital based in Gillingham, 
Medway Maritime Hospital, which serves 
a population of more than 405,000 across 
the areas of Medway and Swale. 
We provide clinical services to almost half 
a million patients a year, including more 
than 110,000 Emergency Department 
attendances, more than 62,000 
admissions, over 325,000 outpatients 
attendances and more than 5,000 babies 
born last year. 
As an NHS Foundation Trust, we have a 
25-strong Council of Governors and over 
11,000 public members. We employ 4,400 
staff making us one of Medway’s largest 
employers. In addition, 430 volunteers 
provide invaluable support across the 
League of Friends, Hospital Radio and the 
Voluntary Services Department. 

 
Our volunteers perform an important role 

The hospital is made up of three clinical 
directorates – Acute and Continuing Care, 
Co-ordinated Surgical, and Families and 
Clinical Support Services– supported by 
corporate functions. Each clinical 
directorate has a dedicated Director of 
Clinical Operations, Deputy Medical 
Director and Deputy Director of Nursing. 
The Board of Directors, led by Chairman 
Shena Winning until October 2016, and 
then Interim Chairman Dr Peter Carter 
until March 2017 and Stephen Clark from 
April 2017, comprises five Executive 
Directors including Lesley Dwyer, Chief 
Executive, and six Non-Executive 
Directors including the Chair. 
The Trust has been buddied with Guy’s 
and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust 
(GSTT), who have provided support for a 
range of programmes and activities 
undertaken by Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust. 
The Trust attained Foundation status in 
2008. It was in special measures from 
2013 to 2017, and with tremendous effort 
and dedication to improving, it was rated 
overall as ‘Requires improvement’ by the 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) in March 
2017, with ratings of ‘Good’ for being 
caring, effective and well led.  
Our maternity and gynaecology services 
were rated as ‘Outstanding’ for the Caring 
domain in our CQC report. 

About Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
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Our objectives 

The Trust Board has reviewed its strategy 
for the years ahead to ensure it meets the 
health needs of the local population. This 
exercise was carried out in parallel to the 
development of a Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership, together with 
all of the local health partners, including 
the Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs), setting out the future of health 
and social care in the local area over the 
next five years. Upon completion of these 
exercises, the Trust’s revised strategic 
objectives now are:   
1  
We will enable our people to give their 
best and achieve their best. 
2  
We will embrace innovation and digital 
technology to support the best of care. 
3  
We will work collaboratively with our local 
partners to provide the best of care and 
the best patient experience. 
4  
We will deliver financial sustainability and 
create value in all that we do. 

Vision and values 

The Trust has undertaken a huge amount 
of work to improve the way we care for 
patients. We have demonstrated that we 
can be better, now we must aspire to be 
the best. This means providing the highest 
quality of care for our patients, through 
highly skilled staff. 
A key part of making our vision a reality is 
through our values, embedding them in 
everything we do. Our values are: 

• Bold 

• Every person counts 

• Sharing and open 

• Together 
BEST 
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Maternity and gynaecology services were rated as 
‘Outstanding’ for ‘care’, by the Care Quality Commission 

Emergency Department (ED) 
Increasing demand has seen the ED 
receiving over 320 patients a day. This 
had led to the use of overflow areas such 
as corridors surrounding the Department; 
this has stopped since October 2016 as a 
result of: 

• improved policies and practices for 
patients awaiting admission 

• changes to the medical model and flow 
pathways, and 

• improved engagement from our 
Integrated Discharge Team and Mental 
Health partners. 

The new triage process was implemented 
in February 2016, ensuring all patients 
receive a comprehensive assessment with 
a plan of care (those with significant 
concerns within 15 minutes). The process 
has been nationally recognised and we 
have hosted visits from other EDs to learn 
from our improvements. An Emergency 
Care Improvement Programme review 
found the department to be a leader in this 
area. The Trust continues to build upon 
the excellent improvements made in the 
ED triage process into 2017/18. 

An £18million refurbishment of the ED is 
on track for completion in 2018, and will 
provide a 50 per cent increase in clinical 
capacity as well as a much improved 
environment. As part of this estates 
development we are very proud to have 
the only dedicated comprehensive 
Children’s ED in Kent, where performance 
of 95 per cent of attendances are seen, 
treated and admitted or discharged within 
four hours, is maintained in line with the 
national standard. 
We work closely with our health partners 
to alleviate the pressure on the ED and 
the hospital more widely. 
The Trust is consistently the top performer 
in the region for ambulance hand-overs 
and has been cited as an exemplar by the 
South East Coast Ambulance Service. 

Learning and development 
The Trust’s learning and development 
culture has been recognised beyond the 
Trust with excellent feedback from the 
Deanery and medical school. New nursing 
staff undertake an 18-month preceptorship 
and are recognised as ‘new to team’ until 
specific criteria and skills are 
demonstrated. 
We are the only Trust in the region to 
provide a Level 6 and 7 Emergency Care 
course for nurses and we share learning 
and development with neighbouring 
Trusts. 

Key developments 
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Recruitment 
Recruitment and retention rates were 
quickly identified as a threat to quality 
improvement and were addressed with a 
significant reduction in vacancies in some 
critical areas (from 65 per cent to 18 per 
cent for nursing in ED). We are continuing 
to recruit appropriately trained senior 
doctors in emergency medicine against a 
national shortage. 

 

New medical model 
Since March 2016, a change in the 
management of patients has reduced the 
number of different consultants seen by 
each patient, and the length of stay in 
hospital. Alongside the introduction of the 
new medical model, the deteriorating 
patient programme has resulted in a 
reduction of the Trust’s mortality ratio. The 
new medical model has resulted in a far 
greater number of patients being treated 
in an ambulatory setting with more timely 
assessment, treatment and return home. 
The GP Assessment Unit has allowed 
patients to circumvent the ED and be seen 
by an Acute Physician within a consultant-
led service. To reduce unnecessary 
attendances, our single hotline has been 
expanded to include nursing home 
access. 

 
Ward areas now have dedicated morning 
Board Rounds following a structured 
template to maintain pathways to 
discharge and an Expected Date of 
Discharge is recorded on admission. In 
addition, our seven-day consultant-led 
frailty service for older patients is 
designed to prevent unnecessary 
admission for patients who would be 
better served at home or in a community 
facility. 
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Principal risks 

The principal risks to delivery of the 
Trust’s strategic objectives are recorded in 
detail in the Board Assurance Framework 
and the key operational risks are 
described in the corporate risk register 
which are monitored bi-monthly by the 
Executive Group and the Board. A 
summary of significant risks within the 
Board Assurance Framework for 2016/17 
is included within the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

Going concern 

International Accounting Standard 1 (IAS 
1) requires the Directors to assess, as part 
of the preparation of the annual accounts, 
the Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
In accordance with the NHS Foundation 
Trust’s Annual Reporting Manual, the 
accounts have been prepared on a going 
concern basis as we do not intend, nor 
consider that it will be necessary to apply 
to the Secretary of State for the 
dissolution of the Trust without the transfer 
of the services to another entity in the 
foreseeable future. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The current economic environment for 
NHS organisations remains challenging 
with ongoing efficiencies applied to 
contracts, increased demand, and a 
national shortage of clinically trained staff. 
Following a detailed review of the Trust’s 
financial sustainability the Board of 
Directors has developed a Financial 
Recovery Plan to address local issues and  
 

 

ensure the sustainability of services 
provided. The approach taken will ensure 
that the Trust retains control in planning 
for the future whilst focusing on protecting 
and improving services for the benefit of 
the local community. 
Having considered the Trust’s financial 
recovery plans and the likelihood of 
securing additional funding to support the 
financial operations, the Directors have 
determined that it remains appropriate to 
prepare these accounts on a going 
concern basis. Whilst the Trust was in 
deficit in the period, significant effort 
expended in controlling costs has led to a 
stabilising of the situation and a delivery 
against plan. A realistic target for 
improvement is planned in the year ahead 
and a longer term recovery plan is being 
finalised.  
Financial control totals have been agreed 
with NHS Improvement for the two years 
2017-2019 which enables the Trust to 
access revenue support as required 
through the two year period. Any loans 
that are due to be repaid in year will be 
replaced with new borrowings. Due to the 
trading deficit, it is anticipated that there 
will be a net increase in borrowing for 
operational services and to support the 
capital programme in the amount of c.£51 
million during 2017/18. The Trust is taking 
a pro-active best practice approach to 
cash management with detailed cashflow 
forecasting to enable it to manage liquidity. 
In the absence of additional funding, cash 
reserves will be depleted by July 2017. 
NHS Improvement has indicated that 
future funding will be negotiated on a 
month by month basis in line with current 
year practice. The Directors have not had 
any communication indicating that 
necessary support funding will not be 
made available for the foreseeable future 
and have therefore prepared these 
financial statements on a going concern 
basis. 
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The significant risks facing the Trust are 
summarised as follows: 

• The plan is contingent upon receipt of 
sustainability and transformation 
funding of £9.4 million which is linked to 
performance targets and the 
achievement of financial control totals; 

• There is a risk over whether the Trust 
will achieve its full four per cent 
efficiency savings of £12.6 million which 
have been incorporated into its financial 
plan. This level of savings is challenging 
and must be supported with adequate 
operational engagement to deliver 
against agreed detailed plans; 

• The Trust’s reliance on agency staff to 
cover a high level of vacancies remains 
a key challenge. Plans are in place to 
reduce this reliance, predominantly by 
recruiting and retaining more 
substantive staff in key specialties and 
departments. 

• Receiving sufficient income for all 
services provided to Commissioners 
remains a risk due to real term Care 
Commissioning Group (CCG) / NHS 
England budget reductions and 
continued activity demand increases. A 
joint work plan with CCGs is aimed at 
mitigating this risk 

If we include our underlying deficit and the 
risks identified, there are thus material 
uncertainties which cast significant doubt 
as to the Trust’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and therefore may be 
unable to realise its assets and discharge 
its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. The financial statements do not 
include any adjustments that would be 
required if the going concern basis were 
not appropriate.  
The Trust’s accounting policy regarding 
going concern contains further detail and 
should be read in conjunction with the 
Independent Auditor’s report on page 179 
of this report. 
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Operational performance 

 

Overview of operational performance 

As noted above, this has been an 
extremely challenging year for the 
Emergency Department, where the CQC 
had shared the concerns of staff regarding 
the quality of care alongside the time 
target performance. Focus has been on 
improving quality and safety, and 
stabilising the department and 
successfully implementing a number of 
important improvements including triage 
and the Medical Model which has been 
achieved. 

A&E four-hour target 
For 2016/2017, 84.79 per cent of patients 
were diagnosed, treated and discharged 
or admitted from the ED within four hours 
of arrival. This fell short of the national 
target of 95 per cent, and of our local 
trajectory. Although the vast majority of 
trusts in England have not achieved the 
national target, we had expected to have 
maintained our trajectory. 

 

The improvements described earlier can 
be seen in improved safety indicators, and 
we are no longer managing patients in 
inappropriate overflow areas such as the 
surrounding corridors. We anticipate 
activity to continue to increase, and are 
working within the Trust and with external 
partners and stakeholders to ensure that 
only those patients who require acute in-
patient care remain in hospital. This will 
support the improvement required in 
achieving the four-hour standard. 

Referral to Treatment Target 
The national Referral to Treatment Target 
(RTT) was suspended in 2015/16 in 
agreement with the regulators following 
concerns regarding data quality. A process 
to undertake an extensive validation of the 
total waiting lists was started and 
completed. Following on from this a 
process was put in place to continually 
validate the waiting list to ensure that the 
data remains accurate. 
Following the validation exercise the Trust 
consulted the regulators to seek 
permission to return to reporting. After 
approval from the Trust Board and the 
regulators Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
returned to RTT reporting in November 
2016. 
Given that the Trust was not reporting RTT 
data for a proportion of the year 2016/17, 
performance data is not available. 

Performance analysis 
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Cancer waiting times target 
The Trust’s quarterly and annual 
performance against the national cancer 
waiting times standards for 2016/17 is 
shown in the table below. 

 

2016/17 Cancer Waiting Times Performance 
 

Indicator Target Achievement  
Q1 

 
Q2 

 
Q3 

 
Q4 

2 week wait – all cancer 93% 86.67% 75.67% 88.62% 83.78% 

2 week wait – symptomatic breast 93% 88.98% 87.07% 96.30% 94.52% 

31 day wait – first treatment 96% 92.58% 93.72% 94.38% 94.39% 

31 day wait – subsequent treatment (surgery) 94% 95.24% 89.29% 91.67% 91.03% 

31 day wait – subsequent treatment  
(drug treatment) 

98% 98.72% 100% 100% 97.03% 

62 day wait – from urgent GP referral 85% 76.69% 81.31% 76.51% 78.99% 

62 day wait from screening service 90% 88.61% 78.89% 85.71% 94.12% 

62 day wait from consultant upgrade No target 94.12% 73.08% 75.86% 78.72% 

 
There has been an improvement in some 
indicators against the national cancer 
waiting times standards in 2016/17 as a 
result of more transparent reporting and 
oversight by the Cancer Services team 
and at Directorate and Board level. 
Performance has also improved due to the 
development of the Cancer Services 
team, including improved training and 
support provided to the multi-disciplinary 
team meeting coordinators who track 
patient pathways, chase diagnostic test 
results and update the cancer patient 
database. 

However, the Trust has been unable to 
consistently meet compliance with all the 
standards for a variety of reasons, most 
notably the two week wait GP referral 
which was adversely affected due to 
Consultant vacancies in Dermatology and 
the 62 day treatment standard. However, 
the two week wait symptomatic breast 
standard was met consistently from 
September 2016 to February 2017 and 
the 31 day subsequent treatment 
standards were achieved for the majority 
of months.
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Cancer waiting times 

The challenges in meeting the cancer 
waiting times standards are similar to 
those felt by other regional and national 
providers but an ongoing focus on 
reducing delays in patient pathways, 
improving patient experience and 
outcomes via remedial action plans 
developed and monitored by the relevant 
clinical teams and commissioners are 
addressing the problems. 
In 2017/18 the Trust will commence 
reporting performance under the current 
breach allocation and the new national 
guidance for breach allocation. Patients 
that are referred to another provider for 
treatment before day 38 or treated at 
Medway within 24 days of referral from 
another provider and then subsequently 
breach will be allocated as a whole breach 
to the other provider rather than a shared 
breach between providers. It is expected 
that when nationally recorded this new 
breach allocation will improve Medway 
cancer waiting time performance and 
incentivise Trusts to reduce delays in the 
initial stages of pathways. 
During 2016/17 the Cancer Services team 
appointed a new Cancer Clinical Lead as 
well as tumour site specific clinical leads 
with new roles and responsibilities as 
agreed by the Cancer Board which has 
continued to develop as the governance 
and assurance board for cancer services 
and performance. The Cancer Services 
team has also been expanded to include a 
substantive Cancer Compliance Manager, 
MDT Coordinator Team Leader as well as 
additional MDT Coordinators and 
administrative support posts to ensure 
adequate service cover during periods of 
staff leave and absences. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Trust has also been successful in 
appointing substantively to the Lead 
Cancer Nurse and Lead Chemotherapy 
Nurse posts which had been vacant for 
some time. The posts which are jointly 
appointed with Macmillan will now be able 
to lead on developments in both 
chemotherapy and ongoing patient 
experience and recovery for patients 
following cancer treatment. 

CT scanners 

 

 
In April, we took delivery of a new state-
of-the-art scanner to detect cancer in 
patients. The new CT scanner was the 
first of two scanners to arrive at the 
Trust during the year. 
It not only detects more cancers with its 
superior technology, but it also scans 
patients far more efficiently. This means 
patients can be seen more quickly after 
being referred by their GP. 
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The Trust is responding to a changing 
political, economic and social landscape 
which is creating many difficulties for the 
NHS at both a national and local level.  
The year ending 31 March 2017, whilst 
still financially challenging, has seen an 
overall improvement in the financial 
control of the Trust. The reported deficit of 
£42.9 million is £1 million favourable to the 
agreed plan after inclusion of 
Sustainability and Transformation Funding 
(STF),  
NHS England set a number of operational 
and financial targets for the year which the 
Trust worked hard to achieve and received 
£8.3 million core STF funding and £2.5 
million of incentive STF funding as a 
result. 
The Trust received cash support for 
revenue purposes of £46.7 million plus  
an advance of £4.2 million STF in year to 
ensure that obligations of payments to 
creditors and salaries to staff could be 
met.  
Income and Expenditure (Financial 
Performance) 
The table below compares the revised 
Trust income and expenditure plan to the 
outturn position. 

 Plan 
£000 

Actual 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Income 275,636 287,761 12,125 

Expenditure (306,454) (318,096) (11,642) 

EBITDA (30,818) (30,335) 483 

Depreciation (9,693) (9,593) 101 

PDC dividend (1,307) (1,289) 18 

Other non 
operating 
expenses 

(2,021) (1,900) 121 

Profit/(loss) or 
sale of asset 

0 261 261 

Deficit post 
EBITDA 

(43,839) (42,856) 983 

 
 
 
 

Income 

The majority of the Trust’s income is 
directly related to patient care from 
commissioning organisations such as 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
and NHS England (NHSE). This equates 
to 86 per cent of the total Trust income 
and exceeded plan by £8 million. The 
main drivers for this were: 
 
Non Elective Inpatients  £3.5m 
A&E attendances  £1.6m 
Direct Access  £2.9m 
 
Other operating income including STF 
equates to 14 per cent of the Trust total 
income and this includes education and 
training, non-patient services to other 
bodies, research and development, 
parking and facilities charges to other 
Trusts. Other operating income was  
£4.1 million favourable to plan, mainly  
in relation to additional STF incentives. 
Expenditure 

Trust non pay related operating 
expenditure has increased directly in line 
with income, clinical supplies are  
£2.9 million adverse to plan and other 
non-pay costs which include staff related 
expenses, premises and general 
operating costs are £4.1 million adverse 
to plan. 
Pay costs have also increased in line with 
activity however the adverse variance of 
£5.2 million mainly relates to the use of 
agency staff at premium. The Trust has 
worked hard to bring these costs down by 
re-negotiating rates, bringing staff onto the 
in-house bank and recruitment drives for 
substantive staff. 
Capital Expenditure Plan 

During the financial year 2016/17, the 
Trust invested just over £17.6 million in 
capital projects. This is significantly higher 
than the previous financial year but  
£10.6 million lower than the original capital 
plan. This has been re-phased forward. 

Overview of financial performance 
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Significant in-year programmes included 
spends on: 

• Estates and Site Infrastructure -  
£5.2 million 

• Information Management and 
Technology - £2.7 million 

• Medical and Surgical Equipment -  
£1.6 million 

• Smaller Value Business Cases -  
£1.6 million 

• Redevelopment of the Emergency 
Department - £6.5 million 

Re-development of the Emergency 
Department (ED) has continued 
throughout the year and equates to more 
than 30 per cent of capital expenditure in 
the period but also 50 per cent of the 
underspend. 
To date over £12.5 million across two 
financial years has been spent on this 
project, which will continue throughout 
2017/18. The ED refurbishment scheme is 
a cornerstone project in the transformation 
of care at Medway and will not only 
improve emergency facilities, but will also 
enable a better flow into and through the 
hospital for all Medway patients. The 
overall aim of the project is to provide the 
best possible, future proofed emergency 
facilities for Medway patients.  
Cash Flow and Balance Sheet 
The Trust has received cash support for 
revenue purposes of £46.7 million in year 
to ensure that obligations of payments to 
creditors and salaries to staff could be 
met. The revenue cash support was in the 
form of a non-amortising loan.  
The Trust ended the year with £1.6 million 
cash in the bank which is as planned and 
in accordance with retained cash level 
requirements set by NHS England.  
 
 
 

 

 

Financial Outlook 

2017/18 looks to be another challenging 
year for the Trust. Over the last year the 
Trust has stabilised its financial position 
and is now working towards a financial 
recovery plan over the medium term.  
Specifically moving into 2017/18 the key 
financial risks will be: 

• Achievement of the agreed plan in the 
context of the national austerity 
challenge, growing demand and 
financial pressures facing the local 
health economy. 

• Delivery of a comparatively high cost 
improvement programme. 

• Ability of the commissioners including 
local CCGs to deliver their QIPP 
savings to ensure patients avoid 
unnecessary hospital admissions. 

Plans to deliver the in-year target for 
2017/18 have been formulated with Trust 
managers and clinicians, and the overall 
control total in the plan has been agreed 
with NHS Improvement. 
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In accordance with the Local Authority 
Social Services and National Health 
Service Complaints (England) Regulations 
2009, this part of the report sets out a 
detailed analysis of the nature and 
number of complaints received by 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust during 
2016/17. 
In summary: 
576 complaints were received by the Trust 
in the year 2016/17, averaging 48 per 
month. This compares with a total of 543 
complaints received in 2015/16, an 
increase of 6 per cent. 
79 complainants returned for ongoing 
resolution as they remained dissatisfied 
with incomplete or factually incorrect 
responses or required a meeting with 
clinicians. During quarter three, additional 
resourcing was brought in to help the 
clinical directorates address the backlog of 
complaints that had built up. 
Many changes have been made to 
complaints management during this 
financial year and as we close the year 
the directorates have taken full 
responsibility for investigating and 
responding to their complaints. 

Number of formal complaints logged in 
the Trust in 2016/17 vs previous years 

Number of formal complaints logged 
by directorate by quarter  

Key;  

ACC – Acute and Continuing Care 

CS  - Co-ordinated Surgical 

W&C – Women and Children 

F&E – Estates and Facilities 

Subject of complaints (KO41)  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Complaints 

450

500

550

600

650

2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17

0

20

40

60

80

100

Quarter 1

Quarter 2

Quarter 3

Quarter 4

Clinical Care

Communication

Admission & Discharge

Attitude

Outpatient appointment 
delays/cancellations
Inpatient appointment 
delays/cancellations
Property

Other

Consent



24
  

Grading of complaints by directorate 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaints as a percentage of activity 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Top three themes of complaints 

The majority of the complaints received 
into the Trust related to clinical care and 
treatment. These are further broken down 
into medical care and treatment and 
nursing care. During the year the Trust 
received 235 complaints relating to care 
and treatment and nursing care. 
These complaints are further analysed 
and broken down into categories. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The nursing care complaints relate to 
themes including; general poor care, lack 
of assistance with hygiene needs, 
continence care and food and drinks. 

Admission and discharge 

During the year the Trust received 60 
complaints relating to admission and 
discharge.  

Out-patient appointment delays or 
cancellation 

During the year the Trust received 9 
complaints relating to out-patient 
appointment delays and cancellations. 
Broken down by directorate, Acute and 
Continuing Care received 4, Coordinated 
Surgery received 5 and Women and 
Children received none. 

Performance of monthly complaints 
management 

Percentage of complaints 
acknowledged within three working 
days 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Percentage of complaints responded to 
within 30 working days 
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Percentage of complaints responded to 
within 30 working days by directorate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of complaints closed by 
directorate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcome of complaints 

When a complaint is closed, an outcome 
code is assigned to it which can either be 
upheld (where many things have gone 
wrong including the main subject that 
triggered the complaint); partly upheld 
(when one or a few things have gone 
wrong but the main subject that triggered 
the complaint is unfounded or not upheld); 
or not upheld (when the complainant’s 
point of view is acknowledged but the 
investigation process has not found a 
problem with the episode of care). 
The graph below demonstrates the 
outcomes by directorate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of complainants who returned 
for ongoing resolution by directorate 

Sometimes it is necessary for resolution to 
be an ongoing process in order to fully 
respond to the concerns raised by the 
complainant. This can include resolution 
meetings and/or further written 
correspondence. 
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Case studies in 2016/17 and learning 
from a poor experience 

Case study 1 

A complaint was made which described 
the lack of structured care offered to 
women who are between 15 and 18 
weeks of pregnancy.  
This concern was addressed by 
reassuring the patient that a new pathway 
was being prepared for women who are 
pregnant between 14 and 18 weeks, 
ensuring that they are seen in the Fetal 
Medicine Assessment Unit. 

Case study 2 

A complaint was made which described an 
incorrect diagnosis of food poisoning or 
gastroenteritis with the patient being 
discharged home without the appropriate 
care and subsequently being re-admitted 
to hospital.  
The Trust acknowledged that the 
discharge was incorrect and an apology 
was given to the patient. Additional 
training was provided to the junior doctor 
along with support from the clinical lead. 

Case study 3 

Concerns were made with regard to a 
delay in providing a patient’s mammogram 
results. The Trust apologised for a delay in 
issuing the results and a telephone clinic 
has been set up for patients who require 
their test results.  

Complaints to the Parliamentary and 
Health Service Ombudsman 

Complainants are able to refer their 
complaint to the Ombudsman if they 
remain dissatisfied and the complaints 
process is exhausted at local level.  
The Ombudsman has seen an increase in 
the number of complaints received about 
acute trusts in 2016. The Ombudsman has 
revised the way complaints are handled 
and now has a system of an initial check, 
assessment stage and investigation stage. 

The Trust had 12 complaints referred to 
the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman in 2016/17 compared with 16 
in 2015/16. None of these cases were 
upheld, 4 were not upheld and 1 was 
partly upheld; the remaining 7 cases are 
still being considered by the Ombudsman. 
Payments for financial remedy ranged 
from £200 to £5,000 and totalled £6,200. 
Some of the Ombudsman’s failings and 
recommendations include: 

Case 1 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 
together with a financial remedy 

• Lack of risk assessment for an unwell 
patient attending breast clinic 

• Lack of support and care whilst waiting 
for the clinic appointment 

Case 2 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 
together with a financial remedy 

• Delay with arranging a breast biopsy 
and ultrasound scan 

• Delay with arranging an outpatient 
appointment 

Case 3 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 

• Lack of information regarding referral to 
the wound care clinic 

• Lack of documentation regarding 
removal of a cannula 

• Lack of documentation regarding the 
length of time the patient had been 
fasting. 

Case 4 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 
together with a financial remedy 

• Failure to gain consent to proceed with 
internal examination and failure to 
provide analgesia or anaesthetic before 
the examination. 
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Case 5 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 

• Lack of consistency in completing 
pressure/wound documents 

• Omission of a medication 

• Incomplete food diaries.  

The number of complaints referred to 
the Ombudsman 2016/17 compared 
with previous years 

 
 

 

The number of ombudsman cases by 
directorate: 
 
 
The number of ombudsman cases by 
directorate 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary 

In 2017/18 the Trust will continue to 
embed the new decentralised complaints 
management processes with the clinical 
directorates focusing on responding to 
complainants in a timely manner and 
providing remedy when it is possible to do 
so.  
The statements of expectations outlined in 
the user-led vision for raising concerns 
and complaints in health and social care 
developed by the Ombudsman, 
Healthwatch England and the Local 
Government Ombudsman will provide 
essential guidance on complaints 
management going forward. 

Looking ahead 

The directorates will work towards 
meeting the Trust’s target for investigating, 
responding to and closing each complaint 
within 30 working days. 
Datix Web - a bespoke complaint 
management system will be introduced 
early in 2017/18 following training for key 
staff across the Trust. This new system 
will assist the directorates in managing 
their complaints more effectively as well 
as providing enhanced performance 
reporting to ensure effective oversight. 
A programme of training in investigating 
and responding to complaints commenced 
in February 2017 and will be extended 
throughout the year 
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The Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) at Medway NHS Foundation Trust offer 
confidential advice, support and information on health-related matters. They provide a 
point of contact for patients, families and carers. 
PALS logged 3876 contacts in 2016/17, in comparison to 4,083 in 2015/16. 
In order to ensure we provide a fully accessible service, there are a number of methods by 
which patients, families and carers can contact PALS and preferred methods of contact 
are detailed below. Despite a year on year reduction in contact via telephone, it remains by 
far the most popular option for making contact. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 
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Top 5 themes by year 
Our top five themes for 2016/17 are outpatient appointments, admission to hospital, 
clinical care, test results and discharge. The following diagram shows the number of 
contacts PALS have received in respect of each of the top five themes. Communication 
and contact difficulties was a top five theme in 2015/16 but does not feature in 2016/17. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PALS contact by Directorate 

PALS provides extensive support for our clinical directorates and addresses a number of 
queries over the course of each financial year. The year on year number of contacts 
received by clinical directorate is illustrated as per the following diagram. 
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Improvements 

Using the feedback from our patients, 
families and carers are an important way 
by which to make improvements that 
benefit our whole community. Examples of 
improvements made include: 

• ICU – patients complained of being 
unable to sleep due to bright lights. Unit 
can now offer patients sleep masks. 

• Phones going unanswered.  
Any member of staff or management 
can request “Voicemail to Email” so  
they are alerted to messages. 

• Our most used Patient Information 
leaflets now available in Slovak, 
Russian and Polish following concerns 
from patients of these nationalities 

• Signposting around hospital – increased 
use of volunteer floorwalkers to direct 
patients 

• Lack of wheelchairs – now dedicated 
“front of house” porter to collected 
wheelchairs abandoned around the 
hospital to ensure availability 

• Chaplain now has volunteers come in 
on a Sunday to assist patients who 
were otherwise unable to attend 
religious services 
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Whilst keen to acknowledge dissatisfaction where it exists, and to report and act upon that 
feedback promptly and appropriately, the Trust and its dedicated staff are also motivated 
and heartened by the constant stream of positive feedback we regularly receive. Here is 
just a small selection from the last 12 months. 
 
 

Infertility Clinic is outstanding! I 
was given the opportunity to make 
decisions toward my health which I 

have never been offered before 
and was seen quickly throughout 

the year. 

Not only are these people carrying 
out their roles with skill, 

thoroughness and dedication but 
they all showed awareness of my 

humanity. 

Had to attend Sunderland Day 
Centre for a urology procedure. 

The care and dignity given to me 
was second to none. All the nurses 
and doctors were fantastic. Didn’t 

help, me being a very nervous 
patient. So thanks to all in the day 

centre for all your help and 
understanding. 

My nan was on the Bronte Ward 
up until yesterday when she 

passed away. They gave my nan 
the dignity and respect she 

deserved. The care was fantastic, 
couldn’t fault it at all. 

Amazing staff! The staff here made 
a heart-breaking experience 
bearable. I was treated with 

respect at all times; all staff were 
so polite, and showed 

compassion. I was so nervous 
having the procedure done, but 

was put at ease. I couldn’t praise 
them more. 

Great spotting of cancerous 
melanoma. If it wasn’t for the fact 
that the doctor was very diligent 
and professional, my body could 
be riddled with cancer. So I have 

nothing but praise for the 
Dermatology Department at MMH. 

I was a patient at the Cardiac 
Catheter Suite for cardioversion 

today. I was feeling a bit nervous, 
but from when I was admitted to 
when I was discharged, I was 

treated so well. All the procedures 
were explained clearly, any worries 

alleviated and I was treated with 
the utmost respect. 

After being taken to the hospital, I 
was diagnosed with an acute 

aortic aneurysm. The level of care 
and information given to me was 
excellent. Within hours of arrival I 
was given life-saving surgery. The 

consultant and their team were 
brilliant – not forgetting the 

standard of excellence shown in 
ICU and Phoenix Ward. 

I came in as a day patient for an 
operation. The hospital was clean 
and the staff I met were brilliant. 
From entering the Pre-Operative 
Care Unit to leaving the Surgical 
Discharge Unit, everyone made 
my visit as pleasant as possible. 
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As an NHS organisation, and as a 
spender of public funds, we have an 
obligation to work in a way that has a 
positive effect on the communities we 
serve. Sustainability means spending 
public money well, the smart and efficient 
use of natural resources and building 
healthy, resilient communities. By making 
the most of social, environmental and 
economic assets we can improve health 
both in the immediate and long term, even 
in the context of rising cost of natural 
resources. Demonstrating that we 
consider the social and environmental 
impacts ensures that the legal 
requirements in the Public Services 
(Social Value) Act (2012) are met. 
We acknowledge this responsibility to our 
patients, local communities and the 
environment by working hard to minimise 
our footprint. 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is 
committed to reducing the impact on the 
environment from its daily activities 
wherever possible whilst at the same time 
improving the quality of care to its patients 
and services. The environmental impact 
ranges from energy use on site and 
carbon emissions, to waste and transport 
issues. 
As a part of the NHS, public health and 
social care system, it is our duty to 
contribute towards the level of ambition 
set in 2014 of reducing the carbon 
footprint of the NHS, public health and 
social care system by 34 per cent (from a 
1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28 per cent 
reduction from a 2013 baseline, by 2020. 
It is our aim to meet this target locally. 
Policies 

In order to embed sustainability within our 
business it is important to explain where in 
our process and procedures sustainability 
features. 
 
 
 
 

Areas of sustainability 

One of the ways in which an organisation 
can embed sustainability is through the 
use of a Sustainable Development 
Management Plan (SDMP). We will be 
putting together an SDMP in the near 
future for consideration by the board. 

As an organisation that acknowledges its 
responsibility towards creating a 
sustainable future, we help achieve that 
goal by running awareness campaigns 
that promote the benefits of sustainability 
to our staff. 
Climate change brings new challenges to 
our business both in direct effects to the 
healthcare estates, but also to patient 
health. Examples from recent years 
include the effects of heat waves, extreme 
temperatures and prolonged periods of 
cold, floods, droughts etc. The 
organisation has identified the need for 
the development of a board-approved plan 
for future climate change risks affecting 
our area. 
The assessments of the qualitative and 
quantitative impact of the Trust’s activities 
will be carried out as part of the 
forthcoming SDMP review. 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is 
committed to improving systems, 
processes and policies to ensure we are 
not complicit in human rights violations in 
line with the Modern Slavery and Human 
Trafficking Act 2015. The Trust will be 
reviewing its existing arrangements in 
2017/18. 

Environmental performance 

Area Is sustainability 
considered? 

Travel No 

Business Cases No 

Procurement 
(environmental) Yes 

Procurement (social impact) Yes 

Suppliers' impact Yes 
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Partnerships 

The NHS policy framework already sets 
the scene for commissioners and 
providers to operate in a sustainable 
manner. Crucially for us as a provider, 
evidence of this commitment will need to 
be provided in part through contracting 
mechanisms. 
Sustainability comparator for CCGs 

We have not currently established any 
strategic partnerships for commissioned 
services. The following table provides the 
sustainability comparator for our CCGs: 
More information on these measures are 
available here: 
www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-
strategy/reporting/organisational-
summaries.aspx  
Performance 

Since the 2007 baseline year, the NHS 
has undergone a significant restructuring 
process and one which is still on-going. 
Therefore in order to provide some 
organisational context, the following table 
may help explain how both the 
organisation and its performance on 
sustainability has changed over time. 
In 2014 the Sustainable Development 
Strategy outlined an ambition to reduce 
the carbon footprint of the NHS by 28 per 
cent (from a 2013 baseline) by 2020. We 
have supported this ambition as follows: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Trust floor space/number of staff 

 

Energy 

Medway Foundation Trust spent 
£1,815,474.00 on energy in 2016/17, 
which is a 3.1 per cent decrease on 
energy spend from last year. 
 
Energy use –v- carbon emission 
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SD 
Reporting 
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NHS Medway 
CCG Yes No Minimum 

NHS Swale 
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Energy performance analysis 

 
The gas and electricity consumption 
analysis indicates a sharp reduction from 
the high consumption of 2015/16 to lower 
consumption in 2016/17. This indicates 
clearly how well we have implemented 
ISO 50001:2011 energy management 
standard recently across the Trust to 
address contemporary energy issues. 
We have developed a novel collaborative 
initiative between our Trust and the 
University of Greenwich under the caption 
“Deploying Real Time Feedback Interface 
and User Delegate Strategy (DRTFIUDS) 
in Medway Foundation Trust to Reduce 
Cost, Carbon Emission and Promote 
Health and Wellbeing”. The first of its kind 
undertaken within the NHS, this project is 
developed to address energy use 
behaviours across the Trust. The 
objectives are:- 

• To reduce the cost of Trust 
energy/utilities and carbon emission by 
at least 20 per cent (£491k) each year 
using the novel research initiative 
mentioned above.  

• The findings from the research will be 
used to build evidence for external 
funding aimed at further energy and 
sustainability projects within Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

Travel  
We can improve local air quality and 
improve the health of our community by 
promoting active travel to our staff and to 
the patients and public that use our 
services. 
Every action counts and we are a lean 
organisation trying to realise efficiencies 
across the board for cost and carbon 
(CO2e) reductions. We support a culture 
for active travel to improve staff wellbeing 
and reduce sickness. Air pollution, 
accidents and noise all cause health 
problems for our local population, patients, 
staff and visitors and are caused by cars, 
as well as other forms of transport. 
Trust activity has continued to expand in 
line with demand and as a consequence, 
more staff have been employed. This has 
resulted in an increase in the number of 
staff commuting. Therefore our CO2 
emissions have been steadily increasing. 
To mitigate this we have continued to 
implement off-site parking facilities with 
local partners which has included park 
and ride to and from the hospital, we have 
maintained the cycle to work scheme and 
we continue to work with the local bus 
company, Arriva, to improve transport to 
the Trust. 
 

Resource 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Gas 
Use (kWh) 42,904,527 46,646,820 46,381,603 40,559,977 

tCO2e 9,102 9,787 9,707 8,477 

Oil 
Use (kWh) 54,015 49,098 134 0 

tCO2e 17 16 0 0 

Coal 
Use (kWh) 0 0 0 0 

tCO2e 0 0 0 0 

Electricity 
Use (kWh) 7,930,657 8,319,844 14,078,952 7,182,587 

tCO2e 0 0 3,255 3,712 

Green Electricity 
Use (kWh) 5,296,369 5,193,376 0 0 

tCO2e 2,359 2,567 0 0 

Total Energy CO2e 11,478 12,369 12,962 12,188 

Total Energy Spend  £  1,947,299   £ 1,977,119   £ 1,916,265   £ 1,815,474  
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Waste 

The Trust waste management ethic 
continues to focus on issues such as 'zero 
landfill' and the segregation of waste 
streams on the site in a more 
environmentally friendly and cost effective 
manner. The Trust has reduced its clinical 
waste pickups from three days to two days 
per week, thereby reducing carbon 
emissions due to transportation as well as 
cost. 
Waste disposal analysis 
The Trust recycles about 80 per cent of 
waste on site and is planning to implement 
a waste food recycling system before the 
end of the next financial year. We have 
recently introduced recycling collections 
for every office on site. 

Waste recycling breakdown 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Waste 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Recycling 
(tonnes) 818.96 810.16 805.00 839.00 

tCO2e 17.20 17.01 16.10 17.62 

Other 
recovery 

(tonnes) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

High Temp 
disposal 

(tonnes) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

tCO2e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Landfill 
(tonnes) 235.94 278.37 276.12 307.61 

tCO2e 57.67 68.04 67.49 95.36 

Total Waste (tonnes) 1054.90 1088.53 1081.12 1146.61 

% Recycled or Re-used 78% 74% 74% 73% 

Total Waste tCO2e 74.87 85.05 83.59 112.98 
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Finite resource use – water 
Water usage across the Trust has 
increased recently due to building 
expansions and opening up of new units. 
We have monitoring in place to check 
water leakages. 
We have developed a new collaborative 
research initiative on water saving 
captioned "Addressing water leakage and 
wastage in Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust through advance sensing and data 
modelling of human behaviours". The aim 
of this novel research initiative is to 
combine “Technology and Psychology” to 
minimise water leaks and wastage.  
Two key challenges in water management 
are the unnoticed leakages and human 
behaviour and attitudes towards usage. 
There are various methods for detecting 
leaks in a water distribution system. These 
methods are mostly based on sonic leak-
detection principle. Devices operating this 
principle can include acoustic devices that 
make contact with valves and hydrants 
and geophones that listen directly on the 
ground.  
Despite the availability of such methods, 
many leaks including slow leaks via 
dripping taps and small holes on 
underground pipelines are still undetected. 
New techniques based on advanced 
signal processing algorithms, mass flow 
balancing and communication techniques 
are desirable to cover the limitations of the 
current techniques. This is the technical 
challenge in the project. In terms of 
human behaviour, there have been 
applications of machine learning 
techniques to model human behaviour to 
predict the efficiency of resource usage.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
It is intended that the Trust will exploit the 
application of such techniques to predict 
water usage and to help identify factors 
leading to wastage in the NHS. It is 
proposed to combine the improved leak 
detection techniques, data modelling and 
psychology-based user feedback system 
to minimise leaks and wastage of water. It 
is envisaged that the success of this 
proposed project can lead to savings of 
about 20 per cent of water usage across 
our site. 
Water and sewage analysis 

 

 
  

Water 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Mains 
m3 151,726 142,233 196,489 191,039 

tCO2

e 138 130 179 174 

Water & 
Sewage 
Spend (£)  372,416 355,103 515,185  516,191  



37

The hospital is at the heart of the 
community and the Trust considers it 
essential to maintain and foster good 
relations with local residents and 
organisations. 
Over the last year the Trust has developed 
its network of stakeholders in Medway and 
Swale and organised regular briefings with 
a number of individuals and key groups. 
Updates are provided to local MPs, and 
the Chief Executive holds meetings with 
them at regular intervals. The Trust also 
ensures leading councillors are kept 
informed about progress. 
Representatives from the Trust regularly 
attend the local Health and Wellbeing 
Board. They also present to Medway 
Council’s Health and Adult Social Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(HOSC), and the Kent County Council’s 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
Members of these committees attended 
the Quality Summit in March 2017. The 
chair of the Kent HOSC and another 
member also accepted an invitation to visit 
the hospital in January 2017 to see 
improvements and meet the Chief 
Executive. 
The Trust values the work of its governors, 
who are active in the community, and also 
its members. Regular updates are 
provided to governors and members so 
they are informed about developments at 
the hospital and able to have input. 
Opportunities for dialogue are created 
through governor coffee mornings, 
members’ events and member recruitment 
stands. Governor coffee mornings have 
been held in Medway and Swale, while 
member events have focused on a variety 
of issues, including digital innovation and 
quality priorities.  
 
 
 
 
 

The Trust takes advantage of a number of 
communication channels to make sure 
messages are conveyed to the widest 
possible audience within the community, 
such as our newsletter News@Medway, 
social media, and through local 
newspapers and radio. 
As part of its recruitment programme, the 
Trust also works with education 
establishments, at the same time 
encouraging young people to become 
involved in the work of the Trust. A local 
school has supported the hospital by 
singing in the foyer at the launch of the 
smoke-free initiative, and by producing a 
mural for display in the main corridor. 
In the months leading up to the site 
becoming smoke-free in October 2016, 
the Trust engaged with residents in the 
neighbourhood, and this has continued in 
the months since the launch. 

 
  

Community relations 

Members at a recent workshop discussing the Trust's 
quality priorities 
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The following developments have taken 
place since the end of the financial year 
2016/17. 
In early May 2017 we launched phase 
three of our improvement plan – Better, 
Best, Brilliant. This builds on the 
foundations laid in phase one and phase 
two of our recovery plan, and is based on 
our four strategic objectives: 

• Integrated healthcare 

• Innovation 

• People 

• Sustainability. 
Thirteen workstreams sit under these 
objectives, each led by an Executive 
Director. 
The improvement plan will address the 
Trust’s identified priorities.  
The first priority being focused on is 
patient flow through the hospital, with a 
concerted effort to improve patient 
experience and increase the percentage 
of patients being treated in, transferred or 
discharged from the Emergency 
Department within four hours to 95 per 
cent. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Future developments 
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The Trust does not have any overseas 
operations. 
As Accounting Officer, I am satisfied that 
this performance report provides a true 
and accurate summary of the performance 
of the Trust during the year 2016/17. 

Signed 
 
 
 
 
Lesley Dwyer 
Chief Executive  
May 2017 
  

Overseas operations 



  

  
Accountability report 
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Board of Directors 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust is run by a 
Board of Directors, comprising a non-
executive chairman and up to seven other 
non-executive directors and up to five 
executive directors. The Chief Executive 
leads the executive team1 and is 
accountable to the Board for the 
operational delivery of the Trust.  
The non-executive directors scrutinise  
the performance of the executive 
management team in meeting agreed 
goals and objectives and monitor 
performance. However, the Board is 
collectively responsible for the 
performance of the Trust. 
The Board meets monthly and its role is to 
determine the overall corporate and 
strategic direction of the Trust and ensure 
the delivery of the Trust’s goals and 
targets. 
The Board of Directors has reserved 
powers to itself covering: 

• Regulation and control 

• The determination of board committees 
and their membership 

• Strategy, plans and budgets 

• Policy determination 

• Audit 

• Annual Report and Accounts 

• Performance monitoring 
As far as the directors are aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the 
NHS foundation trust’s auditor is unaware. 
The directors have taken all the steps that 
they ought to have taken as directors in 
order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish 
that the NHS foundation trust’s auditor is 
aware of that information.  
 
 
 
 
1 The Director of Corporate Governance, Risk, Compliance and 
Legal and the Director of Communications are full members of 
the executive team but are not members of the Board. 

                                            
 

 

The directors have taken all the steps that 
they ought to have taken as directors in 
order to do the things mentioned above, 
and: 

• made such enquiries of his/her fellow 
directors and of the company’s auditors 
for that purpose; and 

• taken such other steps (if any) for that 
purpose, as are required by his/her duty 
as a director of the company to exercise 
reasonable care, skill and diligence. 

 

Directors’ Report 
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The Board has an approved Scheme of 
Delegation which includes a schedule of 
items reserved to the Board. In turn the 
Board delegates some of its powers to its 
committees. The arrangements for 
delegation are set out in the Trust’s 
Standing Orders and Scheme of 
Delegation. The Trust’s Constitution and 
terms of reference of these committees 
and their specific powers are approved by 
the Board of Directors. The Board 
committees are all assurance committees 
with the exception of the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee. The Board 
approves the appointments to each of 
these committees which it has formally 
constituted. All Board committees have a 
non-executive chair. 
An independent consultant has been 
commissioned to undertake a Well Led 
Governance Review in 2017, in 
accordance with NHS Improvement 
guidance. 

The executive team was well 
established and performing as a highly 
cohesive unit with a shared vision and 
clarity of purpose. Governance 
arrangements had been strengthened 
and there was a clear line of 
accountability. The strategic and 
recovery plans were well constructed 
and supported by appropriate 
programme management. Furthermore, 
these plans had been clearly translated 
into local divisional and service plans.  
Reported by the Care Quality Commission 
March 2017 
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Decisions delegated to the Executive Group 

The Executive Group consists of directors of Clinical Operations and executive directors 
meeting fortnightly and is chaired by the Chief Executive. Its purpose is to ensure that the 
objectives agreed by the Board are delivered and to analyse the activity and performance 
of the Trust against the business plan to ensure that duties are appropriately delegated to 
the senior management team and actions monitored. It also ensures that the key 
information from external bodies is discussed, actions identified and messages 
disseminated appropriately across the organisation. 

Directors of Medway NHS Foundation Trust 2016/17 

 
Current and past directors 
 

Peter Carter1 Non-Executive Director and Interim Chairman 

Shena Winning2 Non-Executive Director and Chairman 

Ewan Carmichael Non-Executive Director 

Stephen Clark3 Non-Executive Director 

Martin Jamieson4 Non-Executive Director 

Jan Stephens Non-Executive Director 

Tony Moore Non-Executive Director 

Joanne Palmer Non-Executive Director 

Lesley Dwyer Chief Executive 

Dr Diana Hamilton-Fairley5 Medical Director 

Dr Patricia Bain6 Chief Quality Officer 

Karen Rule7 Director of Nursing 

Darren Cattell Interim Director of Finance 

Rebecca Bradd8 Acting Director of Workforce 

James Devine9 Director of HR and Organisational Development 

 
1 Peter Carter, non-executive director and interim Chairman, who was appointed on 9 November 2016 and left the Trust 
on 31 March 2017. 
2 Shena Winning, non-executive director and Chairman, left the Trust on 14 October 2016. 
3 Stephen Clark will be appointed as Chairman with effect from 1 April 2017. 
4 Martin Jamieson, completed his term of office and left the Trust on 21 December 2016. 
5 Diana Hamilton-Fairley was appointed as Medical Director with effect from 17 December 2016 having previously been 
Interim Medical Director from 19 October 2015. 
6 Patricia Bain, resigned from the Trust with effect from 2 January 2017. 
7 Karen Rule, was appointed as Director of Nursing with effect from 1 November 2016 having previously been Interim 
Director of Nursing from 19 October 2015. 
8 Rebecca Bradd was Acting Director of Workforce until 30 October 2016. 
9 James Devine, Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development from 31 October 2016 
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Executive team 

In compliance with NHS Improvement’s 
Code of Governance, no executive 
director holds more than one non-
executive directorship of an NHS 
Foundation Trust or other organisation of 
comparable size and complexity. 
During the last 12 months there has been 
stability in the Board of Directors, with 
interim appointments being replaced by 
permanent directors. The Board has given 
careful consideration to the range of 
experience and the skills required to run 
an NHS Foundation Trust and has been 
recruited a permanent Chairman and 
three non-executive directors in the latter 
part of the financial year. Stephen Clark, 
an existing non-executive director will be 
appointed Chairman with effect from  
1 April 2017. 

Non-Executive Directors 

Non-executive directors are appointed for 
a period of three years and can be 
appointed for a further period of three 
years. 
Arrangements for the appointment and 
termination of appointment of non-
executive directors are set out in the 
Trust’s Constitution. The Constitution 
states that the Council of Governors has 
the power to appoint and remove the 
Chairman of the Trust and other non-
executive directors. Removal can only 
happen if three quarters of the Council of 
Governors members approve the motion. 
All non-executive directors are considered 
to be independent by the Board of 
Directors as per NHS Improvement’s 
Code of Governance for NHS Foundation 
Trusts. 
The Senior Independent Director is 
responsible for appraising the Chair’s 
performance and it is for the Council of 
Governors to agree the process by which 
the appraisal is undertaken. 
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Board Directors in post on 31 March 
2017 

Dr Peter Carter 
OBE 
Interim Chairman 
Peter Carter 
trained as a 
psychiatric and 
general nurse and 
worked in clinical 
practice before 
embarking on a 

managerial career. He has worked in a 
number of senior management positions 
in Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire, London 
and Kent.  
For 12 years he was the Chief Executive 
of the Central and North West London 
NHS Trust. In 2007 he became CEO of 
the Royal College of Nursing which covers 
the four countries of the United Kingdom. 
He is a member of the Chartered Institute 
of Personnel and Development and has 
an MBA and PhD from the University of 
Birmingham. He is also an Honorary 
Fellow of the College of General 
Practitioners and in 2010 was awarded 
the Presidents medal of the Royal College 
of Psychiatrists. In 2006 the Queen 
bestowed on him the OBE for his services 
to the NHS. Since leaving the Royal 
College of Nursing he has been working 
as an independent management 
consultant and since November 2016 has 
been the interim Chairman of Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Ewan Carmichael 
CBE 
Non-Executive 
Director 
Ewan Carmichael 
was appointed as a 
non-executive 
director on 1 
September 2015. 
Ewan is a retired 

dental surgeon and regular Army officer. 
As Director General Army Medical 
Services, he led those services until the 
end of combat operations in Afghanistan, 
when they achieved their best operational 
casualty survival rate in recorded history - 
halving the operational death rate. He 
previously founded and led the Air Assault 
Medical Regiment on operations. He 
commanded 2 Medical Brigade, directing 
the Army’s Field Hospitals for service in 
Iraq and Afghanistan, and the Army 
Medical Services Training Centre, which 
was recognised as ‘the world leader’ of its 
kind. 
A graduate of the Army Staff College, he 
holds an MA in Strategy from King’s 
College, London. Formerly Queen’s 
Honorary Dental Surgeon and a 
Commissioner of the Royal Hospital 
Chelsea, he is an Honorary Fellow in 
Dental Surgery of the Royal College of 
Physicians and Surgeons of Glasgow and 
a Fellow of the Institute of Healthcare 
Management. Prior to his CBE, he was 
awarded an MBE for Squadron leadership 
in the first Gulf War, appointed as an 
Officer of the Order of St John for work in 
Bosnia, and awarded the Cross of Merit 
by the Czech Republic for services to that 
nation. 
Membership of committees 
Quality Assurance Committee (Chairman), 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee. 
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Stephen Clark 
Non-Executive 
Director 
Stephen Clark was 
appointed as a 
non-executive 
director on 1 
January 2016 and 
will be the Trust 
Chairman from  

1 April 2017. 
Stephen has over 40 years’ experience in 
wealth management, investment banking, 
stockbroking and fund management. He 
has been Chief Executive of three 
significant financial institutions, 
Oppenheimer International, Gerrard 
Investment Management and Moscow 
Narodny Bank/VTB Capital, where he 
became Chairman. 
He is a non-executive director of Nutmeg, 
the online investment management 
business. Stephen is an Honours 
Graduate in Financial Services from 
University of Manchester Institute of 
Science and Technology (UMIST), a 
former Visiting Fellow at Manchester 
Business School, as well as a qualified 
banker and Chartered Fellow of the 
Chartered Institute for Securities and 
Investment. 
His activities include Pro-Chancellor and 
Chair of Governors at Canterbury Christ 
Church University, Vice Chairman, 
Marshalls Charity (Church of England), 
Chairman, 3H Fund, and Senior Advisor 
and Chairman of the Disciplinary Panel, 
Chartered Institute for Securities & 
Investment. Stephen is also a member of 
Henley Business School Strategy Board 
and acts as a business mentor under the 
London First Leadership Exchange 
scheme. 
Membership of committees 
Integrated Audit Committee (Chairman), 
Finance Committee, Charitable Funds 
Committee, Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee. 

Tony Moore 
Non-Executive 
Director 
Tony Moore was 
appointed a 
designate non-
executive director 
on 1 December 
2013, and formally 
appointed to the 

Board on 1 April 2014. Tony has agreed to 
serve for a further three-year term from 1 
April 2017. 
Tony is a qualified chartered accountant. 
In April 2013, Tony relinquished his full-
time position as vice-president Europe, 
Middle East and Africa with Kimberly-Clark 
Corporation. Tony has undertaken a wide 
range of operational and strategic 
leadership roles during his 35-year career 
across a range of manufacturing 
industries. 
Additionally, Tony was Director and 
Chairman of Kimberly-Clark Pension Trust 
Limited for eight years, and has served as 
a Director of the Valley Invicta Academy 
Trust based in Maidstone, Kent. 
Membership of committees 
Finance Committee (Chairman), 
Charitable Funds Committee (Chairman), 
Integrated Audit Committee and 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee. 
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Joanne Palmer 
Non-Executive 
Director 
Jo Palmer was 
appointed a non-
executive director 
on 1 September 
2015 and Senior 
Independent 
Director with effect 

from 22 December 2016, and Deputy 
Chair with effect from 1 April 2017. 
Jo has over 25 years’ experience in 
banking and financial services across a 
range of disciplines. 
Since joining Lloyds Banking Group in 
2000, Jo has held a number of senior 
executive positions covering major 
transformation, acquisition, integration 
programmes and large-scale operations. 
She was part of the management team 
that recommended and delivered the sale 
and carve-out of the Lloyds TSB 
Registrars business into private equity 
ownership in 2007. Jo transferred with the 
business as Chief Operating Officer for 
Equiniti Group, returning to Lloyds 
Banking Group in 2009. 
Jo currently has executive accountability 
for divested businesses including the 
ongoing service provision for Sainsbury’s 
Bank and the newest UK Bank, TSB. She 
is leading the design of the service 
provision arrangements for the new ring-
fenced banking and resolution regulations. 
She also has executive accountability for 
all aspects of the Group’s extensive 
property portfolio including head offices, 
branch network, data centres and other 
critical facilities. 
Jo is the Executive Sponsor for emerging 
talent across the 20,000 colleagues within 
Lloyds Banking Group Operations, and is 
a member of the national committee for 
the Group’s women’s network, 
Breakthrough. She is also an active 
executive sponsor of inclusion and 
diversity activities across Lloyds Banking 
Group. 

Membership of committees 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee (Chair), Integrated Audit 
Committee. 
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Jan Stephens 
Non-Executive 
Director 
Jan Stephens was 
appointed as a 
non-executive 
director on 1 
August 2011 and 
re-appointed in 
August 2014. 

Jan joined Kent Police in 1975 and served 
for around 36 years as a police cadet, 
police officer and then as a police 
manager until November 2011. She 
worked in the Medway towns as a police 
officer on four occasions, finally serving as 
Medway’s area commander (chief 
superintendent) in 2006 before retiring in 
2008. 
Jan also served in Swale as area 
commander between 2001 and 2003. Her 
policing career was varied including senior 
police management roles covering uniform 
operations, crime investigations, crime 
reduction and partnership working. After 
retiring, Jan was appointed as Kent 
Police’s policy and governance manager. 
Jan has lived in Medway since 1988 and 
is a trustee of Medway Youth Trust - a 
charity delivering employment and career 
guidance services together with other 
development opportunities for young 
people. Jan is also a trustee of the Foord 
Almshouses. 
As part of her role at the Trust, Jan 
represents the non-executive directors on 
a committee specially set up to establish 
and oversee a smoke-free policy at the 
hospital. Jan is also Non-Executive led for 
both Safeguarding and Whistleblowing. 
Membership of committees 
Quality Assurance Committee, Charitable 
Funds Committee, Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee. 

Lesley Dwyer 
Chief Executive 
Lesley Dwyer was 
appointed as Chief 
Executive on 18 
May 2015. Lesley 
is a highly 
experienced 
executive manager 
with more than 30 

years’ experience across the public health 
system. 
Prior to taking up the role as Chief 
Executive, Lesley held senior executive 
roles in government and health services 
within the Australian Health System. 
Lesley has worked in a number of roles at 
times of reform and challenge in large 
multi-site tertiary and quaternary 
organisations, including Victoria, South 
Australia. 
Lesley’s most recent role in Australia was 
Chief Executive of West Moreton Hospital 
and Health Service in Queensland. It is 
here where Lesley led the turnaround of a 
failing health service to that of a high 
performing integrated health system. 
Through these roles, Lesley has gained a 
complete understanding and experience 
of public sector accountabilities, effective 
governance and performance frameworks, 
which have ensured the effectiveness and 
quality of services delivered. 
Lesley has extensive experience and 
knowledge gained within primary, 
community and tertiary healthcare 
settings, working collaboratively across 
agencies and jurisdictions. She has led 
multi-faceted change and improvement 
programmes aimed at raising 
organisational performance, and 
integrating service delivery across entire 
healthcare systems. 
Lesley’s clinical background is in nursing. 
She has tertiary qualifications in health 
management, as well as being a Member 
of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. 



49

James Devine 
Executive 
Director of Human 
Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 
James was 
appointed as 
Executive Director 
of Human 
Resources and 

Organisational Development (HR & OD) in 
October 2016. 
James joined the Trust from Great 
Ormond Street Hospital for Children 
where he held the position of Deputy 
Director of HR & OD. He has also worked 
at other London hospitals in senior HR 
roles, and until recently, was the Chair of 
the Association of UK University Hospitals 
(AUKUH) Deputy HR Director Network. 
James is also a member of the London 
Board for the Healthcare People 
Management Association (HPMA). 
He is a Chartered Member of the 
Chartered Institute of Personnel and 
Development and holds an MSc, and has 
also undertaken periods of study in the 
field of psychology with the Open 
University and the University of 
Cambridge. James also writes a monthly 
column for an HR news journal. 
As part of his role, James provides 
strategic leadership on the workforce 
agenda. 

Darren Cattell 
Interim Director of 
Finance 
Darren joined 
Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust in 
late January 2016 
as the Interim 
Director of Finance. 
Darren is a 

qualified accountant with more than 20 
years’ experience in the NHS. 
Darren has a wealth of experience in 
financially challenged NHS organisations. 
Darren’s more recent experience includes 
financial turnaround work in foundation 
trusts in breach of licence, as well as the 
development and implementation of 
financial recovery plans when a trust faces 
severe financial difficulties. 
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Diana Hamilton-
Fairley 
Medical Director 
Diana Hamilton-
Fairley was 
appointed Interim 
Medical Director on 
19 October 2015, 
as part of the 
Trust’s buddying 

agreement with Guy’s and St Thomas’ 
NHS Foundation Trust (GSTT). With effect 
from 17 December 2016 Diana was 
appointed as permanent Medical Director. 
Diana was a Consultant Obstetrician and 
Gynaecologist at Guy’s and St Thomas’ 
NHS Foundation Trust (GSTT) since 
1996, and served as Director of Education 
Transformation. 
Diana was Clinical Director for Women’s 
Services and Deputy Acting Medical 
Director at GSTT between 2004 and 2011, 
and Head of the London School for 
Obstetrics and Gynaecology between 
2008 and 2011. 
Diana was previously joint Director of 
Quality and Education for Health 
Education South London (South London 
LETB) between 2013 and 2014. 
As Dean of secondary care specialities at 
the London Deanery from 2011 to 2013, 
Diana led on commissioning and quality 
management of commissioned and non-
commissioned postgraduate medical 
education. 
Diana was elected as the London Fellows’ 
representative for the Council of The 
Royal College of Obstetricians and 
Gynaecologists (RCOG) in July 2011. She 
is an appointed member of the London 
Clinical Senate Council. 
Through the buddying agreement with 
GSTT, Diana is aware of how hard staff 
work and their dedication to patient care. 
Diana continues to work with staff and 
patients at Medway Maritime Hospital to 
improve patient outcomes and experience. 

Karen Rule 
Director of 
Nursing 
Karen Rule was 
appointed as 
Deputy Chief Nurse 
in October 2014. 
She was appointed 
Interim Director of 
Nursing in October 

2015 and with effect from 1 November 
2016 was appointed permanent Director 
of Nursing. 
Karen possesses a wealth of experience 
in a variety of challenging nursing roles, 
predominantly in acute medicine. Karen 
trained as a registered nurse at Guy’s 
Hospital, qualifying in 1985. Before Karen 
arrived at Medway NHS Foundation Trust, 
she was the Directorate Head of Nursing 
for Ambulatory Care Services at Guy’s 
and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation Trust. 
As part of this role, Karen led a successful 
clinical and non-clinical workforce and 
service implementation of a seven-day 
service in sexual health. 
In her current role, Karen provides 
professional leadership to nurses and 
midwives in the Trust, and works closely 
with the Medical Director to deliver the 
Trust’s Quality Strategy. This ensures the 
Trust provides, and will continue to 
provide, safe, effective and 
compassionate patient care. 
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Board Appointments - Directors who 
left the Trust during 2016/17 

Patricia Bain 
(left the Trust on 2 January 2017) 
(Chief Quality Officer) 
Martin Jamieson 
(left the Trust on 21 December 2016) 
(Non Executive Director) 
Shena Winning 
(left the Trust on 14 October 2016) 
(Chairman) 
  



52
  

Attendance at Board of Directors 
meetings in 2016/17 
 

Member  Total  

Dr Patricia Bain 7 of 9 

Rebecca Bradd 7 of 9 

Ewan Carmichael 9 of 11 

Darren Cattell 10 of 11 

Stephen Clark 7 of 11 

Peter Carter 3 of 3 

James Devine 3 of 3 

Lesley Dwyer 10 of 11 

Dr Diana Hamilton-
Fairley 

8 of 11 

Martin Jamieson 5 of 9 

Tony Moore 9 of 11 

Joanne Palmer 8 of 11 

Karen Rule 10 of 11 

Jan Stephens 10 of 11 

Shena Winning 7 of 7 

During 2016/17 there were eleven Board 
meetings. 

Board of Directors’ Register of 
Interests 

Under the terms of the Trust’s 
Constitution, the Board of Directors are 
individually required to declare any 
interest, as soon as they become aware of 
it, which may under the terms of the 
constitution, conflict with their appointment 
as a director of Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust. 
A register of the directors’ interests is 
available to the public via the Trust’s 
website www.medway.nhs.uk or on 
request from the Trust Secretary, Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust, Medway Maritime 
Hospital, Windmill Road, Gillingham, Kent 
ME7 5NY. Details are also set out in the 
biographies within this report. 

Development of working relationships 
with the Council of Governors 

The Board of Directors and the Council of 
Governors have development/discussion 
sessions to discuss particular areas of 
interest and concern. With the challenges 
facing the Trust, these sessions enable 
the views of both the Board of Directors 
and Council of Governors to be shared 
and therefore considered invaluable to all 
concerned. 
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Committees of the Trust Board 

Integrated Audit Committee 
 

Members  Committee 
role 

Attendance  

Stephen Clark 
(Non-
Executive 
Director) 

Chairman 

 

5 of 5 

Tony Moore 
(Non-
Executive 
Director) 

Member  5 of 5 

Jan Stephens 
(Non-
Executive 
Director) 

Member until 
September 
2016 

1 of 2 

Jo Palmer 
(Non-
Executive 
Director) 

Member from 
September 
2016 

1 of 3 

Martin 
Jamieson 
(Non-
Executive 
Director)  

Member until 
May 2016 

1 of 1 

The Integrated Audit Committee (IAC), 
which consists of not less than three non-
executive directors of the Trust, is required 
to meet at least four times a year and 
provides the Board with an independent 
and objective view on its financial and 
non-financial information and compliance 
with laws, guidance and regulations 
governing the NHS. Four meetings were 
scheduled in order to provide adequate 
assurance to the Board. The IAC provided 
a report to the Board after every meeting 
and an update to the Council of 
Governors. 
The Committee’s main responsibility is to 
provide the Board with assurances in 
respect of governance, risk management 
and internal control and effectiveness of 
systems across the whole of the 
organisation’s activities (both clinical and 
non-clinical) that support the achievement 
of the organisation’s objectives. The 
Committee considered significant issues 
in relation to financial statements, 
operations and compliance, as well as 
how to address these matters. The 

effectiveness of the external audit process 
is within the remit of the Committee. 
Internal Auditors report to every meeting 
of the IAC to provide relevant assurances 
regarding the adequacy and effectiveness 
of internal controls. The IAC carries out an 
annual review of the adequacy of internal 
audit. External auditors attend every 
meeting of the IAC to provide progress 
reports and actions taken as part of the 
annual audit plan. They also contribute to 
discussions on systems and processes. 
Counter fraud specialists report to every 
meeting of the IAC to provide relevant 
assurances regarding the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal controls relating 
to fraud and an update on current or new 
fraud cases and actions taken as a result 
of those cases. 
As is normal practice, during 2016/17 the 
Audit Committee signed off the Annual 
Audit plan for Internal Audit, Counter 
Fraud and the proposed External Audit 
work plan. Regular progress reports 
against these plans were presented to 
each Audit Committee. 
The Audit Committee also received 
Internal Audit reports in the following 
areas: 

• Temporary staffing 

• Serious incidents 

• Risk management 

• IT change management. 

The reports provided some degree of 
assurance and identified 
recommendations for improvement that 
have been accepted by the Executive. The 
IAC was assured that the actions 
identified would lead to the required 
improvements. 
The IAC also received the Annual Internal 
Audit report, the Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion, the Annual Governance 
Statement, the Annual Counter Fraud 
report and the External Audit Opinions on 
the Financial Accounts and the Quality 
Account and recommended acceptance to 
the Trust Board. 
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Quality Assurance Committee 
 

Members Committee 
role 

Attendance 

Ewan 
Carmichael 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Chairman 9 of 10 

Jan Stephens 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member  9 of 10 

Lesley Dwyer 
(Chief 
Executive) 

Member  5 of 10 

Karen Rule 
(Director of 
Nursing) 

Member 7 of 10 

Diana 
Hamilton-
Fairley 
(Medical 
Director) 

Member 7 of 10 

Trisha Bain 
(Chief Quality 
Office) 

Member to 
December 
2016 

5 of 7 

During the year there were nine meetings. 
The Quality Assurance Committee, which 
consists of no less than two non-executive 
directors of the Trust, one acting as Chair, 
the Chief Executive, the Medical Director 
and the Director of Nursing, meets on a 
monthly basis. It is also regularly attended 
by directors of clinical operations and 
deputy directors of nursing. 
The Quality Assurance Committee 
ensures an integrated and co-ordinated 
approach to the development and 
monitoring of the quality metrics (patient 
safety, patient experience and clinical 
effectiveness) at a corporate level, it leads 
on the monitoring of quality systems within 
the Trust to ensure that quality is a key 
component of all activities within the Trust, 
and assures compliance with regulatory 
requirements and best practice with 
patient safety, patient experience and 
clinical effectiveness.  
 
 

 

The Committee regularly receives 
assurance and seeks further guidance or 
actions on: 

• Reports on serious incidents 

• Infection prevention and control 

• Outcomes from Clinical Audit 

• Reports on complaints and other 
matters relating to the experience of our 
patients. 

• Reports on Safeguarding. 

The Quality Assurance Committee 
provides a report to the Board of Directors 
after every meeting on its activities which 
includes reports on infection control. 
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Finance Committee  
 

Members Committee 
role 

Attendance  

Tony Moore 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Chairman 3 of 3 

Stephen Clark 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member from 
January 2017 

1 of 3 

Joanne Palmer 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member from 
January 2017 
to February 
2017 

1 of 1 

Darren Cattell  Member 3 of 3 

Glynis 
Alexander  

Member 2 of 3 

James Devine  Member 2 of 3 

The Finance Committee was established 
in January 2017 to replace the former 
Finance and Performance Committee and 
to incorporate the Investment and 
Contracts Committee. 
During the year, the Finance Committee, 
met on a monthly basis from January 
2017 and provided the Trust Board with 
assurance that the Trust strategy, financial 
forecasts, plans and operational 
performance were being considered in 
detail, and to provide independent and 
objective assurance to the Trust Board 
regarding investments and significant 
contracts prior to approval by the Trust 
Board.  

Investment and Contracts Committee 
 

The function of the Investment and 
Contracts Committee has been replaced 
by the Finance Committee with effect from 
January 2017. 
The committee met three times during the 
year. 
The Investments and Contracts 
Committee’s membership included no 
fewer than three Non-Executive Directors, 
including the Committee Chair, and the 
Director of Finance. Attendees include 
Executive Directors and/or Clinical 
Divisional Representative where 
appropriate, and where necessary, a 
representative(s) from the Directorates to 
comment on specific investment issues. 
The Investments and Contracts 
Committee provided a verbal report to the 
Board of Directors after every meeting on 
its activities. 

Members Committee 
role 

Attendance  

Tony Moore 
(Non-
Executive 
Director) 

Chairman 3 of 3 

Jan Stephens 
(Non-
Executive 
Director) 

Member 1 of 3 

Stephen Clark 
(Non-
Executive 
Director) 

Member 1 of 3 

Darren Cattell 
(Interim 
Director of 
Finance) 

Member  3 of 3 
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Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee 
 

Members  Committee 
role 

Attendance  

Peter Carter 
(Interim 
Chairman) 

Member from 
November 
2016 to March 
2017 

1 of 1 

Shena Winning 

(Chairman) 

Chair until 
October 2016 

5 of 5 

Jo Palmer  

(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member 3 of 6 

Ewan 
Carmichael 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member  4 of 6 

Stephen Clark 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member   4 of 6 

Martin 
Jamieson 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member until 
December 
2016 

2 of 5 

Tony Moore 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member  4 of 6 

Jan Stephens 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

Member  6 of 6 

The Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee membership consists of the 
chair and non-executives. The Committee 
is chaired by the Trust Chairman. 
The Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee is responsible for reviewing 
and making recommendations to the 
Board of Directors on the composition, 
balance, skill mix and succession planning 
of the Board, the appointment of the 
Executive Directors, and monitoring the 
level and structure of other senior 
managers reporting directly to the Chief 
Executive. The Committee also reviews 
the annual Board Self Certification 
submission, in accordance with the 
requirements of NHS Improvement. 
 

 
 
The Committee also has responsibility for 
reviewing the size, structure and 
composition of the Board on an annual 
basis, and makes recommendations to the 
Board. Directors have individual 
appraisals and professional development 
reviews. 
Following a benchmarking exercise which 
took place to market test the remuneration 
levels of executive pay, a report was sent 
to the Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee which concluded that 
executive salaries were consistent with 
the benchmark data and this continues to 
be used in reviewing the remuneration 
structure. 
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Council of Governors Summary 
 
Council of Governors 
The Council is made up of elected and 
appointed Governors who provide an 
important link between the Trust, local 
people and key stakeholder organisations. 
They share information and views that can 
influence and shape the way that services 
are provided by the Trust and they work 
together with the Board of Directors to 
ensure that the Trust delivers a high 
quality of healthcare within a strict 
framework of governance whilst achieving 
financial balance and planning for the 
future.  
There are 25 seats on the Council of 
Governors, 19 of which are elected public 
and staff member representatives and six 
are appointed by the partner 
organisations. A full breakdown of the 
Council of Governors is detailed later in 
the report. 
All public and staff governors are elected 
for a maximum term of three years and 
are able to seek re-election. 
The public governors each represent a 
constituency. Medway Constituency has 
nine public governors; Swale Constituency 
has four public governors; Rest of 
England and Wales has one public 
governor. 
The staff governors are elected to 
represent staff in each staff group, of 
which there are five in the Trust: nursing 
and midwifery; allied health professionals, 
medical and dental; non-clinical; and 
management.  
Partner governors are nominated by their 
organisation and serve a term of office of 
three years. These governors can be 
replaced by their organisation during this 
time and existing representatives can be 
nominated to serve further terms of three 
years. 
Governors are required to attend regular 
meetings of the Council of Governors – 
normally at least five a year which 
includes the Annual Members’ Meeting.  
 
 

 
 
 
Extraordinary meetings are also held from 
time to time when an urgent decision is 
required outside of the normal schedule of 
meetings. 
The governors have some specific 
statutory requirements to fulfil. These 
include to: 
 

• Hold the non-executive directors 
individually and collectively to account 
for the performance of the board of 
directors; 

• Represent the interests of the members 
of the Trust as a whole and the interests 
of the public; 

• Appoint and, if appropriate, remove the 
chairman and non-executive directors; 

• Approve (or not) the appointment of any 
new chief executive; 

• Decide on remuneration and allowances 
and other terms and conditions of office 
of the Chairman and non-executive 
directors; 

• Receive the annual accounts, any 
report of  the auditor, and the annual 
report at a general meeting of the 
Council of Governors; 

• Appoint and, if appropriate, remove the 
foundation trust’s auditor; 

• Approve ‘significant transactions’; 

• Approve an application by the Trust to 
enter into a merger, acquisition, 
separation or dissolution; 

• Decide whether the Trust’s non-NHS 
work would significantly interfere with its 
principal purpose, which is to provide 
goods and services for the health 
service in England, or performing its 
other functions; and 

• Approve amendments to the Trust’s 
constitution. 

 

Governors report 
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The Council has established one steering 
group, four working groups and one 
committee. These are listed below with a 
brief overview of each group’s 
responsibilities:   
Governors’ Steering Group: To act in an 
advisory capacity to support and facilitate 
the work of the Council of Governors 
generally and specifically in respect of 
fulfilling their statutory duties as laid out in 
NHS Improvement’s Code of Governance. 
The Chair and Trust Secretary attend the 
meeting. 
Community and Patient Engagement 
Group: To oversee the engagement 
between the Governors and the 
community, including, but not limited to, 
patients, community groups, key 
stakeholders and the wider public and 
report back on the subject (with or without 
recommendation) to the Council of 
Governors. 
Membership Engagement Group: To 
develop, implement and review the Trust’s 
membership strategy as well as being 
accountable on behalf of the governors for 
ensuring that the elections are fair and 
true; review any issues brought to the 
Working Group’s attention that relate to 
the members and membership, including 
complaints from members about 
membership; adjudicating on any 
application for disqualification from 
membership; and to be involved in 
overseeing the arrangements of the 
Trust’s Annual Members’ Meeting. One 
non-executive director attends meetings to 
provide additional support. 
Finance and Performance Working 
Group: To make recommendations to the 
Council of Governors with respect to the 
appointment of the Trust’s external auditor 
and to report to the Council of Governors 
with respect to the auditor’s opinion of the 
Trust’s Annual Report, the Trust’s forward 
plan and the Quality Account; and to hold 
the Integrated Audit Committee to 
account. The Chairs of the two 
Committees regularly attend the Working 
Group meetings for this purpose. 
Quality Working Group: To receive 
quarterly reports from the Board’s Quality 
Assurance Committee on the work around 
patient safety, patient experience and 

other aspects of quality including the 
Trust’s Quality Account; to scrutinise the 
decisions made, or actions taken, in 
connection with the Quality Assurance 
Committee; and make recommendations 
to the Council of Governors arising from 
the outcome of the scrutiny process. The 
Chair of the Quality Assurance Committee 
regularly attends Working Group meetings 
to provide updates and answer questions. 
Governors’ Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee: To review the 
remuneration of the non-executive 
directors on an annual basis; to be 
involved in the nomination process for all 
non-executive directors including the 
Chairman; and to receive confirmation that 
appraisals have been carried out for the 
Chairman and non-executive directors. 
Attendance of committee members is 
detailed below: 
 

Attendee Attendance 

  

Peter Carter, Interim Chairman 
(from November 2016) 

3 out of 3 

Martin Jamieson, Senior 
Independent Director (term 
ended December 2016)  

1 out of 2 

Jo Palmer, Senior Independent 
Director (from December 2016) 

4 out of 4  

Stella Dick, Lead Governor   5 out of 5  

Ruth Jenner, (joined October 
2016)  

 4 out of 5  

Doreen King, Medway Governor  5 out of 5  

Margaret Ratcliffe, Medway 
Governor 

5 out of 5  

Ann Richmond, Medway 
Governor 

5 out of 5  

David Brake, Partner Governor 3 out of 5  

Tim Cowell, Staff Governor 5 out of 5  

 
Governor elections 
The 2016 elections took place in June 
2016. There were 7 seats up for election: 
2 Medway seats, 1 Swale seat, 1 Rest of 
England and Wales seat and 3 staff seats. 
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Attendance at Council of Governors’ 
meetings 
The information below outlines details of 
all governors on the Council during the 
year 2016/17, together with their record of 
attendance, including the four scheduled 

 
 
Council of Governor meetings, one 
extraordinary Council of Governors 
meeting and the Annual Members’ 
Meeting. 
 

Name Constituency Term of office  Attendance 

Glyn Allen Medway Elected 2015 for 2 years 8 months effect from 1 
September 2015  

6 out of 6 

Vivien Bouttell Medway Elected 2010. Re-elected March 2014, for 3 years with 
effect from 1 July 2014 

5 out of 6 

Renee Coussens Medway Elected 2008. Re-elected June 2011.  

Re-elected March 2014 for 1 year and 6 months. Re-
elected July 2015 for 3 years. 

6 out of 6 

Stella Dick Medway Elected 2014. Re-elected June 2016 for 3 years with 
effect from 1 July 2016 

6 out of 6 

Doreen King Medway Elected 2015 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 2015 6 out of 6 

Margaret Ratcliffe Medway Elected 2008. Re-elected June 2011. 

Re-elected March 2014 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 
2014 

6 out of 6 

Ann Richmond Medway Elected 2007. Re-elected June 2008. 

Re-elected March 2014 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 
2014 

5 out of 6 

Paul Walker Medway Elected 2015 for 2 years with effect from 1 July 2015 4 out of 6 

Lyn Gallimore Swale Elected 2015 for 2 years with effect from 1 July 2015 5 out of 6 

Leslie Hallybone Swale Elected unopposed 2016 for 3 years.  4 out of 5 

Ruth Jenner Swale Elected unopposed 2009. Re-elected unopposed June 
2012. Re-elected July 2015 for 3 years 

5 out of 6 

Silvia Marin Swale Elected 2015 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 2015 2 out of 6 

Alastair Harding Rest of England 
and Wales 

Elected 2016 for 3 years.  4 out of 5 

VACANT Staff:  

Nursing and 
Midwifery 

Seat currently Vacant  

VACANT Staff:  

Medical and 
Dental Class 

Seat currently Vacant  

VACANT Staff: Allied 
Health 
Professionals 

Seat currently Vacant since February 2017  

Ann Bushnell Staff:  

Management 

Elected 2015 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 2015 3 out of 6 

Tim Cowell Staff:  

Non Clinical 

Elected 2015 for 3 years with effect from 1 July 2015 5 out of 6 

Cllr David Brake Medway Council 
Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

Appointed June 2010 for 3 years and re-elected in 2013 
for a further 3 years. 

4 out of 6 

Adrian Crowther Kent County 
Council 

Appointed June 2007. Re-appointed June 2010. 

Re-appointed June 2013 for 3 years 

4 out of 6 

Mandy Stevenson Greenwich 
University 
representing 
Medway 
Universities 

Appointed February 2016 for 3 years 2 out of 6 
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Name Constituency Term of office  Attendance 

Claire Thurgate Canterbury 
Christ Church 
University  

Appointed February 2016 for 3 years 2 out of 6 

Dr Peter Nicholls University of 
Kent 

Appointed February 2016 for 3 years 3 out of 6 

Christine Harvey Medway League 
of Friends 
representing 
Charities 

Appointed July 2015 for 3 years 6 out of 6 

 
 

Former Governors during 2016/17 Attendance 

Ann Smart Medway  Elected 2016 for 3 years. Resigned from post February 
2017.  

1 out of 5 

Alan West Medway Was not re-elected June 2016. 1 out of 1 

Michael 
Moseley 

Swale Stepped down June 2016 0 out of 1 

Richard Tripp Rest of England and 
Wales 

Was not re-elected June 2016 1 out of 1 

Anil 
Madhavan 

Staff: Medical and 
Dental Class 

Stepped down June 2016 0 out of 1 

Vivek Sharma Staff: Allied Health 
Professionals 

Elected 2016 for 3 years. (Resigned February 2017) 5 out of 5 

 
 
A register of Governors’ interests is held at 
the Trust and can be obtained by 
contacting the Trust Secretary, Executive 
Corridor, Blue Zone, Level 2, Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust, Windmill Road, 
Gillingham, Kent, ME7 5NY, or email 
members@medway.nhs.uk.  
Membership 
Anyone aged 16 and over and who is not 
employed by the Trust can become a 
public member. Every member of staff 
automatically becomes a member unless 
they choose to opt out. 
As at 31 March 2017, the Trust had 11,125 
public members and 4,411 staff members 
which gives a total of 15,536 members. In 
the last 12 months, a total of 99 public 
members were recruited. The breakdown 
of our public membership base per 
constituency is listed below.  

A programme of five members’ events 
took place during 2016/17. One event 
sought feedback from members and 
governors regarding the priorities to be 
included in the Trust’s Annual Plan and 
Quality Account and another was the 
Trust’s Annual Members’ Meeting. 
 
Members received monthly e-bulletins and 
receive the Trust’s News@Medway 
newspaper by email, which is also 
available for collection from various points 
around the hospital. 
 
The Council of Governors is chaired by 
the Chairman of the Trust and its meetings 
are also attended by the Chief Executive, 
who presents a report on performance 
and current issues. Other executive 
directors, along with the non-executive 
directors, also attend the Council of 
Governors’ meetings and working groups 
on a regular basis to provide updates as 
and when requested by the governors. 
 
The Council of Governors has undertaken 
scrutiny of a variety of subjects during the 
year 2016/17, including: 

Constituency Total 

Medway 6,902 

Swale 1,864 

Rest of England and Wales 2,359 

Membership Total 11,125 
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• The Trust’s performance against the 
annual plan 

• The Trust’s performance against the 
Quality Account 

• Progress of the Trust’s Recovery Plan 
Director attendance at Council of 
Governors meetings (including the 
Annual Members’ Meeting) 1 April 2016 
to 31 March 2017 
 

Current Board members during 
2016/17 

Attendance 

Peter Carter, Chair  1 out of 1 

Ewan Carmichael, Non-Executive 
Director 

4 out of 5 

Darren Cattell, Director of Finance 4 out of 4 

Stephen Clark, Non-Executive Director 1 out of 5 

James Devine, Director of HR & OD 1 out of 1 

Lesley Dwyer, Chief Executive 4 out of 5 

Diana Hamilton-Fairley, Medical 
Director 

2 out of 2 

Tony Moore, Non-Executive Director 3 out of 5  

Joanne Palmer, Non-Executive 
Director 

3 out of 5  

Karen Rule,  Director of Nursing 3 out of 3 

Jan Stephens, Non-Executive Director 5 out of 5  
 

Former Board members during 
2016/17 

Attendance 

Shena Winning, Chairman 4 out of 4 

Rebecca Bradd, Acting Director of 
Workforce  

1 out of 1 

Patricia Bain, Chief Quality Officer  1 out of 1 

Martin Jamieson, Non-Executive 
Director 

1 out of 4 

 

Non-Executive Director attendance at 
Governors’ Working Group / Committee 
meetings 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 
 

Current and former Non-Executive 
Directors 

Attendance 

Peter Carter  5 out of 6  

Ewan Carmichael  3 out of 4  

Stephen Clark  3 out of 4  

Tony Moore 3 out of 4  

Jo Palmer 4 out of 4  

Jan Stephens  4 out of 5  

Martin Jamieson 1 out of 2  

Shena Winning  5 out of 6  

 

Governors are invited to take part in 
various Trust Groups and Committees in 
order to communicate the views and 
concerns of their members. These groups 
include: 

• Quality Assurance Committee 

• Out-patient Experience Group  

• Smoke-Free Committee  

• Catering Group  

• Charitable Funds Group  

• Patient Safety Committee  

• Fire, Health & Safety Group  
 

One representative from the Council of 
Governors regularly attends the Trust 
Board meetings to observe proceedings, 
and raise questions and concerns relating 
to the agenda directly with the Board. The 
Governor Representative then reports 
back at each Council of Governors 
meeting on her observations from the 
Board meetings. 
 
Governors keep a log of any queries 
raised with executive directors outside of 
their scheduled meetings. 
 
The Council of Governors appointed a 
new Chair and three non-executive 
directors in 2017, following a robust 
appointment process that was approved 
by the Council of Governors. A 
headhunting organisation was appointed 
to seek appropriate candidates and 
shortlists were approved by the 
Governors’ Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee prior to 
interviews commencing. Governors were 
invited to join a stakeholder group which 
had the opportunity to meet with each of 
the applicants for Chair prior to the 
interview. The interview panel comprised 
the Interim Trust Chairman, Lead 
Governor, and two other public governors. 
Human Resources provided support for 
the process. 
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Dispute Resolution Process 
In the event of disputes between the 
Council of Governors and the Board of 
Directors, the following Dispute Resolution 
Procedure shall apply: 
 

a) in the first instance the Chair on the 
advice of the Trust Secretary, and 
such other advice as the Chair may 
see fit to obtain, shall seek to 
resolve the dispute; 

b) if the Chair is unable to resolve the 
dispute the individual shall refer the 
dispute to the Trust Secretary who 
shall appoint a joint special 
committee constituted as a 
committee of the Board of Directors 
and a committee of the Council of 
Governors, both comprising equal 
numbers, to consider the 
circumstances and to make 
recommendations to the Council of 

Governors and the Board of 
Directors with a view to resolving 
the dispute; 

c) if the recommendations (if any) of 
the joint special committee are 
unsuccessful in resolving the 
dispute, the Chair may refer the 
dispute back to the Board of 
Directors who shall make the final 
decision. 

This dispute resolution procedure is set 
out in the Trust’s Constitution which is 
available on the Trust’s website. 
Members may contact Governors or 
Board members through the membership 
office by telephone on 01634 825292, by 
email to members@medway.nhs.uk, in 
writing to Executive Corridor, Level 2, Blue 
Zone, Medway Maritime Hospital,  
Medway NHS Foundation Trust, Windmill 
Road, Gillingham, Kent, ME7 5NY, or via 
our website www.medway.nhs.uk
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Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee 

The Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee is a sub-committee of the 
Board, responsible for reviewing and 
advising the Board of Directors on the 
composition of the Board of Directors and 
appointing and setting the remuneration of 
the executive directors and all very senior 
manager appointments. Further details of 
the Committee can be found within the 
Directors’ Report section of this document. 
We have recruited on a substantive basis 
to senior leadership roles. Newly 
appointed executive directors have a 
notice period of six months. There is 
currently one executive Director on a fixed 
term contract. 

Executive Remuneration Policy 

The Trust has a Senior Remuneration 
policy agreed by the Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee. The Trust 
recognises that in order to ensure 
optimum performance it is necessary to 
have a competitive pay and benefits 
structure. The objective of the 
Committee’s strategy for the remuneration 
of executive directors and very senior 
managers is to attract and retain suitably 
skilled and qualified individuals of high 
calibre, providing sufficient resources and 
strength and maintaining stability 
throughout the senior management team. 
Remuneration is therefore set and 
maintained to be competitive. The 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee reviews salaries each year. In 
2016/17 no pay awards were made. 
Director salaries were within benchmarked 
salary ranges. When new appointments 
are made the salary is determined by 
reference to the Foundation Trust Network 
(FTN) benchmarking of CEO and 
Executive director salaries, current market 
rates and internal relativities with 
executive directors/very senior managers. 
 
 

 
 
The only non-cash elements of Executive 
remuneration packages are pension-
related benefits accrued under the NHS 
Pensions Scheme. Contributions are 
made by both the employer and employee 
in accordance with the rules of the 
national scheme, which applies to all NHS 
staff under the scheme. 
 
 

Remuneration report 



Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers 
 
Remuneration 
 

Name and title 

2016/17 2015/16 

Salary  

Life Time 
Pension 
Related  
Benefits, 
Increase 
in year 

Total Salary  

Life Time 
Pension 
Related  
Benefits, 
Increase 
in year 

Total 

(bands 
of 
£5000) 

(bands 
of 
£5000) 

  
(bands 
of 
£5000) 

(bands 
of 
£5000) 

  

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Ms S Winning, Chair/Non-
Executive Director 30-35 - 30-35 60-65 - 60-65 

Mr M Jamieson, Non-executive 
Director 10-15 - 10-15 10-15 - 10-15 

Ms J Stephens, Non-executive 
Director 10-15 - 10-15 10-15 - 10-15 

Mr T Moore, Non-executive 
Director 10-15 - 10-15 10-15 - 10-15 

Mr A Burnett, Non-executive 
Director - - - 5-10 - 5-10 

Mr S Clark, Non-executive 
Director 10-15 - 10-15 0-5 - 0-5 

Ms J Palmer, Non-executive 
Director 10-15 - 10-15 5-10 - 5-10 

Mr E Carmichael, Non-executive 
Director 10-15 - 10-15 5-10 - 5-10 

Ms L Dwyer, Chief Executive 220-225 50-55 270-275 195-200 25-30 220-225 

Mr D Cattell, Interim Director of 
Finance, on payroll from 
01/02/017  

260-265 - 260-265 45-50 - 45-50 

Mrs R Bradd, Acting Director of 
Workforce 85-90 - 85-90 10-15 - 10-15 

Mrs R Barker, Director of 
Workforce - - - 115-120 - 115-120 

Mrs K Rule, Director of Nursing 105-110 205-210 310-315 40-45  40-45 

Mr S Beaumont, Chief Nurse - - - 70-75 - 70-75 

Dr D Hamilton-Fairley, Medical 
Director 185-190 - 185-190 70-75 - 70-75 

Dr G Ramadan, Acting Medical 
Director - - - 75-80 - 75-80 

Dr K Mukherjee, Acting Medical 
Director - - - 95-100 - 95-100 

Dr P Ryan, Acting Medical 
Director - - - 15-20 - 15-20 

Ms P Bain, Chief Quality Officer 115-120 - 115-120 155-160 - 155-160 
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Name and title 

2016/17 2015/16 

Salary  

Life Time 
Pension 
Related  
Benefits, 
Increase 
in year 

Total Salary  

Life Time 
Pension 
Related  
Benefits, 
Increase 
in year 

Total 

(bands 
of 
£5000) 

(bands 
of 
£5000) 

  
(bands 
of 
£5000) 

(bands 
of 
£5000) 

  

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Ms M Jackson, Chief Operating 
Officer - - - 85-90 35-40 120-125 

Mr P Carter, Chair/Non-
Executive Director 35-40 - 35-40 - - - 

Mr J Devine, Executive Director 
of HR and Organisational 
Development 

45-50 - 45-50 - - - 

Band of Highest Paid Director's 
Total Remuneration (£'000)  220-225 220-225 

Median Total Remuneration (£0) 22,862 22,236 

Ratio 9.8 10.1 

 
The figures in the above table relate to the amounts received during the financial year. 
 
For 2016/17 there were no annual or long-term performance bonuses. Taxable benefits for 
the year are as set out in the table below. For 2015/16, there were no taxable benefits or 
annual or long-term performance-related bonuses. 
 
Median remuneration is based on total permanent staff and full time annual salaries 
 

Name and title 

2016/17 

 

2015/16 

 

All taxable benefits All taxable benefits 

(nearest £100) (nearest £100) 

£0 £0 

Ms S Winning, Chair/Non-executive Director 14600 - 

Mr M Jamieson, Non-executive Director 400 - 

Ms J Stephens, Non-executive Director 100 - 

Mr T Moore, Non-executive Director 500 - 

Mr S Clark, Non-executive Director 1400 - 

Ms J Palmer, Non-executive Director 900 - 

Mr E Carmichael, Non-executive Director 1800 - 

Mrs R Bradd, Acting Director of Workforce 200 - 
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Pension benefits 
 

Name and title 
Real increase in pension 
and related lump sum at 
pension age 

Total 
accrued 
pension 
and 
related 
lump sum 
at pension 
age at  
March 
2017 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2017 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2016 

Real 
Increase 
in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

  (bands of £2500) (bands of 
£2500)       

  £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 

Ms L Dwyer, Chief Executive 2.5-5 7.5-10 106 47 59 

Mrs K Rule, Director of Nursing 42.5-45 42.5-45 848 662 186 

 
The table above excludes directors who are paid via off-payroll arrangements, on another 
organisation’s payroll and those who have drawn their pension. 
 
Loss of office 
There were no Directors who had loss of office in 2016/17. 
 
Expenses of Governors and Directors 
The directors and governors receive reimbursement of travel and incidental expenses 
incurred as a result of their duties to the Trust. 
 

  
Number in receipt of 
expenses 2016/7 

Aggregate sum of 
expenses paid 2016/17 

Aggregate sum of expenses 
paid 2015/16 

Directors 8 19,927.59 45,331.13 

Governors - - 361.1 
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Average staff numbers 

 
 Voting 

Board 
Directors 

Other 
Senior 
Managers 

All 
Staff 

Male 4 10 863 

Female 6 35 3609 

TOTAL 10 45 4472 

The table above shows the numbers of 
male and female staff as at March 2017. 
 

Average number of persons employed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 2016/17   2015/16   

 Total 
Permanently 
Employed Other Total 

Permanently 
Employed Other 

 Number Number Number Number Number Number 
       
Medical and dental 578 503 75 604 504 100 
Administration and estates 1416 1328 88 1279 1135 144 
Healthcare assistants and 
other support staff 626 585 41 774 653 121 
Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting staff 1440 1159 281 1323 1074 249 
Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting learners 0 0 0 14 14 0 
Scientific, therapeutic and 
technical staff 515 466 49 360 284 76 
       
Total 4575 4041 534 4354 3664 690 

 

Staff report 
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A key challenge for the Trust during 
2016/17 has been recruitment and 
retention of nursing and medical staff, 
which reflects both local and national 
difficulties. The Trust developed and 
implemented an annual recruitment 
activity plan in order to focus our 
recruitment activities across three main 
strands:  

• Local/National Recruitment - the Trust 
continues to raise the Trust’s profile via 
a multimedia approach to advertising 
thereby ensuring the Trust’s brand 
reaches more potential applicants both 
regionally and nationally. Further 
developing the Trust’s social media 
presence and building on our ‘Put 
yourself in the picture’ and ‘This is my 
Medway, This is your future’ campaigns 
is also a priority. The Trust will continue 
to run regular recruitment campaigns 
throughout 2017/18 and attend national 
conferences and recruitment fairs with 
the aim of attracting the best candidates 
and promoting the Trust as an employer 
of choice both locally and nationally. 
Particular attention to ensuring business 
critical front-line clinical positions are 
recruited to and supporting newly-
qualified nurses into posts. 

• International - the Trust has partnered 
with international agency providers to 
undertake nurse recruitment campaigns 
across multiple countries. The most 
recent EU campaign successfully 
delivered over 40 nurses to support 
Medway with further cohorts due to join 
in the forthcoming months. 

• Temporary staff - the Trust has 
implemented a plan to support 
individuals moving from temporary 
arrangements to substantive 
employment. Additionally, the Trust has 
worked with agency providers to reduce 
their charge rate to comply with NHS 
Improvement agency directives; 
accordingly, agency price cap breaches 
continue to decrease week on week.  

The Trust has also refreshed its two-year 
Workforce Strategy in order to better align 
workforce to operational and financial 
challenges across the organisation. The 
strategy aims to ensure the Trust’s 
workforce can adapt quickly to emerging 
priorities whilst ensuring long-term 
workforce sustainability to provide the best 
of care. 
Sickness absence data 

  March 
2016  

March 
2017 

Additional Professional, 
Scientific and Technical 

2.10% 2.60% 

Additional Clinical Services 5.25% 6.18% 

Administrative and Clerical 2.99% 3.59% 

Allied Health Professionals 0.48% 3.01% 

Estates and Ancillary 6.75% 6.86% 

Healthcare Scientists 1.00% 1.55% 

Medical and Dental 0.75% 0.58% 

Nursing and Midwifery 
Registered 

3.66% 3.94% 

Students 0.00% 0.00% 

 
The table above sets out the Trust’s 
sickness absence for March 2017, 
compared with March 2016. The overall 
sickness rate remained fairly constant 
throughout the year. Actions taken to 
reduce sickness absence include auditing 
and validating sickness data, supporting 
managers to manage individuals with high 
levels of sickness absence or on long term 
sick leave, and updating the Trust’s 
Attendance Management policy. 
As part of keeping staff healthy and 
patients safe, the Trust achieved a flu 
vaccination rate of over 75 per cent in 
2016/17, compared with 42 per cent in 
2015/16. 
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Staff policies and actions 

Policies and actions applied during the financial year are set out in the table below. 
 

Policies applied for giving full and fair consideration for 
employment made by disabled persons. 

The Trust has a recruitment and selection policy, which 
sets out how the Trust ensures fair recruitment of 
candidates. This is reviewed through the Trust’s 
electronic tracking ‘TRAC’ recruitment system.  

Policies for continuing the employment of, and for 
arranging training for, employees who have become 
disabled persons during the period.  

The Trust adheres to the Equality Act 2010, and as such, 
line managers make reasonable adjustments and use 
referrals to the Occupational Health team to ensure the 
continued employment of employees who become 
disabled persons. In addition, the HR team provided 
direct support to staff affected and their managers.  

Policies for the training, career development and 
promotion of disabled employees. 

There is equity of access to training for all staff.  

Actions taken in the financial year to provide employees 
systematically with information on matters of concern to 
them as employees. 

The trust has communicated to staff thorough internal 
communications and staff engagement processes, using 
face-to-face opportunities, electronic channels and 
printed materials. These were reviewed and surveyed 
during the year to ensure they were effective. 

Actions taken during the financial year to consult 
employees or their representatives on a regular basis so 
that the views of employees can be taken into account in 
making decisions which are likely to affect their interests.  

The Trust has regular meetings of its Joint Staff 
Committee and Joint Local Negotiating Committee for 
formal discussions relation to staffing issues. We also 
have a recognition agreement in place. As stipulated 
within the organisational change policy, collective 
consultations would be enacted where there are more 
specific issues affecting employees, i.e. restructures. In 
addition, informal engagement with staff took place to 
inform various key initiatives, such as the introduction of 
the new vision and values. The staff survey was 
undertaken in October 2016 with results in March 2017.  

Actions taken in the financial year to encourage the 
involvement of employees in the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
performance. 

The CEO publishes a weekly message which is sent to 
all staff within the Trust. She also holds regular open 
sessions within the Trust for staff to ask questions.  

Information on health and safety performance 
Occupational health.  

During the year health and safety training was delivered 
to 89 per cent of staff. The health and safety department 
undertakes audits on the whole hospital in conjunction 
with a staff side chair person. Over the year 18 Riddor 
reportable accidents were confirmed. 

A continuous review of the in-house occupational health 
service was undertaken during the year. This looked into 
nurse activity, turnaround times, patients failing to turn up 
for appointments and cancellations, medical activity, pre-
employment screening, current management referral 
screening process, and the production of medical 
reports. Key performance indicators are in place to 
monitor the performance of the OH department on a 
monthly basis. 

Information on policies and procedures with respect to 
countering fraud and corruption. 

The Trust has a Raising Concerns policy in place, which 
also covers fraud.  
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Medway NHS Foundation Trust is 
committed to engaging its workforce and 
recognises the contribution all staff make 
to provide the best of the care to our 
patients. The Trust also recognises the 
importance of staff feedback and 
engagement, and has mechanisms in 
place to obtain staff views and opinions. 
These include the following:  

• Information and communication 
sessions with managers and staff to 
gather feedback. 

• A bi-monthly hospital newspaper 
entitled “News@Medway” for all staff to 
share their stories. 

• Weekly Chief Executive email updates 
to all staff to share the Trust’s 
experiences. 

• All staff open forums with the Chief 
Executive. 

• Actively engaging with new starters to 
receive feedback. 

• National NHS Staff Survey. 

• Quarterly Staff Friends and Family test. 
 

Summary of performance – National 
NHS Staff Survey 2016 
The National NHS Staff Survey is a key 
measure of the Trusts levels of staff 
engagement, providing the Trust with an 
important tool for the organisation to 
understand how staff are feeling, their 
experiences and where it should focus 
initiatives for improvement. 
On an annual basis, the Trust’s results are 
compared against other NHS acute Trusts 
across the UK (as a national average) and 
against the Trust’s own results from the 
previous year. This provides an 
opportunity to learn from other NHS 
organisations. 
The Trust has seen most improvement in 
areas including; health and wellbeing, 
recognition, reporting, equal opportunities, 
team-working and satisfaction in quality of 
care. The Trust is focussing its attention 
across staff health and wellbeing; 
promoting the Trust vision; values and 
behaviours; developing our leadership 
capability; increasing opportunities for 
professional development; working to 
improve the effectiveness of conflict 
resolution training and improving systems 
for reporting errors, near misses and 
incidents. 
The staff survey results are presented in 
the form of two key findings: 

• Percentage scores 

• A scale between 1 and 5 (5 being the 
best score) 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff engagement 

Staff events are well attended 
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Staff survey response rate 

Engagement and response levels have significantly improved from 2015 to 2016, which 
indicates that the Trust has a much more engaged workforce, which the Trust will continue 
to work on. 
 

 2015 2016 Difference 

Response Rate  Trust National 
Average  

Trust National 
Average  

A 12.5% increase on 
the Trust response 
rate from last year 
and a 9.6% higher 
response rate than 
the national average. 

37% 38% 49.5% 39.9% 

 

Overall staff engagement 
The staff engagement scores have increased from 2015 to 2016. This is reflective in the 
increased number of staff who responded to the survey. 
 

Trust Score 2015 Trust Score 2016 Trust Improvement National Average 
(Acute Trusts) 2016 

Trust Score 
compared to the 
National Average 

3.66 3.76 +0.10 3.81 - 0.05 

Areas of improvement since 2015 survey 

There has been an improvement in all areas of the Trust, bar one. Below show some of 
the areas of most improvement. 
 

Key Findings (KF) 2015 2016 National 
Average 

Difference 

KF27. Percentage of staff/colleagues reporting 
most recent experience of harassment, bullying 
or abuse 

29% 43% 45% Increase of 14% locally 
and 2% below the national 
average 

KF19. Organisation and management interest in 
and action on health and wellbeing 

3.34 3.57 3.61 Increase of 0.23 points 
locally and  0.04 points 
below the national average 

KF5. Recognition and value of staff by managers 
and the organisation 

3.27 3.43 3.45 Increase of 0.16 points 
locally and 0.02 points 
below the national average 

KF31. Staff confidence and security in reporting 
unsafe clinical practice 

3.49 3.64 3.65 Increase of 0.15 points 
locally and 0.01 points 
below the national average  

KF30. Fairness and effectiveness of procedures 
for reporting errors, near misses and incidents 

3.51 3.65 3.72 Increase of 0.14 points 
locally and 0.07 points 
below the national average  
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Area of most deterioration since 2015 survey 
 

Key Finding (KF) 2015 2016 National 
Average 

Difference 

KF18. Staff attending work in the last 3 months 
despite feeling unwell because they felt pressure 
from their manager, colleagues or themselves 

61% 63% 56% Increase of 2% 
locally and 7% above 
the national average  

 

Top 5 Ranking Scores 
These are areas where the results have improved, as well as being above the national 
average. 
 

Key Findings (KF) 2015 2016 National 
Average 

Difference  

KF12. Quality of appraisals 3.10 3.25 3.11 Increase of 0.15 
points locally and 
0.14 points above the 
national average 

KF29. Staff reporting errors, near misses or 
incidents witnessed in the last month  

89% 92% 90% Increase of 3% 
locally and 2% above 
the national average 

KF9. Effective team working 3.71 3.79 3.75 Increase of 0.08 
points locally and 
0.04 points above the 
national average 

KF17. Staff feeling unwell due to work related 
stress in the last 12 months 

38% 34% 35% Decrease of 4% 
locally and 1% below 
the national average 

KF2. Staff satisfaction with the quality of work and 
care they are able to deliver 

3.86 3.99 3.96 Increase of 0.13 
points locally and 
0.03 points above the 
national average 
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Bottom 5 Ranking Scores 
These are areas where results have improved or remained the same, and are below the 
national average. 
 

Key Findings (KF) 2015 2016 National 
Average 

Difference 

KF18. Staff attending work in the last 3 months 
despite feeling unwell because they felt pressure 
from their manager, colleagues or themselves 

61% 63% 56% Increase of 2% 
locally and 7% above 
the national average  

KF23. Staff experiencing physical violence from 
staff in last 12 months  

3% 3% 2% The same result 
locally and 1% above 
the national average  

KF26. Staff experiencing harassment, bullying or 
abuse from staff in last 12 months  

30% 28% 25% Decrease of 2% 
locally and 3% above 
the national average  

KF30. Fairness and effectiveness of procedures 
for reporting errors, near misses and incidents 

3.51 3.65 3.72 Increase of 0.14 
points locally and 
0.07 points below the 
national average 

KF3. Staff agreeing that their role makes a 
difference to patients / service users 

88% 89% 90% Increase of 1% 
locally and 1% below 
the national average 

 
 

Staff celebrate our improved rating resulting from the 2016/17 CQC report 
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Future priorities and targets 

Statement on key priority areas 

The Trust has made significant 
improvements in the majority of areas 
reported on in the staff survey. However, 
there are opportunities which will allow the 
organisation to improve further. These 
improvements aim to achieve or surpass 
the staff survey results of acute trusts that 
have scored more highly than us in certain 
areas. In order to achieve this, the Trust 
will proactively engage with those 
organisations to identify how to 
incorporate and adapt innovative ideas 
into our own unique organisation.  
 
The 2016 Staff Survey results have led us 
to identify priorities and develop a plan 
which builds upon the previous 
achievements we have already made as a 
result of the 2015 survey. The Trust sees 
this as part of a continuous improvement 
journey. 
 
Continuation of actions from 2016 will be: 

• Further development and integration of 
the Trust’s Health and Wellbeing 
Programme, and support staff to ensure 
they take appropriate rest when 
required. 

• Continuation of the anti-bullying ‘Every 
Person Counts’ campaign. 

• Further embedding of the Trust’s Vision, 
Values and ‘Behaviours’ 

• Further development of leadership and 
management capability. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“I love working at Medway. With so 
much going on, I know I will develop 
my career and keep that passion that 
got me into nursing.” 

Cara, Advanced Nurse Practitioner 
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Performance against priority areas 

 

Monitoring Arrangements  
Trust wide and Directorate priorities will 
have specific metrics set for each plan, by 
each group and monitored via the Trust’s 
Improvement Support Group, supported 
by the development of an Improvement 
and Innovation Network and recruitment of 
an Employee Engagement Facilitator, to 
support and sustain improvements in the 
organisation. The Improvement Support 
Group will report progress, quarterly, to 
the Trust Board. Progress will be 
measured via local and national staff 
surveys, with the specific aim of creating 
an increased survey culture at MFT.  
 
Future Priorities and Measurements 
The Trust will focus on: 

• Introducing effective Conflict Resolution 
training for staff and communicating the 
Trust policy on zero tolerance of 
violence. 

• The Trust has appointed Freedom to 
Speak Up Guardians providing 
confidential advice and support to staff 
in relation to concerns they may have 
about patient safety and/or the way their 
concern has been handled. Staff can 
also raise concerns with Trust 
Executives if concerns have not been 
addressed or if they are serious. 

• Focus on alternative pathways to 
professional development, for example 
mentoring, coaching, and shadowing. 

 

These initiatives will be supported by 
commitments made by each of the 
Directorates across the Trust, to ensure 
they meet the engagement needs of their 
teams. 

Priority  Key Finding (KF) 2015 2016 

Health And 
Wellbeing 

KF17. Staff feeling unwell due to work related stress in the 
last 12 months 

38% 34% 

KF18. Staff attending work in the last 3 months despite 
feeling unwell because they felt pressure from their 
manager, colleagues or themselves 

61% 63% 

KF19. Organisation and management interest in and action 
on health and wellbeing 

3.34 3.57 

Anti-Bullying KF26. Staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse 
from staff in last 12 months  

30% 28% 

KF27. Percentage of staff/colleagues reporting most recent 
experience of harassment, bullying or abuse 

29% 43% 

Vision, Values and 
Behaviours 

KF12. Quality of appraisals 3.10 3.25 

Leadership and 
Management 
Capability 

KF2. Staff satisfaction with the quality of work and care 
they are able to deliver 

3.86 3.99 

KF5. Recognition and value of staff by managers and the 
organisation 

3.27 3.43 

 KF9. Effective team working 3.71 3.79 

KF30. Fairness and effectiveness of procedures for 
reporting errors, near misses and incidents 

3.51 3.65 
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Priority Key Finding 2016 Result 2017 Target 

Reducing Physical 
Violence Experienced by 
Staff 

KF23. Staff experiencing physical 
violence from staff in last 12 months  

3% 2% 

Improved system for 
reporting errors, near 
misses and incidents 

KF29. Staff reporting errors, near 
misses or incidents witnessed in the 
last month  

92% 94% 

KF30. Fairness and effectiveness of 
procedures for reporting errors, 
near misses and incidents 

3.65 3.72 

Career Development 
Opportunities 

KF21. Staff believing that the 
organisation provides opportunities 
for career progression 

86% 89% 

Expenditure on consultancy 
In 2016/17 the expenditure on consultancy was £0.485 million, compared to 2015/16, 
when the spend was £1.957 million. 

 

Off payroll engagement 
As part of the review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees, first published by 
the Chief Secretary to the Treasury in May 2012, public departments are now required to 
publish information relating to the number of off payroll engagements within the following 
tables. 
All off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last 
for longer than six months 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017 32 

Of which 

Number that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting 23 

Number that have existed for between one and two years at the time of reporting 6 

Number that have existed for between two and three years at the time of reporting 1 

Number that have existed for between three and four years at the time of reporting 2 

Number that have existed for four or more years at the time of reporting 0 
 

Each of the above appointees have or are being subject to a risk-based assessment 
programme as to whether the individuals are paying the right amount of tax.  
There were 23 new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 at 
more than £220 per day, that lasted for longer than six months. 
Off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017. 
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Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior 
officials with significant financial responsibility during the financial year 

1 

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members and/or 
senior officials with significant financial responsibility’. This figure 
includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements 

1 

Exit packages 
 

2016/17 Number of compulsory 
redundancies 

Number of other 
departures agreed 

Total number of exit 
packages  

Exit package cost band Number Number Number 

>£10,000 0 1 1 

£10,001-£25,000 0 1 1 

£25,001-£50,000 1 0 1 

£50,001-£100,000 0 0 0 

£100,001-£150,000 0 0 0 

£150,001-£200,000 1 0 1 

>£200,001 0 0 0 

Total  2 2 4 

 
2015/16 Number of compulsory 

redundancies 
Number of other 

departures agreed 
Total number of exit 

packages  

Exit package cost band Number Number Number 

>,£10,000 0 0 0 

£10,001-£25,000 0 3 3 

£25,001-£50,000 0 1 1 

£50,001-£100,000 0 2 2 

£100,001-£150,000 0 5 5 

£150,001-£200,000 0 0 0 

>£200,001 0 0 0 

Total  0 11 11 
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Disclosures and annual reporting requirements 
NHS Improvement’s NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance (the Code) brings 
together best practices from both the public and private sector in order to help NHS 
Foundation Trust Boards maintain good quality corporate governance. Although the Code 
is best practice advice, certain disclosures are required to be reported in the Trust’s 
Annual Report, along with additional requirements as stated in the Annual Reporting 
Manual 2016/17. The Trust’s compliance is stated below with these requirements. 
 

Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Disclose Board and 
Council of 
Governors 

 The schedule of matters reserved 
for the board of directors should 
include a clear statement detailing 
the roles and responsibilities of 
the council of governors. 

This statement should also 
describe how any disagreements 
between the council of governors 
and the board of directors will be 
resolved. 

 

 

 

 

 

The annual report should include 
this schedule of matters or a 
summary statement of how the 
board of directors and the council 
of governors operate, including a 
summary of the types of decisions 
to be taken by each of the boards 
and which are delegated to the 
executive management of the 
board of directors. 

Directors Report –  
Board section and 
Council of Governors 
section. 

 
There were no 
disagreements between 
the council of governors 
and the board of 
directors. A dispute 
resolution process has 
been included in the 
Directors report along 
with a statement on 
working relationships. 

 

 
 

 
Directors Report –  
Board section and 
Council of Governors 
section 

Governance Disclosures 
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Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Disclose Board, 
Nomination, 
Audit, 
Remuneration 
Committees 

A12 The annual report should identify 
the chairperson, the deputy 
chairperson (where there is one), 
the chief executive, the senior 
independent director (A.4.1) and 
the chairperson and members of 
the nominations, audit and 
remuneration committees. It should 
also set out the number of 
meetings of the board and those 
committees and individual 
attendance by directors. 

Directors Report – 
throughout the report 

Disclose Council of 
Governors 

A5.3 The annual report should identify 
the members of the council of 
governors, including a description 
of the constituency or organisation 
that they represent, whether they 
were elected or appointed, and the 
duration of their appointments. The 
annual report should also identify 
the nominated lead governor 

Directors Report –  
Council of Governors 
section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

Council of 
Governors 

 The annual report should include a 
statement about the number of 
meetings of the council of 
governors and individual 
attendance by governors and 
directors. 

Directors Report –  
Council of Governors 
section 

Disclose Board B.1.1 The board of directors should 
identify in the annual report each 
non-executive director it considers 
to be independent, with reasons 
where necessary 

Directors Report 

All non-executive directors 
are independent as per the 
definition in Code 
Provision B.1.1. 

Disclose Board B.1.4 The board of directors should 
include in its annual report a 
description of each director’s skills, 
expertise and experience. 
Alongside this, in the annual report, 
the board should make a clear 
statement about its own balance, 
completeness and appropriateness 
to the requirements of the NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

Directors Report – 

Biographies and Board 
section 
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Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

Board N/A The annual report should include a 
brief description of the length of 
appointments of the non-
executive directors, and how they 
may be terminated 

Directors Report 

Disclose Nominations 
Committees 

B.2.10 A separate section of the annual 
report should describe the work of 
the nominations committees, 
including the process it has used 
in relation to board appointments. 

Directors Report 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

Nominations 
Committees 

N/A The disclosure in the annual report 
on the work of the nominations 
committee should include an 
explanation if neither an external 
search consultancy nor open 
advertising has been used in the 
appointment of a chair or non-
executive director. 

An external search 
consultancy was used for 
the Chair and NED 
recruitment during the year. 

Disclose Chair / Council 
of Governors 

B.3.1 A chairperson’s other significant 
commitments should be disclosed 
to the council of governors before 
appointment and included in the 
annual report. Changes to such 
commitments should be reported 
to the council of governors as they 
arise, and included in the next 
annual report. 

As part of the appointment 
process the governors 
were made aware of the 
chairperson’s professional 
commitments at the time 
and an up to date 
declaration of interests is 
detailed on the Trust 
website http://www. 
medway.nhs.uk/about-the- 
trust/freedom-of-
information/ publication-
scheme/lists-and- 
registers/ 



81

Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Disclose Council of 
Governors 

B.5.6 Governors should canvass the 
opinion of the Trust’s members and 
the public, and for appointed 
governors the body they represent, 
on the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
forward plan, including its 
objectives, priorities and strategy, 
and their views should be 
communicated to the board of 
directors. The annual report should 
contain a statement as to how this 
requirement has been undertaken 
and satisfied. 

Directors Report –  
Council of Governors 
section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

Council of 
Governors 

N/A If, during the financial year, the 
Governors have exercised their 
power* under paragraph 10C2 of 
schedule 7 of the NHS Act 2006, 
then information on this must be 
included in the annual report.  

This is required by paragraph 
26(2)(aa) of schedule 7 to the NHS 
Act 2006, as amended by section 
151 (8) of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012. 

This power has not been 
exercised by the Council 
of Governors 

Disclose Board B.6.1 The board of directors should 
state in the annual report how 
performance evaluation of the 
board, its committees, and its 
directors, including the 
chairperson, has been conducted. 

Directors Report 

Disclose Board B.6.2 Where there has been external 
evaluation of the board and/or 
governance of the trust, the 
external facilitator should be 
identified in the annual report and a 
statement made as to whether they 
have any other connection to the 
trust. 

There has not been an 
external evaluation of the 
board in 2016/17 

                                            
2 Power to require one or more of the directors to attend a governors’ meeting for the purpose of obtaining information 
about the foundation trust’s performance of its functions or the directors’ performance of their duties (and deciding whether 
to propose a vote on the foundation trust’s or directors’ performance). (As inserted by section 151 (6) of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012)). 
 

Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Disclose Council of 
Governors 

B.5.6 Governors should canvass the 
opinion of the Trust’s members and 
the public, and for appointed 
governors the body they represent, 
on the NHS Foundation Trust’s 
forward plan, including its 
objectives, priorities and strategy, 
and their views should be 
communicated to the board of 
directors. The annual report should 
contain a statement as to how this 
requirement has been undertaken 
and satisfied. 

Directors Report –  
Council of Governors 
section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

Council of 
Governors 

N/A If, during the financial year, the 
Governors have exercised their 
power* under paragraph 10C2 of 
schedule 7 of the NHS Act 2006, 
then information on this must be 
included in the annual report.  

This is required by paragraph 
26(2)(aa) of schedule 7 to the NHS 
Act 2006, as amended by section 
151 (8) of the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012. 

This power has not been 
exercised by the Council 
of Governors 

Disclose Board B.6.1 The board of directors should 
state in the annual report how 
performance evaluation of the 
board, its committees, and its 
directors, including the 
chairperson, has been conducted. 

Directors Report 

Disclose Board B.6.2 Where there has been external 
evaluation of the board and/or 
governance of the trust, the 
external facilitator should be 
identified in the annual report and a 
statement made as to whether they 
have any other connection to the 
trust. 

There has not been an 
external evaluation of the 
board in 2016/17 

                                            
2 Power to require one or more of the directors to attend a governors’ meeting for the purpose of obtaining information 
about the foundation trust’s performance of its functions or the directors’ performance of their duties (and deciding whether 
to propose a vote on the foundation trust’s or directors’ performance). (As inserted by section 151 (6) of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012)). 
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Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Disclose Board C.1.1 The directors should explain in the 
annual report their responsibility for 
preparing the annual report and 
accounts, and state that they 
consider the annual report and 
accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, 
balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary 
for patients, regulators and other 
stakeholders to assess the NHS 
Foundation Trust’s performance, 
business model and strategy. 

 

Directors should also explain their 
approach to quality governance in 
the Annual Governance Statement 
(within the annual report). 

Stated in the “Statement 
of the chief executive’s 
responsibilities as the 
accounting officer of 
Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Quality Governance is 
included in the Annual 
Governance Statement 

Disclose Board C.2.1 The annual report should contain a 
statement that the board has 
conducted a review of the 
effectiveness of its system of 
internal controls. 

Annual Governance 
Statement 

 

Directors Report – 
Committees section. 

Disclose Audit 

Committee / 
control 
environment 

C.2.2 A Trust should disclose in the 
annual report: 

(a) if it has an internal audit function, 
how the function is structured and 
what role it performs; or 

 

(b) if it does not have an internal 
audit function, that fact and the 
processes it employs for evaluating 
and continually improving the 
effectiveness of its risk 
management and internal control 
processes 

The Trust does not have its 
own internal audit 
department. Internal audit 
services are provided by 
KPMG, an external 
provider. 

 

KPMG agrees an audit plan 
with the Trust and provides 
reports to the Integrated 
Audit Committee and 
reports on progress made 
by the Trust in 
implementing the actions 
required to improve 
controls 
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Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Disclose Audit Committee 
/ Council of 
Governors 

C.3.5 If the council of governors does not 
accept the audit committee’s 
recommendation on the 
appointment, reappointment or 
removal of an external auditor, the 
board of directors should include in 
the annual report a statement from 
the audit committee explaining the 
recommendation and should set 
out reasons why the council of 
governors has taken a different 
position. 

The Council of Governors 
approved the appointment 
of Deloitte LLP as the 
Trust’s external auditor for 
an initial contract period of 
three years commencing 
in 2014/15 with an option 
to extend for a further 
period of up to two years. 

Disclose Audit Committee C.3.9 A separate section of the annual 
report should describe the work of 
the audit committee in discharging 
its responsibilities. The report 
should include: 

■ the significant issues that the 
committee considered in relation to 
financial statements, operations 
and compliance, and how these 
issues were addressed; 

 

■ an explanation of how it has 
assessed the effectiveness of the 
external audit process and the 
approach taken to the appointment 
or re-appointment of the external 
auditor, the value of external audit 
services and information on the 
length of tenure of the current audit 
firm and when a tender was last 
conducted; and 

 

■ if the external auditor provides 
non-audit services, the value of the 
non-audit services provided and an 
explanation of how auditor 
objectivity and independence are 
safeguarded 

Directors Report – 
Committee section 
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Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

Disclose Board / 
Remuneration 
Committee 

D.1.3 Where an NHS Foundation Trust 
releases an executive director, for 
example to serve as a non-
executive director elsewhere, the 
remuneration disclosures of the 
annual report should include a 
statement of whether or not the 
director will retain such earnings. 

None of the executive 
directors have been 
released to serve as a non-
executive director 
elsewhere. 

Disclose Board E.1.5 The board of directors should state 
in the annual report the steps they 
have taken to ensure that the 
members of the board, and in 
particular the non-executive 
directors, develop an 
understanding of the views of 
governor and members about the 
NHS Foundation Trust, for example 
through attendance at meetings of 
the council of governors, direct 
face-to-face contact, surveys of 
members’ opinions and 
consultations. 

Directors Report 

Disclose Board / 
Membership 

E.1.6 The board of directors should 
monitor how representative the 
NHS Foundation Trust’s 
membership is and the level and 
effectiveness of member 
engagement and report on this in 
the annual report. 

Directors Report – 
Membership section 

Disclose Membership E.1.4 Contact procedures for members 
who wish to communicate with 
governors and/or directors should 
be made clearly available to 
members on the NHS Foundation 
Trust’s website and in the annual 
report. 

Directors Report – 
Membership section 

Additional 
requirement of 
FT ARM 

Membership N/A 
The annual report should include: 

■ a brief description of the 
eligibility requirements for joining 
different membership 
constituencies, including the 
boundaries for public membership; 
 

Directors Report – 
Membership section 



85

Part of 
schedule A 

Relating to Code of 
Governance 
reference 

Summary of requirement Where located in annual 
report and further 
explanation 

■ information on the number of 
members and the number of 
members in each constituency; and 
 

■ a summary of the membership 
strategy, an assessment of the 
membership and a description of 
any steps taken during the year to 
ensure a representative 
membership [see also E.1.6 above], 
including progress towards any 
recruitment targets for members. 

Additional 
requirement 
of FT ARM 
(based on 
FReM 
requirement) 

Board / Council 
of Governors 

N/A The annual report should disclose 
details of company directorships or 
other material interests in 
companies held by governors 
and/or directors where those 
companies or related parties are 
likely to do business, or are 
possibly seeking to do business, 
with the NHS Foundation Trust. As 
each NHS Foundation Trust must 
have registers of governors’ and 
directors’ interests which are 
available to the public, an 
alternative disclosure is for the 
annual report to simply state how 
members of the public can gain 
access to the registers instead of 
listing all the interests in the annual 
report. 

Directors Report details 
how the Registers of 
Interests for both directors 
and governors can be 
accessed. 

 
Comply or explain 
 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust has applied the principles of the NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The Foundation Trust Code of 
Governance, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on the principles of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012. 
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At the end of March 2016, the Trust was not compliant with one of the 57 comply or 
explain requirements. An explanation is stated below. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Part of 
schedule 
A  

Relating 
to 

Code of 
Governance 
reference  

Summary of 
requirement 

Further explanation 

Comply 
or 
explain 

Board B.1.2 At least half the 
board, excluding the 
chairperson, should 
comprise non-
executive directors 
determined by the 
board to be 
independent. 

During 2016/17 this requirement was not 
always met during the year. At the end of 
March 2017, excluding the Chair, there were 
five non-executive and five executive directors. 



87

 
Regulatory matters 

NHS Improvement: Single Oversight 
Framework 
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight 
Framework provides the framework for 
overseeing providers and identifying 
potential support needs. The framework 
looks at five themes: 

• Quality of care 

• Finance and use of resources 

• Operational performance 

• Strategic change 

• Leadership and improvement capability 
(well-led) 

Based on information from these themes, 
providers are segmented from 1 to 4, 
where ‘4’ reflects providers receiving the 
most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers 
with maximum autonomy. A foundation 
trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where 
it has been found to be in breach or 
suspected breach of its licence. 
The Single Oversight Framework has 
been applicable since Quarter 3 of 
2016/17. Prior to this, NHSI’s Risk 
Assessment Framework (RAF) was in 
place. Information for the prior year and 
first two quarters relating to the RAF has 
not been presented as the basis of 
accountability was different. This is in line 
with NHS Improvement’s guidance for 
annual reports. 
Segmentation 
At the time of preparing this report the 
Trust was placed in segment 3 which is 
categorised as providers receiving 
mandated support for significant concerns. 
An organisation in special measures 
would be in segmentation 4. The rating of 
3 recognises that the Trust has been 
released from quality special measures 
but continues to face financial challenges. 
The continuing significant deficit directly 
affects the financial sustainability and 
efficiency of the organisation and until this 
is brought under control the Trust is likely 
to remain in segment 3. 
 
 
 

 
Finance and use of resources 
The finance and use of resources theme 
is based on the scoring of five measures 
from ‘1’ to ‘4’, where ‘1’ reflects the 
strongest performance. These scores are 
then weighted to give an overall score. 
Given that finance and use of resources is 
only one of the five themes feeding into 
the Single Oversight Framework, the 
segmentation of the trust disclosed above 
might not be the same as the overall 
finance score here. 
The Trust Scores can be seen below and 
are all as planned for this financial year. 
 

Area Metric 2016/17 
Q3 

2016/17 
Q4 

Financial 
sustainability 

Capital 
service 
capacity  

4 4 

Liquidity 4 4 

Financial efficiency I&E 
margin 

4 4 

Financial controls Distance 
from 
financial 
plan 

1 1 

Agency 
spend 

4 4 

Overall scoring 3 3 
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Statement of the Chief Executive's 
responsibilities as the Accounting 
Officer of Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust  
It is the responsibility of directors to 
prepare the annual report and accounts. 
The directors consider that the annual 
report and accounts, taken as a whole, is 
fair, balanced and understandable and 
provides the information necessary for 
patients, regulators and stakeholders to 
assess the Trust’s performance, business 
model and strategy. 
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief 
Executive is the Accounting Officer of the 
NHS foundation trust. The relevant 
responsibilities of the accounting officer, 
including their responsibility for the 
propriety and regularity of public finances 
for which they are answerable, and for the 
keeping of proper accounts, are set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting 
Officer Memorandum issued by NHS 
Improvement.  
NHS Improvement, in exercise of the 
powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS 
Act 2006, has given Accounts Directions 
which require Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on 
the basis required by those Directions. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals 
basis and must give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust and of its income and 
expenditure, total recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial 
year.  
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting 
Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Department of Health 
Group Accounting Manual and in 
particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued 
by NHS Improvement, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent 
basis  
 

 
 
 

• make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis  

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (and the Department of Health 
Group Accounting Manual) have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial 
statements 

• ensure that the use of public funds 
complies with the relevant legislation, 
delegated authorities and guidance and  

• prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis.  

The accounting officer is responsible for 
keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the NHS 
foundation trust and to enable him/her to 
ensure that the accounts comply with 
requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is 
also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the NHS foundation trust and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.  
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I 
have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum.  
 
 
 

Lesley Dwyer 
Chief Executive 
May 2017 
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Scope of responsibility 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s policies, 
aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and departmental assets 
for which I am personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me. I am also responsible for 
ensuring that Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are 
applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum. 

The purpose of the system of internal 
control 
The system of internal control is designed 
to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on 
an on-going process designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks to the achievement 
of the policies, aims and objectives of 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust, to 
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be 
realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The system 
of internal control has been in place in 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust for the 
year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the 
date of approval of the annual report and 
accounts. 

Capacity to handle risk 

The Trust has a Risk Management 
Strategy and Policy in place which clearly 
sets out the accountability and reporting 
arrangements to the Board of Directors for 
risk management within the Trust. 
 
 

 

Whilst the overall responsibility for the 
management of risk lies with the Chief 
Executive as Accounting Officer, the 
Director of Corporate Governance, Risk, 
Compliance and Legal has specifically 
defined responsibilities for leading on the 
management of risk throughout the Trust 
and operational responsibility for the 
implementation of risk management has 
been delegated to executive and other 
directors within their sphere of 
responsibility. 
Risk management is a core component of 
the job descriptions of senior managers 
within the Trust. A range of risk 
management training is provided to staff 
and there are procedures in place which 
describe roles and responsibilities in 
relation to the identification, management 
and control of risk, along with the Risk 
Management process of escalation and 
de-escalation to be followed. All relevant 
risk policies and procedures are available 
to staff via the Trust intranet. 
The Trust learns from good practice 
though a range of mechanisms including 
clinical supervision and performance 
management, continuing professional 
development, clinical and process audit 
and application of evidence based 
practice. At the heart of the Trust Risk 
Management Strategy and Policy is the 
desire to learn from events and situations 
in order to continuously improve 
management processes. Where 
necessary, and where appropriate, 
changes will be made to the Trust’s 
systems to enable this to happen. 

The risk and control framework 

Deficiencies in the Trust’s risk 
management arrangements were 
highlighted in the CQC Inspection Report 
published in January 2016. At the time of 
the inspection in August 2015 a risk 
management framework was in place  
 

Annual Governance Statement 



90
  

with appropriate policies and protocols 
together with an electronic risk 
management platform (Datix). Despite the 
existence of the framework, it is clear from 
the CQC’s findings that the risk 
management arrangements were not 
effective and therefore information 
generated from the risk management 
system, for example, for the Board, could 
not be relied upon as an accurate 
representation of the organisation’s risks. 
These deficiencies were also outlined in a 
report of September 2015 from the Trust’s 
Internal Auditors, KPMG, which reviewed 
the Trust’s risk management 
arrangements, the recommendations of 
which informed the Risk Management 
Improvement Plan developed by the 
Director of Corporate Governance, Risk, 

Compliance and Legal in March 2016. 
This was presented to the Audit 
Committee on 9 March 2016 and with an 
outline of a programme of work to revise 
and improve the risk management and 
assurance framework across the Trust. 
Whilst the framework of the revised risk 
management Strategy, Policy and 
Procedures has been implemented, it is 
recognised that further work and training 
needs to be embedded into the Trust to 
improve understanding, knowledge and 
governance arrangements for risk 
management. 
The risk management improvement work 
has been extensive and the table below 
provides an outline of the actions taken 
and the associated outputs. 
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Action Outputs 

Production of a Standard Operating Procedure (SOP) for 
Risk Management 

 

Clear procedural instructions for staff, including a 
comprehensive risk matrix to reduce variation in the 
assessment process. 

Risk Governance Group established Regular forum for governance leads that have specific 
responsibilities on risk management during set up and 
implementation of the revised framework. 

Risk Management Strategy and Policy High level document outlining the Trust’s overarching 
strategic approach and policy and responsibilities of 
individuals, Trust Board, Committees etc. 

Training – online and face to face modules developed Building risk culture and capability within the Trust 

Investment in RiskAssure platform for risk management. 
Guidance documentation provided to aid staff in the use 
of RiskAssure. 

Staff have a user-friendly system and enhanced reporting 
capability 

SOP for Board Assurance Framework (BAF) Board have clarity on the assurance process and 
infrastructure 

BAF document The BAF document provides a visual overview of 
strategic risks, corporate risks, gaps in assurance, 
assurance providers. 

Corporate Risk Register This is a summary register produced from a review of all 
risk registers. It reflects risks that impact the whole or a 
significant part of the organisation. 

Risk Appetite Statement Sets out the Board’s strategic approach to risk-taking by 
defining its boundaries and risk tolerance thresholds; this 
can then be disseminated to staff and integrated into 
business planning and decision making processes. 

Risk register development and maintenance All directorates and functions across the Trust produced 
new risk registers on RiskAssure. The system requires a 
named Risk Owner and a Control Owner thereby 
ensuring that there are clear lines of responsibility and 
oversight. 

Developing a risk culture and ensuring appropriate 
review and escalation of risks from ward to Board 

As the output from RiskAssure has been strengthened 
and improved, there is now review of resultant risk 
registers at some relevant groups and committees. This 
will need further development and monitoring and greater 
Executive oversight as the quality is variable. 

Reporting All Executives and Directors of Clinical Operations 
receive an automated risk report weekly for their 
function, ensuring that there is oversight and 
accountability for the content. 
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Risk management is the key system 
through which strategic, clinical (quality 
and safety), operational, corporate and 
financial risks are managed by all staff to 
their reasonable best for the benefit of 
patients, staff, visitors and other 
stakeholders. It is through this system of 
internal control and accountability that the 
Chief Executive fulfils her responsibility as 
Accountable Officer and the Board fulfils 
its responsibility of stewardship. Key 
systems are being embedded at every 
level of the organisation to ensure 
compliance with current and future risk 
management related standards and 
legislation, as described in the Standard 
Operating Procedure for Risk 
Management. 
The Trust’s Internal Auditors KPMG 
conducted a further audit of the Trust’s 
risk management arrangements in 
February 2017; this resulted in an 
Indicative Assurance rating of “Significant 
assurance with minor improvement 
opportunities”. The report noted that the 
Trust has completed a comprehensive 
refresh of its risk management process 
over the last 12 months, which has 
included the production of a new Risk 
Management Strategy and Policy and a 
new Board Assurance Framework, 
Corporate Risk Register and new 
Directorate Risk Registers. The risk 
management system, RiskAssure, has 
also been implemented. The new 
approach has begun to embed across the 
Trust with evidence of appropriate 
escalation through the Trust’s governance 
structure. Auditors noted the positive take 
up within Directorates of a regular risk 
management process (an area of notable 
weakness when they last reviewed risk 
management in September 2015). The 
auditors stated that there is now a well-
designed framework for risk identification, 
assessment and risk escalation and 
detailed instruction to staff via the Risk 
Management Strategy and Policy. 
We also identified a number of principal 
risks during the year that may have had 
the potential to adversely affect the 
achievement of our strategic objectives. 
These risks were assigned to an executive 

lead and reported on the revised Trust 
Board Assurance Framework. The 
Assurance Framework is reviewed by the 
Trust Board on a bi-monthly basis to 
provide assurance that these principal 
risks continue to be mitigated as far as 
practicable. 
Although the key strategic risks are 
identified and monitored by the Trust 
Board, operational risks are managed on 
a day-to-day basis by staff throughout the 
organisation. 
The Risk Management Strategy and 
Policy and supporting procedures set out 
the key responsibilities for managing risk 
within the organisation, including ways in 
which the risk is identified, evaluated and 
controlled. A risk management rating 
matrix is used to support a consistent 
approach to assessing and evaluating all 
clinical and non-clinical risks.  
The diagram below, figure 1, provides a 
schematic view of the risk management 
process for identifying, evaluating, 
recording, controlling, monitoring and 
communicating risks throughout the 
organisation, with clear lines of escalation 
from ward speciality and Programme 
levels, to Directorate and subsequently 
Executive and Board levels, with the 
consequent de-escalation and resolution 
of risk through appropriate control and 
actions taken. 
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Figure 1 
Schematic view of the risk management process 

 

It is ultimately the Board that has 
responsibility for oversight and review of 
assurance that the organisation is 
operating effectively, however assurance 
must be provided at all levels within both 
corporate and clinical services, of effective 
integrated governance and the 
effectiveness of internal controls, so that 
onward assurance can be provided to the 
Trust Board. 
The Board Assurance Framework sets out 
the framework for assurance and identifies 
which of the organisation’s strategic 
objectives are at risk of not being 
delivered. At the same time, it provides 
positive assurance where risks are being 
managed effectively and objectives are 
being delivered. This allows the Board to 
determine where to make most efficient 
use of resources and address the issues 
identified in order to improve the quality 
and safety of care. 
The process for gaining assurance adopts 
the three lines of defence triangulation 
approach. This consists of looking for 
three distinct sources of information and 
comparing them. If those three sources 
coincide then reasonable assurance can 
be taken. The most objective assurances 
are derived from independent reviewers; 
these are supplemented by internal 
sources such as clinical audit, internal 
management representations,  
 
 

performance management and self-
assessment reports. 

Risk appetite 

The Trust recognises it is impossible to 
deliver its services and achieve positive 
outcomes for its stakeholders without 
taking risks. Indeed, only by taking risks 
can the Trust realise its aims. It must, 
however, take risks in a controlled 
manner, thus reducing its exposure down 
to a level deemed acceptable by the 
Board and by extension, external 
regulators and relevant legislation. 
Methods of controlling risks must be 
balanced in order to support innovation 
and the imaginative use of resources 
when it is to achieve substantial benefit. In 
addition, the Trust may accept some high 
risks because the cost of controlling them 
is prohibitive. As a Trust in special 
measures with its regulators until March 
2017, the Board has taken a cautious view 
regarding the risks that it is prepared to 
take in terms of risks to quality, patient 
safety, financial controls, reputation, 
compliance and regulation, workforce and 
external stakeholders, expressing a 
preference for safe delivery options that 
have a low degree of risk and which may 
only have a limited potential for reward. In 
2016 the Board approved a Risk Appetite 
Statement, outlining the risk tolerances for 
various areas of its operations. 
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Annual Quality Report  
The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 
2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality 
Accounts for each financial year. NHS 
Improvement (in exercise of the powers 
conferred on Monitor) has issued 
guidance to NHS foundation trust boards 
on the form and content of annual Quality 
Reports which incorporate the above legal 
requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual.  
The preparation of the Quality Account 
2016/17 has been led by the Associate 
Director of Quality under the direct 
supervision of the Executive Director of 
Nursing and the Executive Medical 
Director. The Quality Account 2016/17 has 
been prepared following consultation with 
patients, staff, membership of the Council 
of Governors and all executive and non-
executive members of the Trust Board.  
The clinical quality indicators and metrics 
contained within the Quality Account are 
monitored both within Clinical Directorates 
and at appropriate Trust level committees 
such as the Quality Assurance Committee 
(QAC) and the Trust Board. 
Subject to the NHS Improvement detailed 
requirements for external assurance for 
quality reports for foundation trusts for 
2016/17, Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
are required to select two indicators that 
must be subject to external audit. A review 
of key indicators has highlighted issues 
associated with data quality in relation to 
the following indicators: 

• percentage of incomplete pathways 
within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways at the end of the 
reporting period  

• percentage of patients with a total time 
in A&E of four hours or less from arrival 
to admission, transfer or discharge  

• maximum waiting time of 62 days from 
urgent GP referral to first treatment for 
all cancers 

 

 

This led to the suspension of reporting of 
RTT data to national data systems in 
2015/16 and therefore assurance for any 
elective waiting times data is limited for 
the period reflected in this report.  
The following are data quality deliverables 
as set out in the Quality Account 2016/17, 
and actions taken by the Trust.  
 
Development of a Business Intelligence 
(BI) plan and Implementation Timetable  
The Data Quality (DQ) policy is due to be 
revised and the Implementation Timetable 
has been set out as per the Data Quality 
Strategy 2016/18.  
Establishment of two Data Quality 
Groups – one strategic and one user-
focused  
This was required in the post go-live 
environment as there were still many user 
issues relating to Patient Administration 
System (PAS). As part of the Data Capture 
Project, a number of system bugs (data 
quality potential points of failure) were 
identified that were a result of suboptimal 
system configuration or suboptimal data 
migration from the previous PAS.  
The prevalence of system bugs had 
reduced, and the user-focus group 
became unnecessary. At that point, staff 
resource became the primary issue for 
data quality 
A ‘validation plan’ as set out in July 2016, 
addressed the changing nature of Referral 
To Treatment (RTT) validation and this 
freed staff resource to tackle emerging 
data quality issues. This led to the 
formation of a new Data Quality team to 
tackle both system bugs and user issues 
in a more strategic and focussed manner.  
Audits on several Key Performance 
Indicator’s (KPIs) and data quality 
issues, including diagnostic and 
discharge times on the recording 
system  
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Investigated KPIs are now monitored daily 
and a structured approach is being taken 
to investigate further KPIs in priority order.  
There are still system workflow issues that 
cause dislocated discharge times but 
these are reported in the data quality 
dashboard and corrected by the Clinical 
Systems Team (CST).  
However, a formal policy on audit is an 
outstanding action and has already been 
raised from an RTT perspective.  
 
Development of data quality reports in 
order to address data quality issues 
The newly created Data Quality team 
have been reviewing and correcting data 
quality issues identified, emphasising and 
prioritising issues affecting patient care 
across the Trust.  
A data quality dashboard has been 
developed to monitor issues daily and is 
currently being rolled out across the Trust.  
To address one of the key dimensions of 
data quality (completeness) the Data 
Quality team along with the Finance team, 
have developed monthly reports to ensure 
that the Trust’s chargeable dataset is 
complete and accurately reflects all 
clinical activity conducted in relation to the 
following areas:  

• A&E attendance activity. All radiology 
and pathology data appropriately 
captured and coded onto the Trust’s 
A&E Symphony system.  

• Interventional Radiology Suite. All day 
case activity conducted in the suite is 
completely and accurately reflected on 
the Trust’s Oasis/PAS system.  

• Unbundled Outpatient activity. All 
outpatient related activity which has 
attributable radiology procedures 
attached to the appointment(s) is 
charged completely.  

 
Redesigned training on data input 
processes relating to our referral to 
treatment (RTT) targets and started to 
carry out these new training sessions  
The Data Quality team have delivered 
comprehensive RTT training across the 
 
 
 

Trust to improve the quality and validity of 
RTT data inputted onto local systems. 
The Data Quality team have worked  
in-conjunction with the Trust’s Training 
Department and advised on the RTT 
element of PAS Keystroke training 
material, which has also improved the 
quality of localised decision making when 
inputting patient information.  
Whilst attendance at the revised training 
sessions was not mandatory, service 
leads encouraged staff to participate, and 
the uptake was well received. The appetite 
for continuous RTT related training is fluid, 
as the Data Quality team provides ad-hoc 
sessions and continues to provide 
valuable input for e-learning material via 
the MOLLIE system for staff to access.  
Furthermore, the Date Quality team 
provides on-going telephone and face-to-
face support when assisting colleagues 
with data quality and RTT related queries. 
Introduction of data quality KPIs in 
Board report which show data levels 
for the Trust’s access targets (Cancer, 
RTT and A&E)  
Data quality KPIs were developed and 
included in the Integrated Quality and 
Performance Report.  
Data quality ratings against all KPIs in 
the Board report  
Completed and available. 
Revised outpatients’ outcome form to 
increase understanding and 
transparency for consultants and data 
entry staff  
A dynamic clinic outcome form has been 
developed and is in use across the Trust. 
It provides key pathway information 
gathered from the PAS system, enabling 
clinicians to correctly record patients’ RTT 
status.  
The Data Quality team will conduct a post-
launch survey with clinicians in 2017/18 to 
analyse the purpose and understanding of 
RTT and the relevance of the outpatients’ 
outcome form.  
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Introduction of a co-morbidity 
recording form that has aided in the 
understanding of how many illnesses a 
patient has and therefore provides an 
improved treatment plan 
The co-morbidity form is currently under 
review as is the emergency admission 
clerking proforma.  
The depth of coding has increased since 
last year from 4.5 to 5.8.  
The Clinical Coding Department are 
currently working with Electronic 
Discharge Notification (eDN) team to 
simplify the co-morbidity section for 
clinicians.  
Prospectively, the department will be 
assessing the use of business intelligence 
and clinical systems to further improve 
comorbidity capture. Furthermore, Clinical 
Coding staff have received training on 
HRG4+ with an increased focus on depth 
of coding. 
There are a number of limitations in the 
preparation of the Quality Account which 
may impact on the reliability or accuracy 
of the data reported:  

• Data is derived from an extensive 
number of varied systems and 
processes; a limited number of these 
are subject to external assurance and/or 
included in the internal audit programme 
of work 

• Data is collected by an extensive 
number of teams across the Trust 
alongside their main responsibilities. 
This means that differences in how 
policies are applied or interpreted may 
be evident. Data reported reflects 
clinical judgement where individual 
cases might be classified differently 

National Data Definitions do not 
necessarily cover all circumstances, and 
local interpretations may differ 
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Responsibilities of directors and 
committees 

During the course of the year there have 
continued to be a number of 
improvements made to the Trust’s 
governance structure. In September 
2016, following recommendation by the 
Integrated Audit Committee, the Board 
approved a Board Assurance Framework 
and the associated Operating Procedure 
which has provided an improved reporting 
structure. These improvements have 
assisted in the review and reporting of 
risks facing the Trust and in the 
preparation of the Annual Governance 
statement included in the Annual Report. 
The Board Assurance Framework is 
underpinned by a robust governance 
framework created by the directorates to 
deal with clinical matters and operational 
management arrangements. The financial 
year 2016-17 has seen significant 
improvements in respect of the Trust’s 
corporate governance and risk 
management arrangements, which has 
been led by the Director of Governance, 
Risk, Compliance and Legal Services and 
the programme of improvement will 
continue during 2017/18. 
Improvements made in respect of clinical 
governance arrangements during 2016/17 
include: 

• An improving level of Board assurance 
in respect of the safety and quality of 
services provided to patients. 

• An improving level of Board assurance 
in respect of financial and operational 
performance. 

• Clear Executive Director responsibilities 
and accountability. 

• Clear Senior Management roles, 
responsibilities and accountability. 

• Clear scheme of delegated authority to 
improve decision making at all levels. 

 
 

 

 
 

• Formal processes for routine review of 
performance against plans, including 
processes for reviewing the 
implementation of actions to address 
operational risk. 

• Standardising a consistent approach to 
clinical / quality governance and 
operational management across each 
directorate. 

Audit Committee 

The Trust has established an Audit 
Committee. The Committee meets at least 
four times a year and otherwise as 
required. 
This is a Board committee, and it provides 
the Board with an independent and 
objective view of the Trust’s financial 
systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, regulations and 
directions governing the Trust in so far as 
they relate to finance. The Trust has 
approved and keeps under review the 
terms of reference for the committee, 
which includes information on the 
membership of the committee. 
Audit Committees play a key role in 
supporting the Board by critically 
reviewing and reporting on the relevance 
and robustness of the governance 
structures and assurances processes on 
which the Board places reliance. In 
particular, this requires the Audit 
Committee to understand and scrutinise 
the organisation’s overarching framework 
of governance, risk and control. At the 
corporate level this includes risk 
management and performance 
management systems underpinned by the 
assurance framework. 
 
 
 

Governance Structure 
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Quality Assurance Committee 

The Quality Assurance Committee is 
authorised by the Board to monitor, review 
and report on the quality of clinical 
services provided by the Trust, to assure 
the Board that where there are risks and 
issues that may jeopardise the Trust’s 
ability to deliver excellent quality health 
care, these are being managed in a 
controlled and timely way. 
The Quality Assurance Committee’s 
purpose is to assure the Board on the 
Trust’s delivery of safe, effective, high 
quality care which provides a positive 
experience for patients, their families and 
carers. 

Finance Committee 

In January 2017 a Finance Committee 
was established. The purpose of the 
Finance Committee is to provide scrutiny 
and oversight on Trust finances and 
provide onward assurance or escalation to 
the Board. The scope of the Committee 
covers oversight of financial planning, 
financial performance against plan, 
reviewing and reporting on areas of 
unmitigated financial risks, monitoring of 
the financial recovery plan as well as 
reviewing major investment and business 
plans. 
Executive Recovery Group 
The Executive Recovery Group (ERG) which 
was created in the financial year 2015-16 
has been meeting on a fortnightly basis. 
The ERG is not a sub-committee of the 
Board, however, it allows for detailed 
scrutiny of the Trust’s Recovery Plan and 
management risks which has enabled the 
Trust to progress out of the Special 
Measures regime. The ERG has allowed 
for more in-depth discussion on 
performance matters than would have 
been feasible during Board meetings. 
Executive Group 

The Executive Group supports the Chief 
Executive and other Executive Directors 
and Directors of Clinical Operations in 
delivering the tasks delegated by the Trust  

 
Board. It is responsible for agreeing 
strategies and plans and reviewing 
performance prior to consideration by the 
Trust Board. Also, it is accountable for 
delivering the strategic and annual plans 
approved by the Board. 
In addition, the Executive Group co-
ordinates the monitoring of all Trust activity, 
thereby ensuring effective management of 
the organisation. It provides assurance to all 
Board sub-committees (along with 
supporting management groups where 
relevant) in all aspects of the Trust 
management; and it ensures that new 
issues pertinent to the Trust are effectively 
managed. 

Principal risks 

The key risks to delivery of the Trust’s 
objectives are recorded in detail in the 
Board Assurance Framework and 
corporate risk register which are 
monitored monthly by the Executive 
Group and bi-monthly by the Board. A 
summary of significant risks is set out 
below. 
Strategic Objective 1 - Our People: We 
will enable our people to give their best 
and achieve their best 
We will have effective and appreciative 
leadership throughout the organisation, 
creating a high performance environment 
where staff have clarity about what is 
expected of them, receive regular 
feedback and understand that poor 
performance will be addressed. Our 
employees will be engaged, committed to 
continuous improvement and embrace 
change. We will be an employer of choice. 

Strategic Risk 

The Trust may be unable to attract, recruit 
and retain high quality staff impacting on a 
continued dependency on temporary staff 
and safe staffing levels, affecting quality of 
care, and financial costs.  
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Mitigating actions 

• Monthly reporting to Directors of Clinical 
Operations and Executives provides 
data on recruitment, appraisal, 
induction, mandatory training rates 
feeding into the Directorate 
Management Board and Programme 
Board structure and upward reporting to 
Quality Improvement Group and 
Performance Review meetings.  

• The Director of Nursing provides a 
monthly report to the Board which 
details the previous month's Unify data, 
areas of risk, mitigations in place and 
plans going forward. 

• The international nurse recruitment 
campaigns, are expected to result in the 
appointment of a significant number of 
nurses. 

• A dedicated nurse recruitment 
campaign commenced January 2017. 

• A Strategic Workforce Group has been 
established as a sub-group of the 
Executive Group. 

• Performance against the Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) agreed 
within the Trust Recovery Plan which is 
reviewed and monitored at the 
fortnightly Executive Recovery 
Committee which reports direct to the 
Board, but with oversight by the Clinical 
Council on a monthly basis. 

Strategic Objective 2 - Innovation:  We 
will embrace innovation and digital 
technology to support the best of care 
We will protect people from harm, giving 
them treatments that work and ensuring 
that they have a good experience of care. 
We will create an open and sharing 
environment where research and 
innovation can flourish achieving dual 
aims of enhancing the quality of patient 
care and contributing to the financial 
sustainability of the organisation. We will 
have a culture where staff are given the 
opportunity, training and resources to 
research and innovate. We will proactively 
develop partnerships with other  

 

 

 

organisations, underpinned by robust 
governance arrangements, to enable 
execution and exploitation of innovation 
projects to benefit the population that we 
serve.  

We will do this by increasing the 
availability of modern technology and 
quality information systems. We will take a 
whole systems approach to implementing 
a digital strategy that will result in 
providing real time access to patient 
information across all providers of 
healthcare in Kent and Medway. 

Strategic Risk 

The Trust remains behind peers in the 
implementation of technology and is 
reliant on outmoded systems. The Trust 
does not have the requisite financial 
resources to introduce all technical 
innovations that are needed. Although the 
Trust has made progress in implementing 
technology it is still reliant on multiple 
outmoded systems and multiple 
interfaces. Whilst capital funding may be 
allocated, financial resources required to 
accelerate implementation may not be 
available, unless clear and defined 
benefits are identified and ultimately 
delivered. 
Developing and aligning a digital strategy 
to meet Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan (STP) aspirations could mean that 
local improvements that have been 
developed or already approved do not 
then get implemented as the STP changes 
the direction of travel from the original 
concept. This may cause delays in 
implementing local improvements and 
cause developments designed to improve 
patient care to stagnate if STP partners 
are not aligned around the digital strategy. 
A culture and environment for innovation 
where staff are encouraged to innovate or 
feel confident with modern technology 
requires development and time 
commitment and creating the conditions 
for innovation is difficult when staff are 
focussing on dealing with fundamental  
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issues such as staff shortages and 
preparing for regulatory inspections.  
This may impede progress and support for 
innovation, impacting detrimentally on 
sustainability improvements designed to 
improve patient care. 
Assurance 

• Health Informatics Programme 
Management Office. 

• Chief Executive's and Medical Director’s 
integration into the Sustainability and 
Transformation Plans (STP) process. 

• Chief Executive's reporting to Board on 
wider STP developments. 

• External review of STPs and monitoring 
of health economy progress in 
development and implementation. 

• Speciality/Programme Board and 
upward reporting in the Directorate 
governance structure. 

• Implementation of improved site 
management processes to improve flow 
management (based on a nationally 
recognised best practice model), 
supported by improved utilisation of 
acute bed management software. 

• Internal Audit report on IT change 
management showed significant 
assurance with minor improvement 
opportunities. 

Strategic Objective 3 - Integrated 
Health Care:  We will work 
collaboratively with our local partners 
to provide the best of care and the best 
patient experience 
Working strategically, as a trusted partner 
in the Sustainability and Transformation 
Plan we will work with partner 
organisations and the public to transform 
out-of-hospital care through the integration 
of primary, community and social care and 
re-orientate elements of traditional acute 
hospital care into the community. We will 
work collaboratively and progressively to 
develop and Accountable Care System 
(ACS), ensuring that protecting our local 
Trust interests does not stand in the way 

of achieving benefits for the wider health 
economy and public. 

Strategic Risk 

Partners may not work strategically for the 
greater good and may not be willing to 
sacrifice local interests. Delivery of 
transformation may remain an aspiration 
rather than a reality; other providers’ 
interests may not be aligned and there 
may be resistance to change from within 
the organisation or the local authority. 
Assurance 

• The Board approved the STP and the 
governance arrangements for the STP 
are that accountability / decision making 
rests with each component 
organisation. 

• Medway Council Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

• Medway Health and Wellbeing Board. 

• Monthly Quality Oversight Committee 
with NHSI, CQC, CCGs. 

• Monthly progress review with NHS 
Improvement. 

• NHS England assurance process. 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financial 
Stability: We will deliver financial 
sustainability and create value in all 
that we do 
We will maximise in-house efficiency in 
service delivery and operational 
management. We will regain and retain 
financial control. We will be outward 
looking, actively working in partnership 
with the wider health economy through the 
Kent and Medway Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan to  maximise 
transformation opportunities in service 
delivery, workforce, back-office functions, 
digital strategy and estates utilisation. 

Strategic Risk 

The Trust's return to financial balance and 
sustainability may be challenged by failure 
to achieve its necessary deficit reduction 
plans resulting in further licence conditions 
and potential regulatory action;  
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The Trust is reliant on central funding 
(loans) to maintain sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities as they fall due; The 
Kent and Medway Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership has identified 
a number of key programmes for 
collaborative working to support the 
financial stability of the local health 
economy and develop genuine savings 
and quality benefits to the patient 
experience and health outcomes. These 
programmes require significant 
cooperation from all parties concerned 
and therefore there is a high inter 
dependence across the area; delivery of 
the income plan for the Trust is dependent 
upon ensuring that all activity is 
underpinned by good data quality, and is 
impacted by stretched commissioning 
budgets. 
Assurance 

• Scheme of Delegation and authorisation 
levels, business planning process and 
Cost Improvement Plans. 

• Financial Recovery Plan and Budgetary 
Control Framework in place from April 
2016 ensuring that budget holders have 
clear responsibilities and accountability 
and they are supported by training 
alongside robust budgets. 

• Control target deficit met. 

• National agency caps; monitoring by 
procurement team of contracts for 
agency workers. 

• Audit Committee oversight of financial 
governance systems. 

• Finance Committee reviewing financial 
performance. 

• Monthly Finance Report to Board 
includes status report on compliance 
with Loan Terms from Department of 
Health. 

• External audit of financial accounts and 
core financial systems. 

• Regular submissions to NHS 
Improvement and their monitoring of 
adherence to loan conditions. 

 

• Internal audit reports focused on areas 
of risk identified by Executive Directors, 
Non-Executive Directors and peers. 

Review of Economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of resources 

The Trust delivered a significant but 
reduced deficit in 2016/17 and is forecast 
to continue this trajectory in 2017/18. 
Consequently, the Trust Board remains 
dissatisfied with the overall economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness of the current 
use of resources. As a result, the Trust is 
taking the following steps to rectify the 
position: 

• A challenging but realistic reduction in 
the overall level of deficit is planned for 
2017/18.  

• The level of deficit will remain significant 
but medium to short term planning is in 
place to reduce this year on year to 
eventually reach a level of stability. 

• Additional controls around key areas of 
spend have been introduced and 
continue to be developed to ensure 
that all expenditure is appropriate, 
essential and represents value for 
money. 

• To ensure that resources are used 
economically, efficiently and effectively 
across clinical services the Trust carries 
out regular monitoring of clinical 
indicators on quality and safety. 

The Integrated Audit Committee, chaired 
by a Non-Executive Director and reporting 
directly to the Board, receives independent 
assurance from internal and external audit 
and counter-fraud specialists who support 
and provide regular reports. This 
Committee also receives other external 
reports and findings from investigations 
undertaken during the year. 
The Integrated Audit Committee agrees an 
annual work plan and monitors the work 
undertaken by the external and internal 
auditors, the counter fraud specialist and 
clinical audit and sets aside time with 
those parties in private so that any 
confidential items can be discussed if 
necessary. 
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Financial performance and Investment 
business cases are overseen by the 
Finance Committee which is also chaired 
by a Non-Executive Director. This 
committee reports directly to the Board and 
provides assurance on the financial 
position and commercial decisions. 
The Board receives an Integrated Quality 
and Performance Report and a Finance 
and Performance Report at each Board 
meeting which includes reviewing the 
Trust’s operational performance relating to 
national targets, quality, CQUINs and 
efficiency. 
Performance is reviewed at all directorate 
and service level meetings as well as at 
team meetings, issues are monitored and 
managed through the Trust’s management 
structure, with Directors of Clinical 
Operations being held accountable for the 
performance of their Care Programmes. 
Issues are escalated to the Executive 
Committee and for Clinical Council 
discussion and resolution where 
appropriate. 
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Information Governance 

Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation 
 

Summary of serious incidents requiring investigation involving personal data as reported to the information 
commissioner 2016-17 

Date of Incident 
(month) 

Nature of incident  Nature of data involved Number of 
data 
subjects 
potentially 
affected 

Notification Steps 

June 2016 Disclosed in error – 
inadequately protected 
electronic storage device 
(USB) 

Full patient name 

Hospital number 

Address 

Telephone number 

Allergies 

MRSA status 

Admission and discharge date 

Gender 

Diagnosis 

Details of care 

Medication prescribed 

Doctor details  

1500 Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office (ICO) 

Further action on 
information risk 

The organisation no longer uses unencrypted memory sticks – all devices are now AES256 encrypted  

June 2016 Lost / stolen paperwork 
(notebook) 

Two formats: 

Format one -  

Patient name 

NHS number 

Bed 

Ward 

Summary of treatment  

Format two also contained: 

Patient home address 

 

 

50-100 ICO  

Further action on 
information risk 

A process review was undertaken with the staff to ensure that going forward only minimum patent 
information was carried on a daily basis. 

July 2016 Disclosed in error (email) Patient name 

Address 

Highly sensitive personal 
information 

1 ICO  

Further action on 
information risk 

Staff reminded of correct procedures for transferring patient information between .net and 
medway.nhs.uk email accounts 
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Summary of serious incidents requiring investigation involving personal data as reported to the information 
commissioner 2016-17 

Date of Incident 
(month) 

Nature of incident  Nature of data involved Number of 
data 
subjects 
potentially 
affected 

Notification Steps 

August 2016 Non-secure disposal – 
paperwork 

All records were from 2013 
Patient name 
Diagnosis 
Summary medical plan or 
nursing plan 

101-300 ICO only 

Further action on 
information risk 

Dedicated communications plan to all staff in relation to secure and appropriate destruction of ward 
handover sheets 

August 2016  Disclosed in error Patient name 
Patient ID number 
Date of Birth 
Summary diagnosis 

11-50 ICO only 

Further action on 
information risk 

Dedicated communications plan to all staff in relation to secure transportation of patient details whilst 
within the hospital grounds 

September 2016 Non-secure disposal – 
paperwork 

Patient name 
Date of birth 
Patient ID/NHS number 
Address 
Details of existing conditions  
Pregnancy details 
Family details 
Ethnicity details 
GP name 

1500+ ICO only 

Further action on 
information risk 

Local investigation into practices and procedures at an NHS site based in the community. Review of 
staff training for staff involved. 

Dec 2016 Lost or stolen paperwork  

(Xrays destroyed in a 
fire) 

Xray details 

 

1500+ ICO only 

Further action on 
information risk 

Review of contractual arrangements with supplier and retention periods. 

January 2017 Disclosed in error (email) Patient name 
Home address 
Month and year of birth 
Patient gender and ethnicity 
(coded) 
Patient date of admission, 
discharge, and length of stay 
Treating consultant specialty – 
coded 
Treatment – coded 

1250 ICO only 

Further action on 
information risk 

Review of training for new staff within team, review and revision to practices and procedures. 
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Summary of other personal data related incidents 

Category Breach type Total 

A Corruption or inability to recover electronic data 0 

B Disclosed in error 17 

C Lost in transit 2 

D Lost or stolen hardware 1 

E Lost or stolen paperwork 9 

F Non-secure Disposal – hardware 0 

G Non secure disposal – paperwork 4 

H Uploaded to website in error 0 

I Technical security failing (including hacking) 0 

J Unauthorised access / disclosure 28 

K Other 48 

“This inspection identified a much 
improved culture of incident reporting. 

In addition, processes for communicating 
and learning from incidents were largely 
consistent across the trust. 

Our review of root the cause analysis of 
serious incidents indicated robust, well 
constructed investigations. Subsequent 
action plans were detailed with clearly 
aligned responsibility for action. 

The trust had employed a number of 
communications methods to enhance 
opportunities for learning from incidents. 
As a result staff were largely clear about 
the actions arising from incidents”. 
Care Quality Commission report  
March 2017 
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Compliance with the Trust’s licence 

Under NHS Improvement’s Single 
Oversight Framework the Trust has been 
placed in segment 3, which is categorised 
as providers receiving mandated support 
for significant concerns. 
The Trust has remained in breach of two 
of its Licence conditions: 

• Condition FT4 – NHS Foundation Trust 
governance arrangements (specifically 
FT4(5)(a), (b), (c), (e) and (f); FT4(6)(c), 
(d) and (f); and FT4(7); and 

• Condition CoS3 – Standards of 
corporate governance and financial 
management (specifically CoS3(1), 
FT4(5)(a) and FT4(5)(d). 

As a result of these breaches, in August 
2015, the Trust provided Enforcement 
Undertakings to its regulator, Monitor. 
These Undertakings set out a number of 
actions that the Trust was required to do 
to address the Licence breaches. 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust was 
originally placed in special measures in 
July 2013 following a review by NHS 
England’s Medical Director, Sir Bruce 
Keogh, amid concerns about mortality 
rates and poor standards of care. 
Following the publication on 17 March 
2017 of the CQC report following its 
November inspection, NHS Improvement 
confirmed that the Trust had exited the 
quality and safety special measures 
regime as a result of major improvements. 
NHS Improvement are currently reviewing 
the extent to which the Trust has fulfilled 
the Enforcement Undertakings given in 
August 2015, with a view to removing the 
Undertakings or issuing revised 
undertakings to reflect the Trust’s current 
improved position . 

Compliance with the Care Quality 
Commission Fundamental Standards 

As part of the Trust’s compliance 
assurance process, the Trust invested in a 
web-based governance, risk and 
compliance platform. This provides a 
dynamic framework with which to manage, 
monitor and report on the Care Quality 
Commission regulatory fundamental 
standards and key lines of enquiry of the 
five domains of safety, effectiveness, 
caring, responsive and well-led. The 
directorates are responsible for monitoring 
their level of compliance and any 
associated improvement actions through 
their directorate governance meetings. 
The outcomes from the initial self-
assessments were reviewed by the Trust 
Executive Group and followed up by more 
in-depth ‘check and challenge sessions’. 
Monthly reports on compliance 
assessments are shared with all senior 
managers. 
During 2016/17, the Trust also undertook 
two ‘CQC simulated inspections’ on the 
wards and departments within the Trust. 
These reviews enabled the wards and 
departments to experience a CQC-style 
inspection and to provide a review of 
current compliance within the clinical 
areas. These reviews also served to 
inform the Trust of gaps in compliance and 
identify areas where remedial action was 
required.  
One of these was a cross Directorate 
activity which took the form of a peer 
inspection. Directorates were asked to 
identify key areas for inclusion in the 
inspections. The ‘inspection’ teams were a 
combination of both clinical and non-
clinical colleagues, including frontline 
nursing staff, medical staff and Directorate 
senior management. ‘Inspectors’ reviewed 
elements of the CQC’s five key lines of 
enquiry within the services, which included 
areas such as medicines management, 
safeguarding, environmental issues and 
compliance with appraisals and 
mandatory training.  
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The approach involved talking to members 
of the multidisciplinary team; observing 
care; talking with patients and relatives; 
reviewing patient records and inspecting 
the local environment. Inspection teams 
captured examples of good practice as 
well as areas for improvement.  
The second set of ‘CQC simulated 
inspections’ were held using external 
assessors alongside our own team from 
Medway. We had a range of people from 
Guy’s and St Thomas’ NHS Foundation 
Trust, NHS Improvement, Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, Maidstone and 
Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust and the 
University of Greenwich. 
It should be acknowledged that these 
reviews are in no way as comprehensive 
as a CQC inspection and therefore were 
not given ‘ratings’. However, they did 
provide a good organisational opportunity 
for peer review, learning, evidence 
assessment and reflection. 

Care Quality Commission inspection 
visits 2016/17 

Following a comprehensive inspection of 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust by the 
CQC in August 2015, the Trust was given 
an overall rating of inadequate. The Care 
Quality Commission carried out a further 
Comprehensive Inspection of the Trust on 
29 and 30 November 2016, with further 
unannounced inspections taking place on 
5,8,10 and 17 December 2016.  
Findings 

The CQC published the report on its 
November inspection on 17 March 2017 
and has given the Trust an overall rating 
of Requires Improvement; NHS 
Improvement has confirmed that the Trust 
has exited the Quality and Safety Special 
Measures regime. 
In addition to an overarching Trust level 
rating, each of the eight core services 
inspected received the following ratings: 
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Quality Summit  
The Trust recognises that it cannot 
improve the hospital without support from 
a whole range of partners. In this context, 
on 17 March 2017 the CQC and NHS 
Improvement hosted a Quality Summit 
which brought together around 100 
representatives from the Trust, other 
regulatory bodies, commissioners, NHS 
England, Healthwatch, local councillors 
and representatives from both Medway 
Council and Kent County Council. Part A 
of the event involved the Head of Hospital 
Inspection (CQC) presenting the key 
inspection findings, and the Chief 
Executive presented the organisational 
response. Part B was a workshop for 
healthcare system partners to discuss the 
current challenges which the Trust 
experiences, and how the system can 
better work together to ensure the 
improvement in quality and safety of 
patient care is sustained. 
 
 
 

 
The Care Quality Commission 
improvement plan 

The CQC report stated 13 Must Do 
(Requirement Notice actions) and 20 
Should Do actions, in addition to other 
observations highlighting further 
opportunities for the Trust to improve. This 
information has formed the Trust’s CQC 
Improvement Plan. All actions have an 
operational lead and an Executive 
sponsor to ensure all actions are owned, 
and delivered at pace. The Trust 
submitted its improvement plan to the 
CQC on 14 April 2017. 
Whilst reporting that there are further 
opportunities for improvement, the CQC 
identified the following areas of 
outstanding practice:  

• The neonatal unit improved their breast-
feeding at discharge compliance rates 
from one of the lowest rates in the 
country to the highest.  
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• A critical care consultant, nurse 
practitioner, GP lay member and 
physiotherapist led an innovative 
programme to improve patient 
rehabilitation during their ICU admission 
and after discharge. This included a 
training and awareness session for all 
area GPs and a business case to recruit 
a dedicated rehabilitation coordinator. In 
addition, a critical care consultant had 
developed app software to be used on 
digital tablets to help communication 
and rehabilitation led by nurses.  

• Critical care services had a research 
portfolio that placed them as the highest 
recruiter in Kent. Research projects 
were local, national and international 
and the service had been recognised as 
the best performer of the 24 hospitals 
participating in the national provision of 
psychological support to people in 
intensive care (POPPI) study. Research 
projects for 2016/17 included a study of 
patients over the age of 80 cared for in 
intensive care; a review of end of life 
care practices; a respiratory study and a 
study on abdominal sepsis. 

• The 'Stop Oasis Morbidity Project’ 
(STOMP) had reduced the number of 
first time mothers suffering third degree 
perineum tears. The project won the 
Royal College of Midwifery Award 2017 
Johnson’s Award for Excellence. 

• Women who were identified in the 
antenatal period as requiring an elective 
caesarean section would be referred to 
team Aurelia. Team Aurelia is a 
multidisciplinary team. Women were 
seen by an anaesthetist prior to surgery 
and an enhanced recovery process was 
followed to minimise women’s hospital 
stays following surgery. 

• The bereavement suite, Abigail’s Place, 
provided the “gold standard” in the 
provision of care for parents and 
families who experience a stillbirth. The 
suite created a realistic home 
environment for parents to spend time 
with their child. 

• The frailty and the ambulatory services, 
which required multidisciplinary working 
to ensure the individualised care needs 
given to patients attending with broken 
hips were met on entering the 
department, until admission to a ward.  

 
In his summary of the key findings, 
Professor Sir Mike Richards, the Chief 
Inspector of Hospitals, stated:  
 
“There is no doubt that substantial 
improvements have been made since 
our last inspection. The leadership 
team is now fully established and there 
is a strong sense of forward 
momentum and control. In addition it is 
clear that strong leadership and clear 
communication are leading to an 
engaged workforce whose morale is 
now much higher.” 

Equality Impact Assessments 

The Trust is required to meet its 
obligations in respect of the general duties 
under the Equality Act (2010) and the 
Public Sector Equality Duties. 
Equality impact assessments are 
undertaken on all aspects of Trust 
business, particularly in respect of its 
plans, and the development and 
reconfiguration of clinical services. 
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Stakeholder Involvement 
Seeking feedback from patients and 
visitors is a priority for the Trust and we do 
this in a number of ways, from national 
surveys to engagement meetings about 
improvements, and focus groups at 
service level. Non-Executive Directors and 
Governors also take part in departmental 
visits throughout the hospital to listen to 
the views of patients and their relatives or 
carers about their experiences of care so 
that any issues identified can be 
responded to and addressed.  
The Trust board has also begun to hear 
directly from patients and their loved ones 
about their experience of care, with a view 
to learning from where improvements can 
be made, as well as citing examples of 
good practice. 
Increasingly the Trust is gathering views 
from patients and public through its 
website, and on social media.  

 

During the past year a community 
engagement strategy has been produced 
aimed at broadening the level of 
engagement the Trust has with external 
stakeholders. We have begun to put this 
into action, starting with discussions held 
by some of our Governors with community 
organisations, including the Medway 
Youth Parliament, Kent Active Retirement 
Association, and several local faith 
groups. Next steps are to identify 
opportunities for local people to become 
more involved in discussions about the 
Trust, using their views and experiences 
to influence future improvements. 

Governors and the Director of Communications at our 
membership recruitment stand 
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The Trust has considered the validity of its 
Corporate Governance Statement through 
the following assurances: 
As previously described in the Governance 
Structure section, the Trust has a 
Governance Framework which is a 
‘blueprint’ of how governance is structured 
in the organisation. Alongside this 
Framework, the Trust has its Standing 
Orders and Standing Financial 
Instructions. During the course of the 
year there has been a continued 
improvement in the Trust’s governance 
structure including the approval of a 
Board Assurance Framework and 
associated Operating Procedure which 
has provided an improved reporting 
structure. Notwithstanding these, the 
Trust recognises that it has to further 
develop and embed more robust 
corporate governance and risk 
management arrangements. 
The Trust has regard to the Code of 
Governance and compliance against the 
Code has been described in the Code of 
Governance Compliance section of this 
Annual Report. 
The Trust’s Governance Framework has 
attempted to streamline the committee / 
group structure and separated Board 
committees, which are assurance focused, 
from those groups that are operationally 
driven and delivery focused. The latter are 
led by the Chief Executive and the Executive 
Team.  
The Board and some of the committees 
have annual programmes of work which 
ensures that they see sight of relevant 
information throughout the year.  
This allows for scrutiny of the Trust’s 
performance in an orderly, structured 
manner. The Board is particularly focused 
on the quality of care and makes sure that 
it gives sufficient time to reviewing the 
performance in this area. 
 
 
 

As previously stated, the Integrated Audit 
Committee provides assurance on the 
systems and processes of internal control 
as well as receiving reports from both 
internal / external auditors where 
improvements are required to be made. 
The Finance Committee was established 
in January 2017 and this provides scrutiny 
and oversight on the Trust’s financial 
performance and reviews major 
investment proposals. There is clearly 
defined accountability for the quality of 
care and an overarching Quality Strategy 
is in place. Both the Medical Director and 
Director of Nursing are overall 
professionally accountable.  
As previously described, the Trust has 
been assessed by the CQC in relation to 
the Fundamental Standards and has been 
rated as ‘requires improvement’ overall. 
The Trust is working hard to make the 
necessary improvements and is making 
steady progress against the associated 
improvement plan. 
Board member capability is reviewed by 
two Nominations and Remuneration 
Committees – one is a non-executive 
committee that considers executive 
performance and capability and the other 
is a Council of Governors-led committee 
which considers non-executive 
performance. 
In respect of Board effectiveness, the 
Board will carry out a review of its 
performance in 2017.  

Corporate Governance Statement 
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Pension schemes 

As an employer with staff entitled to 
membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
or auto-enrol into an alternative qualifying 
scheme, control measures are in place to 
ensure all employer obligations contained 
within the Scheme regulations are 
complied with. This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employers’ 
contributions and payments into the 
Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension 
Scheme records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales detailed in 
the regulations.  

Equality, diversity and human rights 

Control measures are in place to ensure 
that the organisation’s obligations under 
equality, diversity and human rights 
legislation are complied with. The Trust 
has recruited a Head of Equality and 
Inclusion who will join the Trust in April 
2017. The initial focus for their work will be 
to build on the programmes that have 
already started within the organisation 
around Equality and Inclusion. A key task 
will be the development and 
implementation of an Equality and 
Inclusion Strategy. The strategy will 
include the implementation of the Equality 
Delivery Scheme 2(EDS2) which is a Trust 
priority. The main purpose of EDS2 is to 
help local NHS organisations, in 
discussion with local partners, review and 
improve their performance for people with 
characteristics protected by the Equality 
Act 2010. However, as an organisation the 
Trust is committed to going beyond that 
which is mandated and make Equality and 
Inclusion an integral part of everything it 
does for staff, patients and the local 
community 
 

Carbon reduction delivery plans 

As part of an energy and environmental 
saving scheme, the Trust is working in 
collaboration with the University of 
Greenwich through a funded scholarship, 
to address energy use behaviour within 
the Trust to save energy. The novel 
methodology deployed will be "Persuasive 
Technology" (combining Technology and 
Human Psychology to address energy 
wastage through a research tailored 
initiative). 
In addition, we are looking at using our 
1.16MW of electricity generated on site by 
our combined heat and power (CHP), to 
join the new government capacity market. 
This will not only generate revenue for the 
Trust but will benefit the environment as a 
result of our CHP. 
 
  

Statements of compliance 
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Review of effectiveness 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. My review of 
the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the 
internal auditors, clinical audit and the 
executive managers and clinical leads 
within the NHS Foundation Trust who 
have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on the content of 
the quality report attached to this annual 
report and other performance information 
available to me.  
My review is also informed by comments 
made by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. I 
have been advised on the implications of 
the result of my review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control by the 
board and its committees and a plan to 
address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is 
in place. 
The effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is monitored through: 

• monthly financial and operational 
performance reporting to the Trust 
Board. 

• input into the controls and risk 
management processes from executive 
directors, senior managers and 
clinicians. 

• quarterly review of the Corporate Risk 
Register by the Integrated Audit 
Committee and thereafter to the Trust 
Board.  

• Bi-monthly review of the Board 
Assurance Framework by the Trust 
Board.  

• internal and external audit reviews  

• Comment on the system of Internal 
Control from the Head of Internal Audit 
in the annual report.  
 

Conclusion  
The Trust has continued to experience 
significant challenges and internal control 
issues during 2016/17. 

• Achieving an improved financial position 
and eliminating the deficit by development 
of a financial recovery plan which aims to 
deliver a sustainable financial or break 
even position. 

• Prioritisation of recruitment of permanent 
staff to reduce dependency upon agency 
workers and increase efficiency of our 
services. 

• Building upon existing improvements to 
ensure optimum operational performance. 

• Managing the transition out of Special 
Measures and ensuring the sustainability 
of improvement. 
I am satisfied that the internal control 
issues that have been identified in this 
report are being addressed through 
appropriate action plans and that these 
are, and will continue to be, monitored 
under close scrutiny by the executive 
team and collectively by the board. 

Signed 
 
 
 

Lesley Dwyer 
Chief Executive 
May 2017 



  

Quality report 



115  

Quality report 
 

 
 

 
Contents 
 
About the Quality Account 
 
Part 1: Statement on quality from the chief executive  
 
Part 2: Priorities for improvement and statements of  
assurance from the board  
 
2.1 Priorities for improvement  
 
2.2 Statements of assurance from the board  
 
2.3 Reporting against core indicators  
 
2.4 Other quality information 
 
Part 3: Other information  
 
Annex 1 

• Statements from commissioners, local Healthwatch organisations 
and Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

• Statement of adjustment 
 
Annex 2 

• Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the quality report  
 
 
 



116

About the Quality 
Account 
 
The Health Act 2009 requires all providers 
of NHS services in England to publish an 
annual report about the quality of their 
services; this report is called a quality 
account. 
A Quality Account is a report about 
the quality of service by an NHS 
healthcare provider. The reports are 
published annually by each provider, 
including the independent sector, and are 
available to the public. 
Quality Accounts are an important way for 
local NHS services to report on quality 
and show improvements in the services 
they deliver to local communities and 
stakeholders. The quality of the services is 
measured by looking at patient safety, the 
effectiveness of treatments that patients 
receive and patient feedback about the 
care provided. The Department of Health 
requires providers to submit their final 
Quality Account to the Secretary of State 
by uploading it to the NHS Choices 
website by 30 June each year.  
Requirements about the content of the 
Quality Account are set out in the Quality 
Accounts legislation (namely the Health 
Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (SI 
2010/279), as amended by the National 
Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Amendment Regulations 2012 (SI 
2012/3081).  
With effect from 2011/12 it is 
recommended that all NHS Trusts gain 
external audit assurance of their Quality 
Accounts. 
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Part 1: Statement on 
quality from the chief 
executive  
Without doubt the most important moment 
for the Trust this year was NHS 
Improvement’s decision to remove us from 
the special measures regime. I am so 
pleased that the improvements that we 
are all so proud of have been recognised. 
This is a great tribute to our dedicated 
staff and the fantastic job they do day in, 
day out. They really are the best of 
people, working hard to deliver the best of 
care. 
Patient safety is the number one priority 
for any healthcare provider and building 
on the progress we have already made in 
this area has continued to be a key theme 
for us in 2016/17. I am pleased to say that 
our mortality rates have continued to fall 
and are now in-line with national 
averages; our high mortality rates were 
one of the main reasons the Trust was 
placed into special measures in 2013. Our 
patient safety improvements include better 
systems for recognising and responding to 
patients whose condition has deteriorated, 
improved governance processes and 
better shared learning from safety 
incidents. In addition, corridors in our 
Emergency Department are no longer 
used for treating patients. 
We continue to make great strides in 
improving the Medway experience for our 
patients. Our care is now more responsive 
and effective; our patients see fewer 
doctors, enabling them to receive more 
consistent treatment, and are discharged 
sooner. Thanks to the new Home First 
initiative with our partners Medway 
Community Healthcare and Medway 
Council, patients who require further 
support at home can have their needs met 
sooner, allowing them to get back to the 
comfort of their own home. This is better 
for our patients and means that as a Trust 
we have fewer medically fit patients on our 
wards, freeing up beds for the acutely ill. 

We have also begun work on a new 
community engagement strategy that will 
ensure that the people of Medway and 
Swale are more involved in decisions 
about the services provided at the 
hospital. 
I am pleased to say that the hospital went 
smoke-free in October 2016; this has 
resulted in a much better and healthier 
environment for all users of our site. This 
was a major milestone for the Trust and I 
would like to thank everyone who has 
been involved in helping us to achieve 
this. We have had fantastic support from 
staff, patients and visitors for which we are 
very grateful. 
We were delighted to launch our new 
Trust vision this year which was created 
following feedback from more than 500 
staff. The vision ‘Best of Care, Best of 
People’ represents our aspiration to 
provide the highest quality of care for our 
community with highly-skilled staff. The 
values that underpin this vision, Bold, 
Every Person Counts, Sharing and Open, 
embody the behaviours of our staff in their 
work every day. 
I always say that without the staff a 
hospital is just bricks and mortar. They are 
the beating heart of everything that we do. 
We have worked hard this year to improve 
the working environment for our staff; 
ensuring they have better support from 
leadership, more training and 
development opportunities and do not 
suffer from unacceptable practices such 
as bullying and harassment. We are 
particularly proud of the fantastic 
MediLead programme which offers 
leadership development for junior doctors 
aspiring to be leaders of the future. 
Developing new and better ways to 
support our staff is something that will 
forever be ongoing and we still have much 
to do, but I’m delighted to say that 
significantly improved feedback from the 
2016 Staff Survey indicates that staff feel 
we are moving in the right direction. I 
would like to pay tribute to all our staff for 
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the compassionate care they provide for 
our patients and for their hard work and 
commitment to improving the hospital. 
However, 2016/17 has not been without 
challenge. The period immediately 
following Christmas was a time of very 
significant pressure for the Emergency 
Department and the hospital more widely. 
This meant that our performance against 
some of the key national targets was not 
what we would like it to be. We will 
continue to work with our healthcare 
partners to ensure only the patients that 
need to come to hospital do so and that 
patients are discharged efficiently. This 
will be greatly aided by the completion of 
the final phase of our Emergency 
Department redevelopment in 2017. 
We continue to work hard to ensure that 
we have the right staffing levels at the 
hospital. In 2016/17 we launched a new 
Trust recruitment campaign featuring our 
own staff and we have been proud to 
welcome many new people to our team.  
Our other significant challenge is our 
financial position. We have to be realistic 
and recognise that improving our financial 
position and eliminating our deficit will 
take some time and cannot be done in a 
few weeks or months. We have developed 
a financial recovery plan which aims to 
take us to a sustainable financial or break 
even position in three to five years. This 
will involve achieving greater efficiencies 
and productivity from our existing 
services, prioritising the recruitment of 
permanent staff to reduce dependency on 
agency workers and improving our 
procurement and contract management. 
We will also work closely with our partners 
across Kent to look at how we can deliver 
services more efficiently, through the Kent 
and Medway Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership. 
 
 
 
 

It has been a fantastic year for the Trust 
but we know we still have much to do if we 
are to consistently provide the level of 
care that the people of Medway and 
Swale deserve. This is why in 2017/18, we 
will work hard to deliver the next phase of 
our improvement plan and continue our 
journey of recovery. 
The information contained within this 
document is, to the best of my knowledge, 
accurate. 
 
 
 
Lesley Dwyer 
Chief Executive 
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Part 2: Priorities for 
improvement and 
statements of assurance 
from the board 
 
Engagement was central to the 
development of our priorities for quality 
improvement for 2017/18. We wanted to 
ensure that the priorities we selected built 
upon the existing programme of 
improvement work that has allowed 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust to exit the 
special measure regime.  
Furthermore, we also wanted to ensure 
that our priorities for quality improvement 
reflected the national drivers for quality, 
such as the Government Mandate to NHS 
England 2016/17, the Government 
Mandate to NHS England Forward view to 
2020, the NHS Outcomes Framework and 
the Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation (CQUINs) framework. It was 
also essential that our priorities for quality 
improvement for 2017/18 complemented 
the local priorities such as the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Quality Metrics, the 
Kent and Medway Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan and the next steps of 
improvement work required to achieve a 
‘good’ rating from the Care Quality 
Commission. 
As part of our programme of engagement, 
we held two sessions with our Council of 
Governors in January and April 2017, a 
public meeting with our members (staff 
and public) in March 2017 and we shared 
the outcome of our consultation with our 
Directorate Management Teams so they 
could consult with staff. Our Board has 
received updates via the annual accounts 
process and will sign off our final quality 
account in May and June 2017.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Our Quality Assurance Committee has 
received updates as to progress and 
development of the priorities for quality 
improvement throughout the process. 
Discussion around the priorities for quality 
improvement have been a central part of 
the discussions with our various 
stakeholders throughout the year
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2.1 Priorities for improvement 
Quality domain Our quality 

improvement priorities 
for 2017/18 

Success measures for 
2017/18 

Monitoring and 
reporting 
responsibilities 

Patient safety 1. Learning from 
incidents, serious 
incidents and 
complaints 

Development of a 
‘learning the lessons’ 
strategy and associated 
framework; which will 
include the mechanism by 
which we will measure the 
success of the learning 

Use of quality 
improvement methodology 
such as the SWARM 
approach to generate 
solutions and measure the 
success of those solutions 

Undertake quarterly 
thematic reviews of the 
serious incidents, 
incidents and complaints; 
identifying key trends and 
themes and develop 
quality improvement plans 
based on the trends and 
themes. Measure the 
success of those 
improvement plans 

Delivery of a year on year 
reduction in harm resulting 
from incidents 

Embedding a mechanism 
to demonstrate 
compliance with the 
timeframes expected 
within the NHS England 
Serious Incident 
framework 

Ensure there is a 
programme of patient 
safety seminars across 
the organisation. 

Executive Board 

Quality Assurance 
Committee (QAC)  

Performance Review 
Meetings 

Quality Improvement 
Group (QIG) 

Serious Incident Panel 

Directorate Programme 
Boards 

2. A reduction in the 
occurrences of  
pressure damage 

Development of a Trust 
wide quality improvement 
plan to build upon the 
improvement work 
undertaken during 
2016/17 

Implementation of Trust 
wide pressure damage 
panel which will oversee 
the implementation of the 
trust wide quality 
improvement plan 

Executive Board 

Quality Assurance 
Committee (QAC)  

Nursing and Midwifery 
Steering Group 

Quality Improvement 
Group (QIG) 

Trust Pressure Damage 
Panel 

Directorate Programme 
Boards 
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Quality domain Our quality 
improvement priorities 
for 2017/18 

Success measures for 
2017/18 

Monitoring and 
reporting 
responsibilities 

Improved partnership 
working; working with our 
community colleagues to 
share experience and 
expertise, and generate 
effective solutions 

Introduction of Directorate 
based pressure damage 
panels to allow deep dives 
into trends and themes, 
promote greater 
accountability and prompt 
interventions 

Implement the Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust 
‘must-do’ training and 
education programme 

Undertake a review of the 
Ward to Board reporting 
arrangements, including 
the introduction of new 
pressure damage 
dashboards 

3. Maintain our mortality 
rates in line with the 
national average with 
a continued focus on 
sepsis and managing 
the deteriorating 
patient 

Development of a Trust 
wide quality improvement 
plan to build upon the 
improvement work 
undertaken during 
2016/17 

Implement the 
recommendations of the 
National Quality Board 
‘National Guidance on 
Learning from Deaths’ 
framework (March 2017) 

Timely identification and 
treatment for sepsis and a 
reduction of clinically 
inappropriate antibiotic 
prescription and 
consumption in line with 
the clinical quality and 
transformational indicator 
goals (CQUIN 2017/19) 

Maintaining and building 
upon the successes of the 
Deteriorating Patient 
Programme 

Executive Board 

Quality Assurance 
Committee (QAC)  

Quality Improvement 
Group (QIG) 

Trust Mortality Group 

Serious Incident Panel 

 

Patient experience 1. Ensuring effective 
communication within 
teams/outside  
teams/with patients 
and carers 

Development and 
implementation of  the 
Patient and Engagement 
Strategy  

Executive Board 

Quality Assurance 
Committee (QAC)  

Patient experience group 
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Quality domain Our quality 
improvement priorities 
for 2017/18 

Success measures for 
2017/18 

Monitoring and 
reporting 
responsibilities 

A focus on the 
development of prompt 
responses to key trends 
and themes identified  
from patient feedback data 

A decentralised 
complaints management 
processes in place within 
Directorates to promote 
local resolution, timely 
response and effective 
remedies 

Provision of on-going 
customer service and 
complaint training for new 
and existing staff 

Ensuring dedicated board 
rounds are in place across 
all wards to ensure 
effective communication 
between medical, nursing 
and allied healthcare 
professionals 

Embedded programme of 
local safety huddles in 
place 

Sustained focus of 
handover and increased 
effectiveness 

Directorate Programme 
Boards 

2. A maintained focus 
on the vulnerable 
patient with particular 
attention to dementia 
and delirium 

Development of a quality 
improvement plan building 
on existing programmes of 
work undertaken via the 
transforming care 
programme 

Executive Board 

Quality Assurance 
Committee (QAC)  

Nursing and Midwifery 
Steering Group 

Quality Improvement 
Group (QIG) 

Trust Pressure Damage 
Panel 

Directorate Programme 
Boards 

 

3. End of life care Ensuring the Trust 
provides care in 
accordance with the 
national best practice 
guidance  

Strengthen 
communication with staff 
and families and using the 
term “Actively dying” when 
appropriate  

Executive Board 

Quality Assurance 
Committee (QAC)  

Nursing and Midwifery 
Steering Group 

Quality Improvement 
Group (QIG) 

Directorate Programme 
Boards 
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Quality domain Our quality 
improvement priorities 
for 2017/18 

Success measures for 
2017/18 

Monitoring and 
reporting 
responsibilities 

Continue to ensure that 
patients are given an 
individualised care plan 
that involves not only the 
dying person but those 
they class as being 
important to them in the 
planning of any care that 
may happen 

Clinical effectiveness 1. Workforce Continued focus on 
engagement with our 
workforce and recognition 
of the contribution all staff 
make to the care of 
patients 

Ensuring there is a robust 
mechanism in place to 
obtain staff views and 
opinions  

A focussed programme of 
work on recruitment and 
retention 

A focussed programme of 
work on staff morale and 
wellbeing 

Efficiencies delivered 
through skill mix and staff 
reviews 

Executive Board 

2. Access to treatment Continually validate the 
waiting list to ensure that 
the data remains accurate 
including: 

• Waiting times 

• Performance 
targets 

• Ops cancelled on 
the day 

• DNAs 

Continually monitor the 
referral to treatment work 
streams, ensuring that  all 
aspects of systems, 
process and pathway 
management and data 
quality are validated to 
ensure patients are seen 
and treated in a timely 
way 

Executive Board 
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Quality domain Our quality 
improvement priorities 
for 2017/18 

Success measures for 
2017/18 

Monitoring and 
reporting 
responsibilities 

3. Discharge planning Continue to work with our 
healthcare partners to 
ensure only the patients 
that need to come to 
hospital do so and that 
patients are discharged 
efficiently 

Engage staff with the 
changes to the medical 
model and flow pathways, 
and improved 
engagement from our 
Integrated Discharge 
Team when planning 
discharge 

Ensuring ward areas have 
dedicated morning Board 
Rounds following a 
structured template to 
maintain pathways to 
discharge and an 
Expected Date of 
Discharge is recorded on 
admission. 

Executive Board 

 

2.2 Statements of 
assurance from the board  
Review of Services 
During 2016/17 the Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust provided and/or sub-
contracted 51 relevant health services.  
Medway NHS Foundation Trust has 
reviewed all the data available on the 
quality of care in 51 of these relevant 
health services. 
The income generated by the relevant 
health services reviewed in 2016/17 
represents 100 per cent of the total 
income generated from the provision of 
relevant health services by Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust for 2016/17. 

 

 

Participation in Clinical Audits 
2016/17 
During 2016/17 36 national clinical audits 
and nine national confidential enquiries 
covered relevant health services that 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust provides. 
During that period Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in 100 per 
cent of national clinical audits and 100% 
of national confidential enquiries in which 
it was eligible to participate. 
The national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries that Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust participated in, and for 
which data collection was completed 
during 2016/17, are listed below alongside 
the number of cases submitted to each 
audit or enquiry as a percentage of the 
number of registered cases required by 
the terms of that audit or enquiry.

 



 

 National Clinical Audit Eligible 
Participation 

Yes/No? 
If yes, % of cases 
submitted 

1. Acute Coronary Syndrome or Acute Myocardial 
Infarction (MINAP) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 

not available 

2. Adult Asthma Yes Yes 100% 

3. Asthma (paediatric and adult) care in emergency 
departments Yes Yes 100% 

4. Bowel Cancer (NBOCAP) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

5. Cardiac Rhythm Management (CRM) Yes Yes 100% 

6. ICNARC: Case Mix Programme Yes Yes 100% 

7. Coronary Angioplasty/National Audit of Percutaneous 
Coronary Interventions (PCI) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 

not available 

8. Diabetes (Paediatric) (NPDA) Yes Yes 100% 

9. Elective Surgery (National PROMS Programme) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

10. Endocrine and Thyroid National Audit Yes Yes 100% 

11. 

Falls and Fragility Fractures Audit Programme 

Fracture Liaison Service Database 

Inpatient Falls 

National Hip Fracture Database 

Yes Yes 100% 

12. Head and Neck Cancer Audit Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

13. Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) programme Yes Yes 100% 

14. Learning Disability Mortality Review Programme 
(LeDeR Programme) Yes Yes Central Linkage 

Project 

15. Major Trauma Audit (Trauma Audit & Research 
Network) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 

not available 

16. National Audit of Dementia Yes Yes 100% 

17. National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes Yes 100% 

18. National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) Audit Programme Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 

not available 

19. 
National Comparative Audit of Blood Transfusion  

Audit of Patient Blood Management in Scheduled 
Surgery 

Yes Yes 94% 

20. National Diabetes Audit – Adults Yes Yes 100% 

21. National Emergency Laparotomy Audit (NELA) Yes Yes 100% 

22. National Heart Failure Audit Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

23. National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes Yes 100% 

24. National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) Yes Yes 100% 

25. National Prostate Cancer Audit Yes Yes 100% 
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 National Clinical Audit Eligible 
Participation 

Yes/No? 
If yes, % of cases 
submitted 

26. National Vascular Registry Yes Yes 100% 

27. Neonatal Intensive and Special Care (NNAP) Yes Yes 100% 

28. Nephrectomy audit Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

29. Oesophago-Gastric Cancer (NOGCA) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

30. Paediatric Pneumonia Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

31. Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy (PCNL) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

32. Radical Prostatectomy Audit Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

33. Rheumatoid and Early Inflammatory Arthritis Yes N/A Audit did not 
operate in 2016/17 

34. Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP) Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

35. Severe Sepsis and Septic Shock – care in 
emergency departments Yes Yes 100% 

36. Stress Urinary Incontinence Audit Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

 

 National Confidential Enquiry into Patient 
Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) Eligible 

Participation 

Yes/No? 
If yes, % of cases 
submitted 

1. Chronic Neurodisability Yes Yes In progress 

2. Young People’s Mental Health Yes Yes In progress 

3. MBRRACE-UK Yes Yes Ascertainment rate 
not available 

4. Perioperative diabetes Yes Yes In progress 

5. Cancer in Children, Teens and Young Adults Yes Yes In progress 

6. Heart Failure Yes Yes In progress 

7. Acute Pancreatitis Yes Yes 100% 

8. Physical and mental health care of mental health 
patients in acute hospitals Yes Yes 100% 

9. Non-invasive ventilation Yes Yes 20% 
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The reports of 27 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/2017 and 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality 
of healthcare provided in those national clinical audits with which we have received 
feedback to date: 
 

 Audit Title Actions 

1. National Diabetes Inpatient Audit 

Re-introduce intentional insulin rounding to improve insulin timing in 
relation to meals. 

Implement e-learning and face-to-face education sessions regarding 
variable rate insulin infusions, with associated competencies for 
registered nurses. 

2. ICNARC: Case Mix Programme Evaluate post-cardiac arrest to identify any factors that would make 
admission to ICU preventable 

3. Procedural Sedation in the 
Emergency Department 

Run training and simulation for ED staff in conjunction with the Trust 
Sedation Lead 

4. Vital Signs in Children in the 
Emergency Department 

Trial the Paediatric Observation Priority Score (POPS) in the 
Children’s ED 

5. End of Life Care: Dying in Hospital Roll out the Preferred Priorities for Care (PPC) document, 
developed in the community and adapted for hospital use. 

The reports of 50 local audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/2017 and Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of the 
healthcare provided: 
 

 Audit Title Actions 

1.  
Acute Kidney Injury in Orthopaedic 
patients, identification and monitoring 
of patients at risk 

Ensure patients at risk are identified and urine is monitored 

2.  Informed Consent for Elective 
Gynaecological Surgeries - Re-audit 

Review if procedure specific consent forms can be introduced, if not 
ensure current patient information leaflets to reflect RCOG procedure 
specific consent forms. 

3.  
Prospective audit on thermal care of 
low birth weight infants during 
transport 

Highlight importance of temperature regulation during transport during 
staff training 

4.  Looked After Children Health 
Assessment  

Ensure that all the missing immunisations are highlighted and included 
in the health plan for action by carer and Social worker 

Aim to increase use of referral to MEND, FIX and FIT (for older 
children) which is a multicomponent intervention 

Improve documentation of interventions in notes. 

Improve health promotion on healthy lifestyle for all children  

Health promotion information leaflets on weight to be readily available 
to share with carers and children 

5.  Health Needs of Looked After 
Children  

Ensure there is availability of local services to address the identified 
health needs 

Explore training of foster carers on caring for children and eczema 

Clinic to refer directly to the necessary service to avoid delay 
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 Audit Title Actions 

6.  Emotional Needs of Looked After 
Children  

The availability of scored SDQ to inform health assessments (initial 
and review) should be re audited in a years’ time, once the new 
pathway is agreed 

7.  Sleep Service Patient Survey 

Consultants to ensure that paperwork given to patients is up to date 

Physiologists to give extra teaching about maintaining consumables 
when setting up CPAP 

Consultants and physiologists working on a new pathway, in 
collaboration with Philips Respironics, to increase consultant clinic 
capacity. 

8.  

Re-audit of assessment of stroke risk 
and documentation of anticoagulant 
discussion in patients with newly 
diagnosed atrial fibrillation 

Appoint an arrhythmia nurse to improve compliance with these 
standards 

9.  Radiology Patient Satisfaction Survey Reaffirm the need for patient identity checks are essential for every 
patient for every examination. 

10.  Evaluation of BPT in fracture neck of 
femur patients in MMH (NHFD) 

Appropriate codes to be generated for common and particularly high 
value procedures 

11.  VBAC: Factors affecting success A policy or protocol of management of women with up to four previous 
CS being implemented 

12.  Occupational Therapy Notes 
Documentation 

Reaffirm the need for all documentation standards to be completed 

13.  
An audit into the quality of Badger 
discharge summaries from the 
Neonatal Unit 

Introduce badger net use guide for trainees 

14.  The Use of CA-125 in Gynaecology 

Development of local guidelines for those raised CA125 and normal 
ultrasound 

Request that GP's put down patient's symptoms on the CA125 
request form or discuss with a pathologist including abdominal/pelvic 
exam findings  

Ensure comprehensive reporting of the RMI to GP'S - breakdown of 
the score 

15.  Management of Pregnancy of 
Unknown Location 

Improve recording of patient background on viewpoint 

Introduce formal PUL management protocol into early pregnancy 
guidelines 

16.  Fetal medicine Invasive Procedures 
2014-15 Re-audit 

Ensure local policy and patient information leaflets reflect the local 
practice 

 

17.  
A Review of Compliance with the local 
guideline on Management of Henoch 
Schonlein Purpura (HSP) 

Produce a parent/carers information leaflet 

18.  Audit of opioids use in Medway Pain 
Clinic 

Start opioid pain clinic focussed on reviewing patients on high doses 
of opioids 

Educational sessions provided to GP on the principle of safe opioids 
prescription 

19.  Emergency Gynaecology Assessment 
Unit - Service Evaluation 

Create a patient information leaflet regarding bleeding in early 
pregnancy to help ED staff reassure patients who are awaiting EPAC 
follow-up 



129

 

 
 

 Audit Title Actions 

20.  Decompensated Liver Disease Care 
Bundle 

Design and implement  a sticker for the liver disease care bundle 

21.  Paediatric fasting in elective day case 
surgery 

Discussed with staff to ensure they are aware of the fasting state of 
children and are well-placed to prompt the offer drinks to children if 
they are concerned that they will exceed fasting guidelines 

Discussed with anaesthetic consultant regarding a prompt to offer last 
children on list a drink at team brief  - this can be added to the WHO 
theatre checklist 

22.  Irradiation of Optic Lens during 
Routine CT Head Examination 

Observation of CT head examinations for a period of one week 

Ensure patients are positioned with neck flexed and head supported 
by a head sponge 

CT gantry should be tilted so the base line touches the superior orbital 
rim 

23.  Medical Management of Miscarriage 
Consider results during counselling and further management 

Support introduction of Manual Vacuum Evacuation (MVA) 

24.  
Re-shaping elective spinal referral 
pathways at Medway Maritime 
Hospital 

Implement triage system in the department 

25.  Homelessness in the Emergency 
Department 

Develop an ED proforma for homeless patients and develop a patient 
information leaflet for homeless patients 

26.  Acute Kidney Injury Improve education regarding fluid balance 

27.  The Green Book The book is awaiting consultant review of algorithms before being 
printed and developed into a smartphone app. 

28.  Labour: A Communication Tool Ensure Labour information and leaflet and aide memoirs are available 

29.  Medical Device/Equipment Training 
Audit 

Ensure Training of Staff with Medical Devices Policy is up to date and 
available to staff 

30.  
IV Magnesium Sulphate use in Adult 
Medicine at Medway Maritime 
Hospital 

Develop guideline on the indications, dosage and administration, 
monitoring and minimum documentation 

31.  Implementing Safe Orthopaedic 
Handover 

Reaffirm teaching on safe handover  

Introduce a  handover poster 

32.  
Consent for Interventional Procedures 

 

Ensure standards are adhered too, education and training 

33.  
Consent audit (Trust-wide) 

 

Update E-Learning  

Ensure all staff know of the availability of Eido information 

All departments to ensure information leaflets are easily available 

34.  
The Stone Audit 

 

Create a renal colic proforma that will be used in ED for the 
management of renal colic 

35.  Renal Colic Formulate and introduce a poster 

36.  Procedural Sedation in the 
Emergency Department 

Introduce a sticker book in the resuscitation CD cupboard, and ensure 
checklist is in checklist folder 

37.  Hand Injury Agree new guidelines 
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 Audit Title Actions 

38.  Quality of Completed Medical 
Clerking Proformas 

Agree amendments to the medical clerking proforma 

39.  Management of epistaxis in 
anticoagulated patients 

Introduce a clerking proforma for patients with Epistaxis to ENT 

40.  Adult trauma call documentation audit 

Educate all stake-holders on importance of trauma booklet 
documentation 

Communicate with CT lead on faster reporting of trauma CTs 

Discuss with the  Radiography lead on the need for a radiographer 
presence/sign-in during trauma calls 

41.  Breast Care Unit: Biopsy & Wire 
Patient Experience Survey 2016 

Reflect on whether local anaesthetic administration techniques can be 
altered in order to reduce pain 

42.  Paediatric Red Card Holder audit Single electronic folder to record details of RCH easily accessible by 
medical nursing staff 

43.  Penguin Assessment Unit Reviews Ensure that all reviews booked on PAU should include: booking 
doctor, reason for the review 

44.  Oral Health Audit Use a simpler plaque scoring system to audit 

Participation in Clinical Research   
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted by 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust in 2016/17 that were recruited during that period to 
participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 11,622.  
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is actively involved in research supported by the National 
Institute for Health Research (NIHR); the annual recruitment targets and actual number of 
patients recruited into the NIHR adopted studies is illustrated as follows. 

 
  

600 720 864 1037 1500 17251439 1019 867

3887
4427

11046

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Patient recruitment to National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) suppported 
research at Medway NHS Foundation Trust

Target
Actual



131

 

 
 

Participation in clinical research demonstrates Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s 
commitment to improving the quality of healthcare we provide to our patients. During 
2016/17 there were a total of 159 research studies conducted at Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust. For the same period Medway NHS Foundation Trust participated in 123 NIHR 
supported studies, including 54 cancer specialty studies.  
The number of studies that Medway NHS Foundation Trust participated in from 1 April 
2011 to 31 March 2017 is illustrated below.  

 

A sample of the research studies that Medway NHS Foundation Trust participated in 
during 2016/17 are explored in more detail in the following table: 
 

Study Name / 
Acronym Rationale 

Catheter Valve Urinary retention is a common problem in men over the age of 60, and is often treated with a 
urethral catheter for a fixed period of time. Patients attend a Trial Without Catheter Clinic at the 
end of their treatment to determine whether they are able to pass urine spontaneously. This 
involves waiting in the clinic for five or more hours after catheter removal, until the patient has 
the urge to pass urine. This trial investigates whether using a catheter valve can reduce the 
waiting times in the Trial Without Catheter Clinic. Patients are asked to close the catheter valve 
3-4 hours before their clinic appointment, thereby filling their bladder. Once their catheter is 
removed they are expected to pass urine much more quickly, eliminating the need to wait in the 
clinic 

CORKA The trial is comparing usual care rehabilitation versus an at home rehabilitation programme 
carried out by Rehabilitation Assistants. The primary objective of the trial is determine if a multi-
component rehabilitation programme improves the outcome of patients who undergo a Knee 
Replacement. 

GALACTIC The study is comparing the use of Obinutuzumab in patients who have recently responded to 
treatment for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL) with the current standard practice, which is to 
receive no treatment. Obinutuzumab is a new generation of monoclonal antibody that is able to 
target CLL cells. 

Treatment with monoclonal antibodies has been shown to be effective at reducing the minimal 
CLL residual disease levels in patients following conventional therapy. As patients with no 
minimal residual disease have a greater survival advantage in comparison to those patients that 
do have minimal residual disease, this trial will look to see if Obinutuzumab will reduce minimal 
residual disease levels and improve patient outcomes.  
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Study Name / 
Acronym Rationale 

HeadPoST How patients are positioned after a stroke differs across the world. For some patients normal 
care would be lying down, and for some it would be sitting up. This study aims to compare the 
different practices used in different countries in order to better identify which components of care 
may benefit individual patients.  

POPPI The Intensive Care unit can be a scary, unusual and unfamiliar environment for someone to be 
in, especially when critically ill. This can cause distress and upset some patients. This study 
looks at providing training to the intensive care team to create a calmer, less stressful 
environment helps reduce the distress and upset some patient’s experience. 

Spree Pre-eclampsia is a medical condition characterised by high blood pressure and the presence of 
protein in the urine of a pregnant woman. It develops in at least 2% of all pregnancies. The 
effects of pre-eclampsia can be serious both for the mother and the baby, especially when the 
disease is severe requiring delivery before 37 weeks’ gestation and there is associated slow 
growth of the baby. This study evaluates the effectiveness of a newly developed method against 
the current standard.  

During 2016/17 the investigators at Medway NHS Foundation Trust published 74 articles; 
examples include: 

• Accuracy of competing risks model in screening for pre-eclampsia by maternal factors 
and biomarkers at 11-13 weeks' gestation 

• Screening for trisomies by cell-free DNA testing of maternal blood: consequences of 
failed result.  

• Femoral implantation and pull through as an adjunct to traditional methods in cardiac 
resynchronization therapy.  

• Gaps and improvement in management of sepsis  

• Thyroid dysfunction in preterm neonates exposed to iodine.  
Conducting research requires commitment from staff and there were approximately 90 
clinical staff participating in research approved by a research ethics committee at Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017. Staff participation in 
research covers 21 clinical specialties as well studies looking into patient experience. The 
distribution of participation across clinical specialties is illustrated as follows:  
 

Number of Studies by Medical Speciality 2016 - 2017 

Cancer 58 

Cardiovascular 5 

Cardiology 2 

Critical Care 6 

Dermatology 2 

Diabetes 4 

Ear Nose and Throat 1 

Fetal Medicine 5 

Gastroenterology 1 

Genitourinary Medicine 1 

Gynaecology 3 

Haematology (non-malignant) 2 

Neonatology 9 
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Number of Studies by Medical Speciality 2016 - 2017 

Neurosciences 6 

Obstetrics 6 

Older People 1 

Orthopaedic 6 

Other* 16 

Paediatrics 6 

Respiratory and Thoracic 5 

Rheumatology 2 

Stroke 4 

Surgery 3 

Urology 2 

Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation (CQUIN) 
A proportion of Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust’s income in 2016/2017 was 
conditional on achieving quality 
improvement and innovation goals agreed 
between Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
and any person or body with whom it 
entered into a contract, agreement or 
arrangement for the provision of relevant 
health services through the 
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 
payment framework.  
At the time of preparation of the report, 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust are in 
negotiation with our commissioners to 
agree the final income that will be 
awarded which is conditional on the extent 
of achievement of quality improvement 
and innovation goals. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 
2016/2017and for the following 12-month 
period are available electronically at 
http://www.medway.nhs.uk/about-the-trust/ 
publications/board-papers/ 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is required 
to register with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) and its current 
registration status is ‘requires 
improvement’. Medway NHS Foundation 

Trust has no conditions on its registration. 
The Care Quality Commission has not 
taken enforcement action against Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust during 2016/17. 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust was 
inspected by the CQC on 29, 30 
November, 5,8,10 and 17 December 
2016. In 2011 and 2012 Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust was identified as a 
mortality outlier for both the hospital 
standardised mortality ratio (HSMR) and 
the summary hospital mortality indicator 
(SHMI). Consequently, Professor Sir 
Bruce Keogh (NHS England National 
Medical Director) carried out a rapid 
responsive review of the trust in May 2013 
and the findings resulted in the trust being 
placed into special measures in July 2013.  
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) then 
undertook two comprehensive inspections 
of Medway Maritime Hospital in April 2014 
and August 2015. The trust was rated 
inadequate overall at both of these 
inspections. In August 2015 the trust was 
rated inadequate overall because of 
concerns relating to patient safety, the 
organisational culture and governance 
throughout the trust. Since this inspection 
the CQC has maintained a heightened 
programme of engagement and 
monitoring of data and concerns raised 
directly with us. The trust had formalised a 



134
  

buddying agreement with Guy’s and St 
Thomas' NHS Trust. The trust was also 
subject to additional scrutiny and support 
from the local clinical commissioning 
groups and NHS Improvement through a 
monthly Quality Oversight Committee 
which monitored the implementation of 
action plans to address the shortcomings 
identified. This inspection was specifically 
designed to test the requirement for the 
continued application of special measures 
at the trust. 
The CQC has now rated Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust as 'Requires 

Improvement' overall. Caring and effective 
and well-led were rated as good whilst 
safe and responsive were rated as 
requires improvement. This is based on an 
aggregation of the ratings for the eight 
core services we inspected. The CQC was 
able to see evidence of positive changes 
taking place across the hospital. However, 
there were still areas that required 
improvements to ensure patients received 
consistently safe care.  
The following diagram represents the 
outcome of our latest CQC report which 
was published in March 2017
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The key findings were as follows: 

Safe:  

• Incident reporting culture had been 
improved. 

• Improvement in the assessment and 
documentation of patient risk had been 
delivered by a planned programme of 
training and enhanced risk assessment 
tools. 

• The trust had ceased to care for 
patients within the emergency 
department corridor as a result of 
transformed ways of working within the 
emergency department. 

• Major improvements had been achieved 
in the management of the estate and 
fire safety. 

• Although staffing levels had significantly 
improved there were still areas 
operating below guidelines, notably in 
maternity and emergency care. 

• The trust was not always meeting 
national specifications for cleanliness. 

• Safeguarding and mandatory training 
targets were not being met consistently 
across the trust for all staff groups. 

Effective:  

• Local audit was now taking place across 
all services. 

• The trust had significantly improved its 
mortality rate and is no longer an outlier 
for the hospital standardised mortality 
rate (HSMR). 

• Staff understanding of mental capacity 
was much improved. 

• Appraisal rates across the trust had 
improved. 

Caring:  

• Maternity and gynaecology were rated 
as outstanding. 

• Our Observations during the inspection 
supported the data and the positive 
feedback received from patients and 
carers. 

• Handover meetings on surgical wards 
were managed in a format that 
compromised patient dignity and 
privacy. 

Responsive:  

• Support to vulnerable patients such as 
those living with dementia and those 
with learning disabilities had been 
significantly improved. 

• Service planning had led to the 
introduction of new pathways and 
services aimed at delivering enhanced 
care for patients. 

• The trust still had a high number of 
patients who experienced mixed sex 
accommodation or were in beds not 
appropriate for their medical specialty. 

• There was evidence of short notice 
surgical cancellations and delays in 
discharge from critical care. 

• The trust was not meeting guidance for 
achieving and reporting referral to 
treatment times. 

• Processes for the management of 
complaints had only recently been 
addressed to ensure the attainment of 
response targets. 

Well led: 

• The executive team was well 
established and performing as a highly 
cohesive unit with a shared vision and 
clarity of purpose. 

• The national staff survey and interviews 
with staff indicated a significantly 
improved organisational culture. 

• Governance arrangements had been 
strengthened and there was a clear line 
of accountability. 

• The strategic and recovery plans were 
well constructed and supported by 
appropriate programme management. 
Furthermore, these plans had been 
clearly translated into local divisional 
and service plans. 

• There was a requirement to further 
develop service level leadership to 
ensure full engagement of the 
workforce. 
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• Strategies for the management of 
equality and diversity were under 
developed. 

• There were services where staff felt 
exhausted and not involved in service 
level decision making. 

The CQC saw several areas of 
outstanding practice including: 

• The neonatal unit improved their breast-
feeding at discharge compliance rates 
from one of the lowest rates in the 
country to the highest.  

• A critical care consultant, nurse 
practitioner, GP lay member and 
physiotherapist led an innovative 
programme to improve patient 
rehabilitation during their ICU admission 
and after discharge. This included a 
training and awareness session for all 
area GPs and a business case to recruit 
a dedicated rehabilitation coordinator. In 
addition, a critical care consultant had 
developed app software to be used on 
digital tablets to help communication 
and rehabilitation led by nurses. The 
consultant was due to present this at a 
critical care nurses rehabilitation group 
to gather feedback and plan a national 
launch. 

• Critical care services had a research 
portfolio that placed them as the highest 
recruiter in Kent. Research projects 
were local, national and international 
and the service had been recognised as 
the best performer of the 24 hospitals 
participating in the national provision of 
psychological support to people in 
intensive care (POPPI) study. Research 
projects for 2016/17 included a study of 
patients over the age of 80 cared for in 
intensive care; a review of end of life 
care practices; a respiratory study and a 
study on abdominal sepsis. 

• The 'Stop Oasis Morbidity Project’ 
(STOMP) project had reduced the 
number of first time mothers suffering 
third degree perineum tears. The project 
had been shortlisted for the Royal 
College of Midwifery Award 2017, 
Johnson’s Award for Excellence. 

• Team Aurelia was a multidisciplinary 
team. Women who were identified in the 
antenatal period as requiring an elective 
caesarean section would be referred to 
team Aurelia. Women were seen by an 
anaesthetist prior to surgery and an 
enhanced recovery process was 
followed to minimise women’s hospital 
stays following surgery. 

• The bereavement suite, Abigail’s Place, 
provided the “gold standard” in the 
provision of care for parents and 
families who experience a still birth. The 
suite created a realistic home 
environment for parents to spend time 
with their child. 

• The frailty and the ambulatory services, 
which required multidisciplinary working 
to ensure the needs of this patient 
group, were met. The individualised 
care and pathway given to patients 
attending with broken hips. The care 
ensured this group of patients’ needs 
were met on entering the department 
until admission to a ward. 

There were a number of areas where 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust was 
advised that it MUST take action by the 
CQC, including: 

• Ensure flooring within services for 
children and young people is intact, in 
accordance with Department of Health’s 
Health Building Note 00-09. 

• Ensure all staff clean their hands at the 
point of care in accordance with the 
WHO 'five moments for hand hygiene'. 

• Review the provision for children in the 
recovery area of theatres and 
Sunderland Day Unit to ensure 
compliance with the Royal College of 
Surgeons, standards for children’s 
surgery. 

• Ensure staff record medicine fridge 
temperatures daily to ensure medicines 
remain safe to use. 

• Ensure compliance with 
recommendations when isolating 
patients with healthcare associated 
infections. 
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• Ensure that all staff have appropriate 
mandatory training, with particular 
reference to adult safeguarding level 
two and children safeguarding level two 
where compliance was below the 
hospital target of 80 per cent. Ensure 
that all staff receive an annual appraisal. 

• Ensure that an appropriate policy is in 
place ensuring that patients transferred 
to the diagnostic imaging department 
from the emergency department are 
accompanied by an appropriate medical 
professional. 

• Ensure the intensive care unit meets the 
minimum staffing requirements of the 
Intensive Care Society, including in the 
provision of a supernumerary nurse in 
charge. 

• Ensure staffing levels in the CCU 
maintain a nurse to patient ratio of 1:2 
at all times. 

• Ensure that consultant cover in the 
emergency department meets the 
minimum requirements of 16 hours per 
day, as established by the Royal 
College of Emergency Medicine. 

• Ensure fire safety is a priority. Although 
the trust has taken steps to make 
improvements we found some areas 
where fire safety and staff 
understanding needed to be improved. 

• The Trust must ensure people using 
services should not have to share 
sleeping accommodation with others of 
the opposite sex. All staff to be trained 
and clear of the regulation regarding 
same sex accommodation. 

• Ensure clinical areas are maintained in 
a clean and hygienic state, and the 
monitoring of cleaning standards falls in 
line with national guidance. Take action 
to ensure emergency equipment 
(including drugs) are appropriately 
checked and maintained. 

 
 
 

The CQC has reported that Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust has made significant 
improvements and is now rated as 
‘requires improvement’, with one area 
described as ‘outstanding’ and many 
others as ‘good’.  
As a result of the improvements, NHS 
Improvement has made the decision to 
remove the Trust from ‘special measures’. 
This is positive, not only for Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust but also for our 
community.  
The report is much improved from those 
received following previous inspections. 
No services are rated as inadequate, and 
many are commended for the changes 
that have been made in the past year.  
Although the Trust is rated as ‘requires 
improvement’, it is rated as ‘good’ for 
being ‘caring’, ‘effective’ and ‘well-led’. 
Medical care services, maternity and 
gynaecology and services for children and 
young people are all rated as ‘good’ as a 
whole, while maternity and gynaecology 
are rated as ‘outstanding’ for ‘caring’.  
Over the last 12 months, Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust has been able to show 
not only the CQC and NHS Improvement, 
but most importantly our patients, their 
families and ourselves that when we work 
together we really can make huge 
improvements to the care that we provide. 
The report not only demonstrates that 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is a safer 
organisation but that we can be 
innovative, with many areas being singled 
out for outstanding practice.  
Medway NHS Foundation Trust has 
already made improvements since the 
CQC last visited in December 2016 and 
our improvement plan sets out a range of 
initiatives to continue this improvement 
and take us from better to best, and onto 
brilliant. 
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“I’m absolutely delighted that Medway 
has exited special measures – and I 
want to pay tribute to the outstanding 
staff there who have always sought to 
put patients first. 
“Their journey hasn’t been an easy one 
– some of the problems at Medway 
were deeply entrenched, and the Trust 
was part of the first group to go into 
special measures – which makes the 
achievement all the greater. I’m 
confident the new leadership team will 
continue to drive improvements, 
engagement and morale at the trust.” 
(Secretary of State, Jeremy Hunt) 
Further details of the way in which 
improvements will be made are available 
electronically at 
http://www.medway.nhs.uk/about-the-trust/ 
publications/board-papers/. 
Reporting to Secondary Uses Service 
(SUS) 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust submitted 
records during 2016/2017 to the 
Secondary Uses Service for inclusion in 
the Hospital Episode Statistics which are 
included in the latest published data. 
The percentage of records in the 
published data which included the 
patient’s valid NHS number was: 

• 98.9 per cent for admitted patient care 

• 99.3 per cent for outpatient care  

• 96.6 per cent for accident and 
emergency care 

The percentage of records in the 
published data which included the 
patient’s valid General Medical Practice 
Code was: 

• 99.6 per cent for admitted patient care 

• 91.8 per cent for outpatient care 

• 99.1 per cent for accident and 
emergency care 

 

 

 

Information Governance Toolkit (IGT) 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s 
Information Governance Assessment 
Report overall score for 2016/2017 was 66 
per cent - a ‘Satisfactory’ rating. 
Information governance ensures that the 
necessary safeguards are in place for the 
protection and appropriate use of patient 
and personal information. The IG toolkit is 
an online system which allows NHS 
organisations to assess themselves 
against information governance policies 
and standards. It also allows members of 
the public to view the summary 
assessments of participating 
organisations. The ultimate aim is to 
demonstrate that the organisation can be 
trusted to maintain the confidentiality and 
security of personal information. 
The score and progress towards 
completion of the IGT is monitored at each 
meeting of the internal Information 
Governance Group, which currently 
reports to the Trust Board every six 
months via a Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) report. 
Clinical Coding 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust was not 
subject to the Payment by Results clinical 
coding audit during 2016/2017. 
Data Quality (DQ) 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust is taking 
the following actions to improve data 
quality: 

• Development of a Business Intelligence 
(BI) Plan and implementation timetable 

• Establishment of two data quality 
groups; one with a strategic focus and 
one user-focused 

• Undertaking audits on several Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) and data 
quality issues, including diagnostic and 
discharge times on the recording 
system 

• Development of data quality reports 
address data quality issues 
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• Redesigned training on data input 
processes relating to our referral to 
treatment (RTT) targets and deliver new 
training sessions 

• Introducing DQ KPIs into the Trust 
Board report which show DQ levels for 
the Trust’s access targets (Cancer, RTT 
and A&E) 

• Ensuring DQ ratings are transparent 
and visible against all KPIs in the Board 
report 

• Revising the outpatients outcome form 
to ensure it is easier to understand for 
data entry staff and consultants 

• Introducing a co-morbidity recording 
form that aids understanding of patient 
illnesses and therby provide an 
improved treatment plan. 

Reporting against core indicators 

Mortality 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust monitors 
mortality rates using two recognised 
national mortality indicators: 
Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio 
(HSMR) 
The Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio 
(HSMR) is a calculation used to monitor 
death rates in a trust. The indicator is 
produced and published nationally by Dr 
Foster Intelligence. 
It is the ratio of the observed number of in-
hospital deaths to the expected number of 
in-hospital deaths (multiplied by 100) for 
56 diagnosis groups (which give rise to 
80% of in-hospital deaths). The national 
benchmark for the HSMR is 100 – 
meaning that the number of expected 
deaths and the number of observed 
deaths are exactly the same. 
Summary Hospital-Level Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) 
 
 
 

The Summary Hospital-Level Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI) reports on mortality at 
trust level across the NHS in England. 
This indicator is produced and published 
quarterly as a National Statistic by NHS 
Digital. 
The SHMI is the ratio between the actual 
number of patients who die following 
hospitalisation at the trust and the number 
that would be expected to die on the basis 
of average England figures, given the 
characteristics of the patients treated 
there. It covers all deaths reported of 
patients who were admitted to non-
specialist acute trusts in England and 
either die while in hospital or within 30 
days of discharge. The expected number 
of deaths is calculated from statistical 
models derived to estimate the risk of 
mortality based on the characteristics of 
the patients (including the condition the 
patient is in hospital for, other underlying 
conditions the patient suffers from, age, 
gender and method of admission to 
hospital). 
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Medway NHS Foundation Trust - Current HSMR Position 
 

Indicator 
January 2016 - 
December 2016 

February 2016 - 
January 2017 

Lower Control 

Limit 

Upper Control 

Limit 
National Benchmark 

HSMR 103.35 103.39 97.72 109.30 100 

 
The Trust has worked hard to reduce the HSMR and this indicator is currently within the 
expected range at 103.39 for the most recent data period. The graph below shows the 
improvements made over the last two years moving from our position as an outlier to 
being within the expected range consistently since December 2015.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust - Current SHMI Position 

Indicator July 2015 – 
June 2016 

October 2015 – 
September 
2016 

Lower 

Control Limit 

Upper 

Control Limit 
National 
Benchmark 

SHMI 1.10 1.09 0.89 1.13 1.00 

 
The SHMI is currently 1.09 for the most recent data period and falls within the expected 
range. This shows a further reduction on previous periods and is the lowest value for the 
Trust in this indicator for over two years. The Trust aimed to be within benchmarked limits 
by the end of 2016/17 and this has now been achieved. The next SHMI value for the 
period January 2016 to December 2016 will be published on 22 June 2017 and the Trust is 
optimistic that it will continue to demonstrate a reduction moving forward. 
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Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons 

• The data is extracted directly from the 
Dr Foster system and NHS Clinical 
Indicator Previewer which are both 
independent, established and 
recognised sources of data nationally 

• There are assurance processes in place 
via sign-off through the Trust wide 
Mortality and Morbidity group which 
oversee, monitor and receive validation 
of the position as and when required 

The Trust has taken the following action, 
to improve these indicators, and so the 
quality of its services: 

• Convening member of the Kent Surrey 
and Sussex Academic Health Science 
Network (KSSAHSN) Mortality 
Community of Practice 

• An established process in place for 
review of any outlying areas on a 
proactive and responsive basis 

• Oversight and monitoring via the Trust 
wide Mortality and Morbidity Group 

 
 
 

The Trust has observed a steady and 
sustained improvement in both our HSMR 
and SHMI over 2016/2017 and we aim to 
sustain and improve upon both the HSMR 
and the SHMI further during 2017/2018. 
Patient Reported Outcome Measures 
PROMs (EQ-5D Index Score) 
PROMs measures health gain in patients 
undergoing hip replacement, knee 
replacement, varicose vein and groin 
hernia surgery in England, based on 
responses to questionnaires before and 
after surgery.  
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is reliant 
on feedback from our patients in relation 
to the results of their surgery. If our 
patients choose not to complete the post-
surgery questionnaire, this can result in 
the recording of low numbers in relation to 
some or all procedures. Where this does 
occur, we are unable to arrive at a 
judgement as to our performance and we 
have therefore marked the performance 
box with an asterisk *. 
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Indicator April 2015 – 
March 2016 

April 16 – 
September 
2016 

National 
Average 

National 
Highest 
Score 

National 
Lowest 
Score 

Performance 

Health Gain Score for 
Groin Hernia Surgery 0.10 Low 

Numbers 0.09 0.16 0.02 * 

Health Gain Score for 
Varicose Vein Surgery Low Numbers Low 

Numbers 0.10 0.15 0.07 * 

Health Gain for Hip 
Replacement Surgery 0.43 Low 

Numbers 0.45 0.53 0.33 * 

Health Gain Score for 
Knee Replacement 
Surgery 

0.30 Low 
Numbers 0.34 0.43 0.26 * 

 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 
The data is extracted directly from the 
NHS Digital which is an established and 
recognised sources of data nationally 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following action, to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, 
by: 

• ensuring that there is a robust, consistent 
and sustainable process in place for 
ensuring that all patients are provided with 
the opportunity to complete the initial 
survey pre-procedure. 

• ensuring that compliance with the above 
process is monitored within the 
appropriate directorates and areas for 
improvement are identified, acted upon 
and tested.

28 Day Readmissions 

Indicator 2015/16 2016/17 National average National Highest Score National Lowest  Score 

The percentage of 
patients aged 0-15 
Readmitted to a 
hospital which forms 
part of the trust within 
28 days of being 
discharged from a 
hospital which forms 
part of the trust during 
the reporting period 
(2016/17). 

10.00% 11.40% 8.25% 13.63% 7.04% 

The percentage of 
patients aged 16 <= 
Readmitted to a 
hospital which forms 
part of the trust within 
28 days of being 
discharged from a 
hospital which forms 
part of the trust during 
the reporting period 
(2016/17). 

9.50% 10.56% 8.15% 12.39% 5.03% 
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Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 

• The data is extracted directly from Dr 
Foster which is an established and 
recognised sources of data nationally 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following action, to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, 
by: 

• Ensuring that all readmissions data is 
validated internally by the Business 
Intelligence Team 

• Ensuring that the data is monitored on a 
monthly basis at both Directorate and 
Trust Level. 

Responsiveness (Patient Friends and 
Family Test) 
 

Indicator 
2015/
16 

2016/
17 

National 
average 

National 
Highest 
Score 

National 
Lowest 
Score 

The trust’s 
responsive-
ness to the 
personal 
needs of its 
patients 
during the 
reporting 
period. 

63.6% 65.4% 70.4% 87.4% 57.8% 

 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 

• The data has been extracted directly 
from the NHS England which is an 
established and recognised sources of 
data nationally 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following action, to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, 
by: 

• Ensuing there is a mechanism in place 
to validate the data locally 

• Ensuring that trends and themes are 
reviewed at a local level and acted upon 

 

Staff Family and Friends Test (FFT) 
 

Indicator 2015/16 2016/17 National 
average 

National 
Highest 
Score 

National 
Lowest 
Score 

The 
percentage 
of staff 
employed 
by, or under 
contract to, 
the trust 
during the 
reporting 
period who 
would 
recommend 
the trust as a 
provider of 
care to their 
family or 
friends. 

55% 58% 63% 59% 56% 

 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 

• The data has been extracted directly 
from NHS England which is an 
established and recognised sources of 
data nationally 

• Note - Staff survey is only available for 
2016/17 quarter one and quarter two. 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following action, to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, 
by: 

• Develop the Health and Wellbeing 
Programme and support staff to ensure 
they take appropriate rest if unwell 

• Strengthen the anti-bullying campaign 
and build on the work started in 2016 

• Launch of National Freedom to Speak 
Up Guardians Programme 
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Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) 

Indicator 2015/16 2016/17 National 
average 

National 
Highest 
Score 

National 
Lowest 
Score 

Patients 
risk 
assessed 
for VTE 
during 
the 
reporting 
period 

96.04% 95.66% 95.63% 96.6% 93.28% 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons:  

• The data has been extracted directly 
from the UNIFY2 which is an 
established and recognised sources of 
data nationally 

• All data is subjected to internal 
validation  

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following action, to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, 
by: 

• Ensuring that the Trust has a dedicated 
VTE nurse lead and associated team in 
place 

• Ensuring that 100 per cent of medical 
notes are reviewed as part of the daily 
audit  

• Introducing reporting at ward and 
consultant level to enable identification 
of areas for improvement and ensuring 
those areas are acted upon 

• Introducing an e-solution to enable real 
time capturing of VTE compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Clostridium  difficile (C.diff) 

Indicator 

April 
2014 
–

March 
2015 

April 
2015 
–

March 
2016 

National 
Average 

National 
Highest  
Score 

National 
Lowest  
Score 

The rate 
per 
100,000 
bed days 
of cases of 
Clostridium 
difficile 
infection 
reported 
within the 
Trust 
amongst 
patients 
aged 2 or 
over during 
the 
reporting 
period 

10 9.6 14.9 66.0 0.0 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons:  

• The data has been extracted directly 
from NHS Digital which is an 
established and recognised sources of 
data nationally 

• All data is subject to a rigorous checking 
process overseen by the Infection 
Control nurse and the testing laboratory 

• Medway NHS Foundation Trust has 
taken the following action, to improve 
this indicator, and so the quality of its 
services, by: 

• Ensuring that all cases of Clostridium 
difficile are correctly captured and that 
the testing is undertaken within national 
guidelines. 
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Patient Safety Incidents (rate per 1000 
bed days) 
The NHS National Reporting System 
(NRLS) was established in 2003. The 
system enables patient safety incident 
reports to be submitted to a national 
database. This data is then analysed to 
identify hazards, risks and opportunities to 
improve the safety of patient care.  
Since the NRLS was established, over 
four million incident reports have been 
submitted by healthcare staff. The NRLS 
is a pioneer and is the most 
comprehensive of its kind in the world. It 
uniquely provides the NHS with a national 
perspective on risks and hazards. This 
information is used to develop tools and  
guidance to help improve patient safety at 
a local level.  
From 1 April 2010 it became mandatory 
for NHS trusts in England to report all 
serious patient safety incidents to the 
Care Quality Commission as part of the 
Care Quality Commission registration 
process. Reports to the NRLS are 
analysed with expert clinical input to 
identify common hazards. 
Recommendations can be made to local 
NHS organisations to mitigate these risks 
and improve the safety of patient care. 
Information from reported incidents helps 
the NHS understand why things go wrong 
and how to stop them happening again.  
Within a local NHS organisation, a serious 
event may be perceived as a one-off. 
Reporting to the NRLS can reveal similar 
incidents in other parts of the NHS and 
can also help identify learning from 
incidents in different organisations.  
The NRLS helps NHS organisations 
understand why, what and how patient 
safety incidents happen, learn from these 
experiences and take action to prevent 
future harm to patients.  
Organisations with a culture of high 
reporting are more likely to have 
developed a strong reporting and learning 
culture. Experience from other industries  

 
 
indicates that as an organisation’s 
reporting culture matures, staff become 
more likely to report incidents. 
The latest information released by the 
NRLS on 23 March 2017 shows that in 
relation to the period from 1 April to 30 
September 2016, the Trust has achieved:  

• An increased reporting rate from 14.77 
to 40.63. The median reporting rate is 
40.02 

• An increase in the number of incidents 
reported from 1,499 to 3,725 – a 148 
per cent increase.  

The following table shows a year-on-year 
comparison of the incident reporting 
indicators, with identical reporting periods 
displayed adjacently.  

Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons: 

• The data has been extracted directly 
from the National Reporting & Learning 
System which is an established and 
recognised sources of data nationally 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following action, to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, 
by: 

• Ensuring monthly review of incident 
reporting rates at both directorate and 
committee level 

Indicator 
October 
15 – 
March 16 

April 16 – 
September 
16 

National 
Average/ 
Median 

National 
Highest 
Score 

National 
Lowest 
Score 

Number/R
ate of 
patient 
safety 
incidents 

No. = 
1,499 

Rate = 
14.77 

No. = 
3,725 

Rate = 
40.63 

Rate = 
40.02 

No. = 
13,485 

Rate = 
71.81 

No. = 
1,485 

Rate = 
21.15 

Number 
reported 
severe 
harm 

No. = 10  

% = 0.7 

No. = 18 

% = 0.5 

No. = 
1,826 

% = 0.3 

No. = 75 

% = 1.4 

No. = 0 

% = 0 

Number 
reported 
death 

No. = 16 

% = 1.1 

No. = 15 

% = 0.4 

No. = 
690 

% = 0.1 

No. = 36 

% = 0.5 

No. = 0 

% = 0 
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• Ensuring there is a robust validation 
process in place for all incidents 

• Ensuring timely upload of all incidents 

• Delivery of a programme of incident 
awareness. 

Serious Incidents and Regulation 28 

During 2016/17, Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust reported 116 serious incidents to the 
Clinical Commissioning Group via STEIS 
(strategic executive information system). 
The distribution of these serious incidents 
across the directorates are as follows:  
Acute and Continuing Care Directorate – 
76, Coordinated Surgical Directorate – 24, 
Women’s and Children’s Directorate – 13 
and Corporate – 3. The serious incidents 
can be broken down into the following 
themes: 
 

Serious Incident  Total 

12 hour trolley breaches 9 

52 week wait breaches 1 

Alleged/actual abuse of child 
by third party 4 

Delayed diagnosis 5 

Delayed treatment 16 

Diagnostic incident including 
delay 2 

Failure to escalate  1 

Hospital Acquired Infection 3 

Information Governance 
incident 4 

Maternal Death 3 

Medication error 2 

Missed diagnosis 4 

Missed fracture/patient fall 1 

Never event  2 

Pressure Ulcer 16 

Safeguarding  1 

Service Disruption 4 

Slips, trips and falls  24 

Suboptimal care of a 
deteriorating patient 15 

Transfusion incident  1 

Unexpected death of baby  2 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust considers 
that this data is as described for the 
following reasons 

• The data has been extracted directly 
from the Strategic Executive Information 
System (STEIS) which is an established 
and recognised sources of data 
nationally 

Medway NHS Foundation Trust has taken 
the following action, to improve this 
indicator, and so the quality of its services, 
by: 

• Development of a learning the lessons 
strategy and associated framework 

• Use of quality improvement 
methodology and SWARM approaches 
to generate solutions and measure the 
success of those solutions 

• Undertake a thematic review of the 
serious incidents; identifying key trends 
and themes and develop quality 
improvement plans 

• Delivery of a year on year reduction in 
harm resulting from incidents 

• Embedding a mechanism to 
demonstrate compliance with the NHS 
England SI framework 

• Ensure there is a programme of patient 
safety seminars across the organisation 

Regulation 28  
The Trust received three Regulation 28 
notices issued by Her Majesty’s Coroner 
(HMC) in 2016/17. The following table 
provides a breakdown of the subject 
matter of the regulation 28 and the 
learning and actions taken by the 
organisation in response. 
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Month 
issued 

Directorate 
Matters of concern raised 
within the regulation 28 

Learning and actions taken 

May 2016 Acute and 
Continuing 
Care  

• There was no Senior 
review by a Consultant 
from admission to the 
time of death and there 
was no locum cover 

• There was no daily 
review of test results 
and no consideration 
given to instances where 
tests had not been 
performed or 
consideration given to 
the reasons why 

• Medical records were 
inconsistent and/or 
incomplete leading to a 
lack of clarity as to 
reviews and care plan 

• The Trust has implemented changes 
to the acute pathway 

• Trigger levels have been introduced 
for the communication of abnormal 
test results to ensure the laboratory 
or radiology staff communicates to 
the wards in a timely manner 

• The Trust has introduced daily 
multidisciplinary board rounds  

• Clinical Record Keeping Audit is an 
area of constant focus in the Trust 
and will continue to be emphasised 
through teaching sessions, audit 
days and whenever a case is 
reviewed 

November 
2016 

Acute and 
Continuing 
Care 

• There were incomplete 
records kept, especially 
in respect of the fluid 
balance chart thereby 
rendering it an 
ineffective diagnostic 
tool  

• The patient was placed 
in the care of a nurse 
who did not understand 
the NEWS scoring 
system, did not apply it 
correctly and failed to 
escalate patient’s 
condition in 
circumstances where 
she ought to have done 
so 

• That the Trust did not 
have in place a 
sufficiently rigorous or 
effective system for 
testing and monitoring 
the training, knowledge, 
understanding and 
compliance of agency 
staff 

• The Trust implemented a new 
nursing shift to shift handover 
process. This new process requires 
nurses to handover patient care at 
the bedside at the beginning of 
every shift and to review nursing 
documentation and observation 
charts, including fluid balance 
charts. This ensures nursing staff 
are providing a ‘check and 
challenge’ and identifying any need 
for escalation.  

• The handover standard operating 
procedure has been revised.  

• Poor documentation including the 
fluid balance chart was discussed 
following the inquest at a Safer 
Patient Care event. 

• The Trust has undertaken a review 
of all nursing documentation with the 
aim of making it easier for nursing 
staff to complete contemporaneous 
records and to provide more 
effective handover of care.  

• The Trust has induction booklets for 
temporary staff; the booklet provides 
information and guidance on key 
policies, procedures and practice, 
including completion of patient 
observations, use of NEWS and 
escalation of patient care concerns. 
All temporary staff are required to 
sign the induction booklet on 
commencement of employment in 
the Trust  

• The Trust has implemented NEWS 
training to substantive and agency 
staff 

• Compliance checks on the 
recruitment and training standards of 
all new agency staff are being 
implemented, sanctions and spot 
checks to be put in place to ensure 
compliance  
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Month 
issued 

Directorate 
Matters of concern raised 
within the regulation 28 

Learning and actions taken 

• The Trust has implemented a 
Deteriorating Patient Programme 
(DPP). This is an improvement 
programme to support the delivery 
of high standards of care for unwell 
and deteriorating patients 

March 2017 Acute and 
Continuing 
Care 

• The patient report form 
completed by the 
attending ambulance 
crew is not routinely 
passed to the MedOCC 
clinician 

• MedOCC clinicians do 
not routinely have 
access to Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust clinical 
records  

• Full response to this regulation is not 
due until 17 May 2017. However, the 
Trust has already put into place a 
red tray booking system to ensure 
there is no delay in scanning. 
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Never Events 

During 2016/17 the Trust declared two 
never events and there has been a 
programme of targeted work to implement 
the improvements required to prevent 
these reoccurring. The reported never 
events occurred within the Co-ordinated 
Surgical Directorate, the table below 
provides the detail of these events 
 

 
Type of 
Never 
Event 

Incident 
Date Specialty 

1. 
Retained 
Foreign 
Object 

August 
2016 Theatre 

2 Wrong site 
surgery 

November 
2016 

Theatre 
Interventional 
Radiography 

In response to these events the Trust has 
recommended the following: 

• Ensure the promotion of WHO Surgical 
Safety with influential membership from 
each interventional procedural/surgical 
area. 

• Develop Terms of Reference to include 
quality improvement tools. 

• Urgently review /revision of current 
checklist and align with National Safety 
Standards for Invasive Procedures 
(NatSIPPS) and implement, train all 
staff on its use and conduct team 
training on its implementation 

• Discussion with procurement to ensure 
standardisation of equipment 

• Ensuring the Checklist for insertion of 
Vascath must accompany the kit once 
procured from ICU, staff to be made 
aware that the Local Safety Standards 
for Invasive Procedures (LocSIPS) must 
be completed on insertion. 

2.4 Other quality information 
Duty of Candour 
Duty of Candour is a statutory requirement 
which means that providers of healthcare 
across England must be open and honest 
with their patients when something that 
goes wrong with their treatment or care 
causes, or has the potential to cause, 
harm or distress. 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust is 
committed to being open and honest with 
patients when things go wrong. The Trust 
has reviewed and made improvements in 
structure, process and accountability to 
improve communication with 
patients/families and carers following a 
moderate or severe harm incident or an 
unexpected death.  
A number of actions to improve 
compliance have been undertaken during 
2016 /17: 

• The duty of candour policy which sets 
out the legal principles of duty of 
candour with the definitions of harm and 
the responsibilities for staff has been 
reviewed and updated 

• The duty of candour Standard 
Operating Procedure (SOP):  the 
purpose of this SOP is to inform staff of 
the procedures to follow when the Duty 
of Candour process applies has been 
reviewed and updated 

• Mandatory duty of candour fields have 
been added to the Datix risk 
management system 

• A duty of candour process and 
expectations awareness programme 
has been developed and a number of 
sessions have already been delivered  

• A duty of candour patient leaflet is 
available on all wards/clinical areas 
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• The duty of candour leaflet has also 
been translated into three most 
commonly used foreign languages as 
recognised to support our patients 
within the Medway area. A translation 
service is available to cover other 
languages as and when required. 

Further improvements are planned 
including: 

• Ensuring that duty of candour is 
monitored consistently via appropriate 
directorate and trust level reports at the 
quality improvement group, the quality 
assurance group and trust board 

• Ensuring all communicated information 
is recorded within the patient notes and 
relevant sections of Datix 

• Recommendations of the national 
quality board in association with 
learning from deaths and being open 
with families are implemented 
consistently throughout the Trust. 

 
National NHS Staff Survey 
The National NHS Staff Survey is a key 
measure of staff engagement. It is also an 
important tool for the organisation to 
understand how staff are feeling and 
where it should focus initiatives for 
improvement. 
Every year the Trust’s results are 
compared against other NHS acute Trusts 
across the UK (as a national average) and 
against the Trust’s own results from the 
previous year. 
The staff survey results are presented in 
the form of two key findings: 

• Percentage scores 

• A scale between one and five (each 
question indicates whether one or five is 
the best score). 

• A weekly email to all staff providing 
topical information. 

Staff survey response rate 
 2015 2016 Differenc

e 

Respons
e Rate  

Trus
t 

Nationa
l 
Averag
e  

Trust Nationa
l 
Averag
e  

A 12.5% 
increase 
on the 
Trust 
response 
rate from 
last year 
and a 
9.6% 
higher 
response 
rate than 
the 
national 
average. 

37% 38% 49.5
% 

39.9% 

Overall staff engagement 

Trust 
Score 
2015 

Trust 
Score 
2106 

Improvement 
National 
Average 

Trust 
compared 
to 
National 
Average 

3.66% 3.76 +0.10 3.81 - 0.05 

 Largest local changes since 2015 
survey 

Key Finding 2015 2016 Difference 

KF27: Percentage of 
staff/colleagues 
reporting most 
recent experience of 
harassment, bullying 
or abuse. 

29% 43% +14% 

KF19: Organisation 
and management 
interest in and action 
on health and 
wellbeing. 

3.34 3.57 +0.23 

KF5: Recognition 
and value of staff by 
managers and the 
organisation. 

3.27 3.43 +0.16 

KF31: Staff 
confidence and 
security in reporting 
unsafe clinical 
practice. 

3.49 3.64 + 0.15 

KF30. Fairness and 
effectiveness of 
procedures for 
reporting errors, 
near misses and 
incidents. 

3.51 3.65 + 0.14 
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Area of most deterioration since 2015 
survey 

Question 2015 2016 Difference 

Staff put 
themselves under 
pressure to come 
to work 

89.8% 92.6% +2.8% 

Top 5 Ranking Scores 

Key Finding 2016 National 
Average Difference 

Quality of 
appraisals 3.25 3.11 + 0.14 

KS29. 
Percentage of 
staff reporting 
errors, near 
misses or 
incidents 
witnessed in the 
last month  

92% 90% + 2% 

KF9 Effective 
team working. 3.79 3.75 + 0.04 

KF17: 
Percentage of 
staff feeling 
unwell due to 
work related 
stress in the last 
12 months 

35% 34% + 1% 

KF2. Staff 
satisfaction with 
the quality of 
work and care 
they are able to 
deliver. 

3.99 3.96 + 0.03 

Bottom 5 Ranking Scores  

Key Finding 2016 National 
Average Difference 

KF18. Percentage 
of staff attending 
work in the last 3 
months despite 
feeling unwell 
because they felt 
pressure from their 
manager, 
colleagues or 
themselves 

63% 56% +7% 

KF23. Percentage 
of staff 
experiencing 
physical violence 
from staff in last 12 
months  

3% 2% +1% 

KF26.Percentage 
of staff 
experiencing 
harassment, 
bullying or abuse 
from staff in last 12 
months  

28% 25% +3% 

KF30. Fairness 
and effectiveness 
of procedures for 
reporting errors, 
near misses and 
incidents. 

3.65 3.72 - 0.07 

 

KF3. Percentage 
of staff agreeing 
that their role 
makes a difference 
to patients / 
service users 

89% 90% - 1% 

NHSI required metrics 

Key Finding 2016 National 
Average Difference 

KF21. Percentage 
believing that the 
trust provides 
equal opportunities 
for career 
progression or 
promotion 

86% 87% -1% 

KF26.Percentage 
of staff 
experiencing 
harassment, 
bullying or abuse 
from staff in last 12 
months  

28% 25% +3% 

 
Improvement Plan 
The outcomes of the 2016 Staff Survey 
have resulted in the Trust developing an 
Improvement Plan for the coming year. 
The Improvement Plan will be driven 
within the Directorates and supported by 
corporate functions. 
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Initial areas of focus will be to: 

• Develop the Health and Wellbeing 
Programme and support staff to ensure 
they take appropriate rest if unwell. 

• Strengthen the anti-bullying campaign 
and build on the work started in 2016. 

• Introduce effective Conflict Resolution 
training for staff and communicate the 
Trust policy on zero tolerance of 
violence. 

• Launch of National Freedom to Speak 
Up Guardians Programme.  

While the these measures represent key 
areas of concern, the Trust will continue 
the work started last year around our 
Values and Behaviours and continue to 
develop our Leadership capability and 
increase the opportunities staff have for 
professional development. 
 
Complaints 

In accordance with the Local Authority 
Social Services and National Health 
Service Complaints (England) Regulations 
2009, this part of the report sets out a 
detailed analysis of the nature and 
number of complaints received by 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust during 
2016/17. 
In summary: 
576 complaints were received by the Trust 
in the year 2016/17, averaging 48 per 
month. This compares with a total of 543 
complaints received in 2015/16, an 
increase of 6 per cent.  
79 complainants returned for ongoing 
resolution as they remained dissatisfied 
with incomplete or factually incorrect 
responses or required a meeting with 
clinicians. During quarter three, additional 
resourcing was brought in to help the 
clinical directorates address the backlog of 
complaints that had built up. 
 
 

Many changes have been made to 
complaints management during this 
financial year and as we close the year 
the directorates have taken full 
responsibility for investigating and 
responding to their complaints. 
Number of formal complaints logged in 
the Trust in 2016/17 vs previous years 

Number of formal complaints logged 
by directorate by quarter  

Key;  

ACC – Acute and Continuing Care 

CS  - Co-ordinated Surgical 

W&C – Women and Children 

F&E – Estates and Facilities 

Subject of complaints (KO41)  
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Grading of complaints by directorate 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaints as a percentage of activity 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Top three themes of complaints 

The majority of the complaints received 
into the Trust related to clinical care and 
treatment. These are further broken down 
into medical care and treatment and 
nursing care. During the year the Trust 
received 235 complaints relating to care 
and treatment and nursing care. 
These complaints are further analysed 
and broken down into categories. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The nursing care complaints relate to 
themes including; general poor care, lack 
of assistance with hygiene needs, 
continence care and food and drinks. 

Admission and discharge 

During the year the Trust received 60 
complaints relating to admission and 
discharge.  

Out-patient appointment delays or 
cancellation 

During the year the Trust received 9 
complaints relating to out-patient 
appointment delays and cancellations. 
Broken down by directorate, Acute and 
Continuing Care received 4, Coordinated 
Surgery received 5 and Women and 
Children received none. 

Performance of monthly complaints 
management 

Percentage of complaints 
acknowledged within three working 
days 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Percentage of complaints responded to 
within 30 working days 
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Percentage of complaints responded to 
within 30 working days by directorate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of complaints closed by 
directorate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Outcome of complaints 

When a complaint is closed, an outcome 
code is assigned to it which can either be 
upheld (where many things have gone 
wrong including the main subject that 
triggered the complaint); partly upheld 
(when one or a few things have gone 
wrong but the main subject that triggered 
the complaint is unfounded or not upheld); 
or not upheld (when the complainant’s 
point of view is acknowledged but the 
investigation process has not found a 
problem with the episode of care). 
The graph below demonstrates the 
outcomes by directorate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Number of complainants who returned 
for ongoing resolution by directorate 

Sometimes it is necessary for resolution to 
be an ongoing process in order to fully 
respond to the concerns raised by the 
complainant. This can include resolution 
meetings and/or further written 
correspondence. 
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Case studies and learning from a poor 
experience 

Case study 1 

A complaint was made which described 
the lack of structured care offered to 
women who are between 15 and 18 
weeks of pregnancy.  
This concern was addressed by 
reassuring the patient that a new pathway 
was being prepared for women who are 
pregnant between 14 and 18 weeks, 
ensuring that they are seen in the Fetal 
Medicine Assessment Unit. 

Case study 2 

A complaint was made which described an 
incorrect diagnosis of food poisoning or 
gastroenteritis with the patient being 
discharged home without the appropriate 
care and subsequently being re-admitted 
to hospital.  
The Trust acknowledged that the 
discharge was incorrect and an apology 
was given to the patient. Additional 
training was provided to the junior doctor 
along with support from the clinical lead. 

Case study 3 

Concerns were made with regard to a 
delay in providing a patient’s mammogram 
results. The Trust apologised for a delay in 
issuing the results and a telephone clinic 
has been set up for patients who require 
their test results.  

Complaints to the Parliamentary and 
Health Service Ombudsman 

Complainants are able to refer their 
complaint to the Ombudsman if they 
remain dissatisfied and the complaints 
process is exhausted at local level.  
The Ombudsman has seen an increase in 
the number of complaints received about 
acute trusts in 2016. The Ombudsman has 
revised the way complaints are handled 
and now has a system of an initial check, 
assessment stage and investigation stage. 

In 2016/17 the Ombudsman requested 12 
files for investigation. During this year 11 
cases were closed, five cases were 
upheld, six were partly upheld. Payments 
for financial remedy ranged from £200 to 
£5,000 and totalled £6,200. Some of the 
Ombudsman’s failings and 
recommendations include: 

Case 1 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 
together with a financial remedy 

• Lack of risk assessment for an unwell 
patient attending breast clinic 

• Lack of support and care whilst waiting 
for the clinic appointment 

Case 2 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 
together with a financial remedy 

• Delay with arranging a breast biopsy 
and ultrasound scan 

• Delay with arranging an outpatient 
appointment 

Case 3 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 

• Lack of information regarding referral to 
the wound care clinic 

• Lack of documentation regarding 
removal of a cannula 

• Lack of documentation regarding the 
length of time the patient had been 
fasting. 

Case 4 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 
together with a financial remedy 

• Failure to gain consent to proceed with 
internal examination and failure to 
provide analgesia or anaesthetic before 
the examination. 

 



156  

Case 5 

• An apology to acknowledge the failings 

• Lack of consistency in completing 
pressure/wound documents 

• Omission of a medication 

• Incomplete food diaries.  

The number of complaints referred to 
the Ombudsman 2016/17 compared 
with previous years 

 
 

 

The number of ombudsman cases by 
directorate: 
 
 
 

The number of ombudsman cases by 
directorate 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Summary 

In 2017/18 the Trust will continue to 
embed the new decentralised complaints 

management processes with the clinical 
directorates focusing on responding to 
complainants in a timely manner and 
providing remedy when it is possible to do 
so.  
The statements of expectations outlined in 
the user-led vision for raising concerns 
and complaints in health and social care 
developed by the Ombudsman, 
Healthwatch England and the Local 
Government Ombudsman will provide 
essential guidance on complaints 
management going forward. 

Looking ahead 

The directorates will work towards 
meeting the Trust’s target for investigating, 
responding to and closing each complaint 
within 30 working days. 
Datix Web - a bespoke complaint 
management system will be introduced 
early in 2017/18 following training for key 
stakeholders across the Trust. This new 
system will assist the directorates in 
managing their complaints more 
effectively as well as providing enhanced 
performance reporting to ensure effective 
oversight. 
A programme of training in investigating 
and responding to complaints commenced 
in February 2017 and will be extended 
throughout the year. 
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The Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) at Medway NHS Foundation Trust offer 
confidential advice, support and information on health-related matters. They provide a 
point of contact for patients, families and carers. 
PALS logged 3876 contacts in 2016/17, in comparison to 4,083 in 2015/16. 
In order to ensure we provide a fully accessible service, there are a number of methods by 
which patients, families and carers can contact PALS and preferred methods of contact 
are detailed below. Despite a year on year reduction in contact via telephone, it remains by 
far the most popular option for making contact. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 
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Top 5 themes by year 
Our top five themes for 2016/17 are outpatient appointments, admission to hospital, 
clinical care, test results and discharge. The following diagram shows the number of 
contacts PALS have received in respect of each of the top five themes. Communication 
and contact difficulties was a top five theme in 2015/16 but does not feature in 2016/17. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PALS contact by Directorate 

PALS provides extensive support for our clinical directorates and addresses a number of 
queries over the course of each financial year. The year on year number of contacts 
received by clinical directorate is illustrated as per the following diagram. 
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Improvements 

Using the feedback from our patients, 
families and carers are an important way 
by which to make improvements that 
benefit our whole community. Examples of 
improvements made include: 

• ICU – patients complained of being 
unable to sleep due to bright lights. Unit 
can now offer patients sleep masks. 

• Phones going unanswered. Any 
member of staff or management can 
request “Voicemail to Email” so they are 
alerted to messages. 

• Our most used Patient Information 
leaflets now available in Slovak, 
Russian and Polish following concerns 
from patients of these nationalities 

• Signposting around hospital – increased 
use of volunteer floorwalkers to direct 
patients 

• Lack of wheelchairs – now dedicated 
“front of house” porter to collected 
wheelchairs abandoned around the 
hospital to ensure availability 

• Chaplain now has volunteers come in 
on a Sunday to assist patients who 
were otherwise unable to attend 
religious services 
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 Whilst keen to acknowledge dissatisfaction where it exists, and to report and act upon that 
feedback promptly and appropriately, the Trust and its dedicated staff are also motivated 
and heartened by the constant stream of positive feedback we regularly receive. Here is 
just a small selection from the last 12 months. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Infertility Clinic is outstanding! I 
was given the opportunity to make 
decisions toward my health which I 

have never been offered before 
and was seen quickly throughout 

the year. 

Not only are these people carrying 
out their roles with skill, 

thoroughness and dedication but 
they all showed awareness of my 

humanity. 

Had to attend Sunderland Day 
Centre for a urology procedure. 

The care and dignity given to me 
was second to none. All the nurses 
and doctors were fantastic. Didn’t 

help, me being a very nervous 
patient. So thanks to all in the day 

centre for all your help and 
understanding. 

My nan was on the Bronte Ward 
up until yesterday when she 

passed away. They gave my nan 
the dignity and respect she 

deserved. The care was 
fantastic, couldn’t fault it at all. 

Amazing staff! The staff here 
made a heart-breaking 

experience bearable. I was 
treated with respect at all times; 

all staff were so polite, and 
showed compassion. I was so 
nervous having the procedure 

done, but was put at ease. I 
couldn’t praise them more. 

Great spotting of cancerous 
melanoma. If it wasn’t for the 
fact that the doctor was very 
diligent and professional, my 

body could be riddled with 
cancer. So I have nothing but 

praise for the Dermatology 
Department at MMH. 

I was a patient at the Cardiac 
Catheter Suite for cardioversion 

today. I was feeling a bit 
nervous, but from when I was 

admitted to when I was 
discharged, I was treated so 
well. All the procedures were 
explained clearly, any worries 

alleviated and I was treated with 
the utmost respect. 

After being taken to the 
hospital, I was diagnosed with 
an acute aortic aneurysm. The 
level of care and information 
given to me was excellent. 

Within hours of arrival I was 
given life-saving surgery. The 

consultant and their team were 
brilliant – not forgetting the 

standard of excellence shown in 
ICU and Phoenix Ward. 

I came in as a day patient for an 
operation. The hospital was 

clean and the staff I met were 
brilliant. From entering the Pre-
Operative Care Unit to leaving 
the Surgical Discharge Unit, 
everyone made my visit as 

pleasant as possible. 
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Part 3: Other information 
Achievement against Quality Improvement Priorities for 2016/17 

This section of the report outlines the results of this and the Trust’s progress against 
priorities set out in last year’s Quality Account. 
The priorities have been closely monitored throughout the year and the table below shows 
the progress made, broken down by area, and whether the set target was met. The table 
also sets out what actions have been taken to achieve the target and what activities are 
on-going. 
 

Category Priority Description Baseline Current Performance 

Patient Safety 

1a: Meeting 
national access 
targets as set 
out in the South 
Eastern 
Tripartite 
expectations for 
improvement 

Accident & 
Emergency 

Improve the % of 
patients seen within four 
hours of arrival 

84.79% 
(2015/16) 

78.34% 

(2016-17) 
Partially Achieved 

Referral To 
Treatment (RTT) 

Improve the RTT for  
patients N/A N/A 

Partially Achieved 
– reporting 
commenced Nov 
2016 

62 Day Cancer 

Improve the % of 
Patients starting 
treatment within 62 days 
of receipt of urgent 
referral with suspicion of 
cancer. 

78.98% 

(Mar 2016) 
82.95% Partially Achieved 

Diagnostic 6 week 
waiting times 

Improve the delivery of 
Diagnostic 6 week 
waiting times, as this is 
vital in meeting the RTT 
waiting times 

88.85% 

(Mar 2016) 
96.03% Partially Achieved 

1b: Continue to 
improve 
mortality rates 
in septicaemia  

Continue with the 
improvement 
ensuring all 
patients are 
provided with the 
correct diagnosis 
and treatment for 
infections 

To be within 
benchmarked limits by 
March 2017 

SHMI 115 

(as at Dec 
2015) 

109 Achieved 

Reduction on March 
2015 baseline to =< 100 

HSMR 106 

(as at March 
2015) 

102 Achieved 

1c: Learning 
from Serious 
Incidents 

Increase the 
number of 
Learning Events 
both at Trust and 
Directorate level 

N/A 
20% SI relate to 
deteriorating 
patient 

N/A Partially Achieved 
Reduction of 
serious incidents 
relating to 
deteriorating 
patient 
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Emergency Department (ED) 
For 2016/17, 78.34 per cent of patients 
were diagnosed, treated and discharged 
or admitted from the ED within four hours 
of arrival. This fell short of the national 
target of 95 per cent, and of our local 
trajectory. Although the vast majority of 
trusts in England have not achieved the 
national target, we had expected to have 
maintained our trajectory. 
The Trust is consistently the top 
performer in the region for ambulance 
hand-overs and has been cited as an 
exemplar by the South East Coast 
Ambulance Service 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
The national Referral to Treatment Target 
(RTT) was suspended in 2015/16 in 
agreement with the regulators following 
concerns regarding data quality. A 
process to undertake an extensive 
validation of the total waiting lists was 
started and completed. Following on from 
this a process was put in place to 
continually validate the waiting list to 
ensure that the data remains accurate. 
Following the validation exercise the 
Trust consulted the regulators to seek 
permission to return to reporting. After 
approval from the Trust board and the 
regulators Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust returned to RTT reporting in 
November 2016. 
Given that the Trust was not reporting 
RTT data for a proportion of the year 
2016/17, performance data is not 
available 
2016/17 Cancer Waiting Times 
Performance 

Though the overall position is improving, 
the Trust has been unable to consistently 
meet compliance with all the standards 
for a variety of reasons, most notably the 
two week wait GP referral (which was 
adversely affected due to Consultant 
vacancies in Dermatology) and the 62-
day treatment standard. The two week 
wait symptomatic breast standard  
 
 

 
was in fact met consistently from 
September 2016 and the 31-day 
subsequent treatment standards were 
achieved for the majority of months. 
Learning from Serious Incidents 

Responding appropriately when things go 
wrong in healthcare is a key part of the 
way that the NHS can continually improve 
the safety of the services we provide to 
our patients. It is therefore obligatory to 
continually strive to reduce the 
occurrence of avoidable harm 
Develop learning the lessons strategy 
and associated framework  

• Continue to work with Directorates in 
relation to learning from serious 
incidents 

• Patient safety improvements include 
better systems for recognising and 
responding to patients whose condition 
has deteriorated, improved governance 
processes and better shared learning 
from safety incidents 

• The trust had employed a number of 
communications methods to enhance 
opportunities for learning from 
incidents. As a result staff were largely 
clear about the actions arising from 
incidents. 

 
Category Priority Description Base-

line 
Current Performan

ce 
Patient Experience 

‘End of 
Life 
Care’ 

Improve
ment in 
end of 
life care 
manage
ment 

100% 
achievem
ent 
against 
action 
plan 

- 100% Partially 
Achieved 

Friends 
and 
Family 
Test 

Improve 
the ED 
Friends 
and 
Family 
Test 
response  

85% or 
above by 
March 
2017 

80.4
% 

(Mar 
2015) 

79.34
% 

Partially 
Achieved 

Mental 
Capacity 
Act 
(MCA) 
and 
Deprivati
on of 
Liberty 
Safeguar
ds 
(DoLS) 

Improve 
the MCA 
and 
DoLS 
assessm
ent 

100% of 
actions in 
improvem
ent plan 
completed 
by March 
2017 

- - Achieved 
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End of Life Care (EoLC) 
The EoLC Team has achieved 
improvement in the service but have not 
met 100% against the action plan. The 
CQC recent inspection and report, 
deemed EoLC in the trust as requiring 
improvement, however significant 
improvement had been seen. We were 
rated Green in Caring, Safe and Effective 
and amber in Well-led and Responsive as 
the new structures had not been 
established long enough to show if they 
were sustainable. 
The implementation of the five priorities 
for care of the dying person was 
commenced in October 2016. This 
changes the way in which EoLC is 
planned. This is a fully individualised care 
plan that involves not only the dying 
person but those they class as being 
important to them in the planning of any 
care that may happen. 

Mental Capacity Act (MCA) and 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) 
Following the recruitment of the adult 
safeguarding team  

• The process for requesting 
authorisation to deprive patients of their 
liberty was initiated 

• Policies and SOPs were put in place to 
inform staff of the correct processes. 
This process is now centralised 
through the development of a generic 
Safeguarding email address for all 
referrals 

• Data is collated and monitored for 
reporting purposes and quality. This is 
followed up daily by the administrator 
with wards for changes in the patient’s 
status and liaison with external 
agencies as appropriate 

• An audit was undertaken in January 
2017 to review MCA and DOLS 
compliance. 91 per cent of relevant 
medical records demonstrated 
evidence of a formal mental capacity 
assessment. Overall compliance 
across the Trust was assessed as 
good. 

• The MCA paperwork has been 
simplified in addition with Best Interest 
documentation. 
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Friends and Family Test 
Friends and Family Test results are monitored at ward and specialty quality and safety 
meetings with exceptions being reported to Directorate Governance and Quality 
Committee and Directorate Programme Boards.  

 

 
 
 

Category Priority Description Baseline Current Performance 

Clinical Effectiveness  

Non Elective 
Length of Stay 
(NELOS) 

Reduce the Non 
Elective Length of 
Stay (NELOS) for 
patients over 65yr 

Reduction on 2016/17 
whole year average of 
10.07% 

9.36 days 

(Mar 2016) 
8.8 days Achieved 

Non-elective 
readmissions 
within 28 days 

Reduce the Non-
elective 
readmissions 
within 28 days 

Reduction on 2016/17 
whole year average of 
11.99% 

10.25% 

(Mar 2016) 
13.35% Partially Achieved 

In-hospital cardiac 
arrests 

Reduce the 
number of in-
hospital cardiac 
arrests  

10% reduction on April 
2016 baseline  

15 per month 11 per month Achieved 
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Annex 1:  
 
Statements from commissioners, 
local Healthwatch organisations 
and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees  
 
Statement from Medway and 
Swale Clinical Commissioning 
Groups 
 
Statement from Medway Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
NHS Medway Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) welcomes the 2016/17 draft 
quality account and confirms that the 
performance related figures have been 
reviewed along with the narrative 
supplied. Medway CCG has asked for 
some further clarification in relation to 
serious incident data, but concurs that all 
other data is a true reflection of the 
progress made and is in line with national 
reporting requirements.  
Medway CCG acknowledge the progress 
made by the trust against 2016/17 quality 
measures and the quality improvement 
impacts that this has had on patient’s 
clinical outcomes; Medway CCG supports 
the narrative that further work is needed 
in order to meet national targets to 
improve patient outcomes. The CCG 
commends the Trust in their 
achievements that have led to their 
improvement to move out of ‘special 
measures’ to ‘requires improvement’, and 
applauds the efforts made by individuals 
and teams throughout the Trust. The 
CCG recognises the achievements made 
in maternity services and would welcome 
any transfer of learning to support quality 
improvements across directorates. 
The CCG welcomes the priority areas for 
improvement for 2017/18, and endorses 
the progress of workstreams from 
2016/17 to further embed achievements 
to date. Of particular interest is the 
learning strategy and associated  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
framework and the CCG welcomes the 
ongoing work in relation to improving the 
reporting, learning and management of 
serious incidents; the CCG are keen to 
see the output of the learning strategy 
programme and the roll out across 
directorates.  
The CCG would have welcomed detail of 
the Trusts plans to advance 
communication with partners following 
discharge, with detail in relation to the 
Trusts plans to improve their electronic 
discharge notifications. The CCG would 
also have welcomed detail in relation to 
the Trust’s future planning with regard to 
Mixed Sex Accommodation. 
Medway CCG recognises the 
improvements in staff survey results and 
welcomes the improvement plan within 
directorates to further strengthen the 
work already commenced in relation to 
values and behaviour across the Trust; 
with support for driving forward the vision 
of Best of care Best of People.  
Medway CCG is committed to working in 
collaboration with Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust in order to progress 
their improvement journey with pace to 
ensure continued improvements in 
healthcare delivery for the local 
population. 
 
Sarah Vaux  
Chief Nurse, Medway Clinical 
Commissioning Group 



166
  

Statement from Governors 
 
Lead Governor’s Submission on the 
Quality Account Report for 2016-17 of 
the Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
The Quality Account Report 2016-17 
demonstrates the significant 
achievements the Trust has made over 
the last year, for continued improvement 
The Board will focus on the important 
issues contained within the realms of 
patient safety, patient experience and 
Trust effectiveness for 2017-18.  
The Trust’s improved rating by the CQC 
is welcomed, and the removal of special 
measures was good news demonstrating 
confidence in the improved safety and 
quality of care. However, it is 
acknowledged that there is more work to 
do. 
It is disappointing to read in the CQC safe 
domain that some national standards 
have not been met, such as those for 
cleanliness and for mandatory training. 
Similarly, the reasons for cancellations for 
surgery at short notice and long Referral 
to Treatment delays need to be 
examined. This is so frustrating for 
patients. The Trust are aware that equal 
attention must be paid to basics of patient 
care, as in hand hygiene and drugs 
management and they are determined to 
improve practice to reach beyond the 
national standards. The mortality rates 
are now within acceptable boundaries, 
and we must be alert to ensure the 
figures do not creep up gradually and 
seek effective actions. It is right that the 
Trust report emphasises the 
improvements made to the care of the 
deteriorating patient.  
Within the report, it has been 
acknowledged that some aspects of the 
Clinical Audits had not gained assurance 
at the time of writing. Of the 36 audits, 14 
are not yet assured. Most important of 
these are the audits for bowel cancer, 
angioplasty and elective surgery. We look 
forward to the outcome of these audits. 

In my conversations with members of the 
public, it is heartening that many patients 
and their relatives have told of the 
remarkable changes they have 
experienced in the hospital in recent 
years. They are fulsome in their praise of 
the care and attention they have received 
from ALL staff. People appreciate the 
differences the medical model has made 
to the Emergency Department and look 
forward to the opening of the new 
building. Patients comment on the expert 
support they receive in their recovery on 
the wards and the benefits of “Home 
First”. 
The Governors have enjoyed working in 
the wards, assisting ward managers to 
complete the “Perfect Ward” app over this 
year and would like to become more 
involved within the hospital as working 
partners, where appropriate. We aim to 
increase the membership of the hospital 
trust to over 11,000 this year. We have 
held coffee mornings in Medway, 
Sittingbourne and Sheppey to meet 
members and patients and discuss their 
concerns and suggestions for 
improvement. We have made contact 
with the Medway Youth Parliament and 
brought younger voices into the mix. At 
the other end of the age spectrum, we 
have joined with the Kent Active 
Retirement Association and met up with 
the older, but still active generation to 
gather their views on progress in the 
Trust. We have also become more 
involved with the local ethnic 
communities to help allay the fears of 
patients coming into hospital. We hope 
that these contacts will prove useful in 
smoothing the progress of the 
Sustainability and Transformation 
Partnership when it comes into force later 
this year. 
The residents of Medway and Swale are 
proud of their hospital, delighted to know 
it is removed from “special measures” 
and keen to commend the good and 
outstanding practices which take place in 
the Medway NHS Foundation Trust. 
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Response to Medway Foundation 
Trust (MFT) Quality Account on behalf 
of Medway Council’s Health and Adult 
Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  
Senior representatives of Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust (MFT) and Medway 
Clinical Commissioning Group have 
continued to regularly attend Committee 
meetings during 2016/17 to discuss the 
challenges facing the Trust.  
The Committee received an update from 
the MFT Chief Executive in June 2016. 
Members felt that progress had been 
made on the Trust’s recovery 
programme, while acknowledging that 
further improvements were still needed. 
In relation to the Trust’s budget deficit of 
£52.5m in 2015/16, it was acknowledged 
that the reliance on agency staff needed 
to be reduced.  
The MFT Chief Executive presented a 
further update to the Committee in 
November 2016, advising that a further 
inspection of MFT was due to take place 
that month. Further progress had been 
made on implementation of a new 
Medical Model, which was helping to 
reduce waiting times, although it was 
acknowledged that previous attempts to 
improve quality had not always had the 
desired impact.  
The Chief Executive advised that 
significant improvements had been 
realised and MFT was confident that this 
would enable the Trust to come out of 
special measures, which it had been 
operating under for the previous three 
and a half years. It was anticipated that 
the Trust would receive a ‘Requires 
Improvement’ rating in the forthcoming 
inspection. It was considered that some 
of the services provided by the Trust, 
including neo-natal and children’s 
services, were already good. The Chief 
Executive had confidence in both the 
management and clinical leadership of 
the Trust to continue the improvement 
journey.  

Mortality rates were now in line with 
national averages, with key lessons 
having been learned from previous 
patient deaths. Waiting times for cancer 
patients were also being normalised. 
Other positive changes made had 
included ensuring that complaint logs 
were being reviewed systemically to 
identify lessons to be learned, increasing 
engagement with the community, making 
the hospital cleaner and the introduction 
of a smoke free policy across the whole 
hospital site (since implemented). Patient 
satisfaction had improved with 85.2% of 
patients now recommending the hospital, 
while nurse vacancy rates in the 
Emergency Department had improved 
significantly, from 65% in November 2015 
to 23% in September 2016. These had 
since reduced to 17%. The hospital was 
now the best performing in the region 
with regard to ambulance handovers.  
Concerns highlighted included the budget 
deficit of £52 million and that MFT was 
very concerned about the impact that 
winter could have on service provision 
and whether these could be managed 
effectively. Feedback from staff surveys 
had identified the existence of a bullying 
culture, which the Trust was determined 
to address. There was a determination for 
MFT to stabilise its financial position with 
the hospital’s recovery plan focusing on 
delivering greater efficiency and cost 
reduction, while not compromising on 
patient safety and quality.  
Committee Members recognised that the 
hospital had made significant progress, 
while acknowledging that there was still 
more work to be done.  
At its March 2017 meeting, the 
Committee was briefed on the findings of 
the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) 
inspection of the Trust, the findings of 
which were due to be published the next 
day.  
The Committee was reminded that the 
Trust had been placed in special 
measures in July 2013 due to concerns 
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with regard to the safety and 
appropriateness of care being provided at 
Medway Maritime Hospital. The Trust had 
been in special measures for 41 months, 
the longest period of any hospital trust in 
the country.  
The latest inspection undertaken had 
acknowledged major improvements at the 
Trust, including sustained improvement in 
mortality rates and improved care in the 
emergency department. The care and 
compassion of staff had also been 
recognised. Areas highlighted as 
outstanding included women and 
children’s services and research. The 
hospital was also proud of achievements 
made with regard to its fractured hip 
pathway.  
The inspection had identified 13 ‘must 
dos’ for the hospital to address, 
compared to the 46 identified in August 
2016. Overall ratings included good for 
caring, good for being effective and good 
for being well led. Maternity and 
gynaecology were rated as outstanding 
for caring, with no services having been 
rated as inadequate.  
An overall rating of requires improvement 
had been given, with the 
recommendation to National Health 
Service Improvement being that the 
hospital exited special measures. It was 
not recommended that the hospital be 
placed in financial special measures as 
the hospital was on course to deliver the 
deficit target it had agreed to for the 
current year.  
It was recognised that the hospital still 
faced challenges, particularly in relation 
to workforce, emergency department 
waiting times, access to elective surgery 
and cancer treatment, with it being noted 
that the CQC was due to return for a 
limited inspection in six months time.  

General Comments  

• The Committee is very pleased that 
MFT has received significantly 
improved inspection ratings, has exited 
special measures and that 
improvements have been made to 
patient safety and mortality rates, 
which are now in line with national 
averages.  

• The Committee wishes to place on 
record its thanks to the Chief Executive 
of the Trust and hospital staff for the 
work undertaken to achieve this 
improvement. It is also recognised that 
the hospital is on an improvement 
journey and that improvements made 
so far need to be sustained and 
embedded, particularly as the Trust’s 
overall rating remains as inadequate.  

• The Committee considers that the 
dialogue between it and 
representatives from the Trust has 
been particularly constructive. The 
Committee looks forward to continuing 
to provide challenge and to seek 
assurance that the Action Plan and 
measures being put in place by the 
Trust, Commissioners and other 
partners will make the impact required 
to ensure that the highest quality of 
care possible is provided to patients. 
The Committee also relies on 
Healthwatch Medway, which is a non-
voting committee member, to feed back 
patient views and experiences.  

 
Councillor David Wildey, Chairman of 
Medway Health and Adult Social Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 2016-
17  
This response to the Quality Account has 
been submitted by officers, in 
consultation with the Committee 
Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Opposition 
Spokesperson, under delegation from the 
Medway Health and Adult Social Care 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
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Statement of adjustment 
following receipt of written 
statements required by section 
5(1) (d) of the National Health 
Service (Quality Account) 
Regulations 2010 
 

• The 28 day re-admission data has 
been updated to reflect the national 
highest and lowest scores 

• The Serious Incidents data has been 
updated to reflect the end of year 
position 
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Annex 2: Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities for the quality 
report  
 
The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National Health 
Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations to 
prepare Quality Accounts for each 
financial year.  
 
NHS Improvement has issued guidance 
to NHS foundation trust boards on the 
form and content of annual quality reports 
(which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the arrangements 
that NHS foundation trust boards should 
put in place to support the data quality for 
the preparation of the quality report.  
 
In preparing the Quality Report, directors 
are required to take steps to satisfy 
themselves that:  
 

• the content of the Quality Report meets 
the requirements set out in the NHS 
foundation trust annual reporting 
manual 2016/17 and supporting 
guidance  

• the content of the Quality Report is not 
inconsistent with internal and external 
sources of information including:  

• board minutes and papers for the 
period April 2016 to March 2017 

• papers relating to quality reported to 
the board over the period April 2016 to 
March 2017 

• feedback from commissioners dated 
26/5/2017 

• feedback from governors dated 
26/5/2017 

• feedback from Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee dated 26/5/2017  

• the trust’s complaints report published 
under regulation 18 of the Local 
Authority Social Services and NHS 
Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 
1/6/2017 

 
 

 
 
 

• the national staff survey 07/03/2017  

• the Head of Internal Audit’s annual 
opinion of the trust’s control 
environment dated 19/5/2017  

• CQC inspection report dated 
17/03/2017 

• the Quality Report presents a balanced 
picture of the NHS foundation trust’s 
performance over the period covered  

• the performance information reported 
in the Quality Report is reliable and 
accurate  

• there are proper internal controls over 
the collection and reporting of the 
measures of performance included in 
the Quality Report, and these controls 
are subject to review to confirm that 
they are working effectively in practice 

• as the trust is currently not reporting 
performance against the indicator 
percentage of incomplete pathways 
within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways at the end of the 
reporting period due to the absence of 
a complete data set for the financial 
year 2106/17. Full reporting will be in 
place from the end of the financial year 
2017/18. 

• an external audit was undertaken by 
Deloitte on the Accident and 
Emergency four hour waiting time and 
62 day cancer waiting time indicators 
and issues were noted within the data 
leading to a qualified conclusion. The 
Trust is taking steps to address the 
data quality issues. 

• the data underpinning the measures of 
performance reported in the Quality 
Report is robust and reliable, conforms 
to specified data quality standards and 
prescribed definitions, is subject to 
appropriate scrutiny and review and  
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• the Quality Report has been prepared 
in accordance with NHS Improvement’s 
annual reporting manual and 
supporting guidance (which 
incorporates the Quality Accounts 
regulations) as well as the standards to 
support data quality for the preparation 
of the Quality Report.  

The directors confirm to the best of their 
knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing 
the Quality Report.  
 
By order of the board  
 
 
 
30 May 2017  
Stephen Clark  Chairman 

 
30 May 2017  
Lesley Dwyer  Chief Executive 
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Independent auditor’s report to the 
council of governors of Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust on the quality report 
We have been engaged by the council of 
governors of Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust to perform an independent 
assurance engagement in respect of 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust’s quality 
report for the year ended 31 March 2017 
(the ‘Quality Report’) and certain 
performance indicators contained therein. 
This report, including the conclusion, has 
been prepared solely for the council of 
governors of Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust as a body, to assist the council of 
governors in reporting Medway NHS 
Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, 
performance and activities. We permit the 
disclosure of this report within the Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 March 
2017, to enable the council of governors 
to demonstrate they have discharged 
their governance responsibilities by 
commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with the 
indicators. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the 
Council of Governors as a body and 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust for our 
work or this report, except where terms 
are expressly agreed and with our prior 
consent in writing. 
Scope and subject matter 
As detailed in Part 2 of the Trust’s Quality 
Report and Part 1.2 of the Annual 
Governance Statement, the Trust has 
been unable to report upon the following 
indicator for the year: 

• Percentage of incomplete pathways 
within 18 weeks for patients on 
incomplete pathways at the end of the 
reporting period. 

Where the Quality Report does not 
include a figure for a national priority 
indicator, Monitor guidance mandates an 
alternative national indicator for testing 
and the following indicator was selected: 

• Maximum waiting time of 62 days from 
urgent GP referral to first treatment for 
all cancers. 

As a result, the following national 
indicators for the year ended 31 March 
2017 are subject to limited assurance: 

• Percentage of patients with a total time 
in Accident and Emergency (A&E) of 
four hours or less from arrival to 
admission, transfer or discharge; and  

• Maximum waiting time of 62 days from 
urgent GP referral to first treatment for 
all cancers (62 days). 

We refer to the two above national 
indicators collectively as the ‘indicators’. 
Respective responsibilities of the 
directors and auditors 
The directors are responsible for the 
content and the preparation of the quality 
report in accordance with the criteria set 
out in the ‘NHS foundation trust annual 
reporting manual’ issued by Monitor. 
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, 
based on limited assurance procedures, 
on whether anything has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe that: 

• the quality report is not prepared in all 
material respects in line with the criteria 
set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual’; 

• the quality report is not consistent in all 
material respects with the sources 
specified in section 2.1 of the Monitor 
2017 Detailed guidance for external 
assurance on quality reports; and 

• the indicators in the quality report 
identified as having been the subject of 
limited assurance in the quality report 
are not reasonably stated in all material 
respects in accordance with the ‘NHS 
foundation trust annual reporting 
manual’ and the six dimensions of data 
quality set out in the ‘Detailed guidance 
for external assurance on quality 
reports’. 
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We read the quality report and consider 
whether it addresses the content 
requirements of the ‘NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual, and consider 
the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any material omissions. 
We read the other information contained 
in the quality report and consider whether 
it is materially inconsistent with:  

• board minutes for the period April 2016 
to March 2017; 

• papers relating to quality reported to 
the board over the period April 2016 to 
March 2017; 

• feedback from the Commissioners 
dated 26 May 2017; 

• feedback from the governors 30 May 
2017 

• feedback from Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, 26 May 2017 

• the trust’s complaints report published 
under regulation 18 of the Local 
Authority Social Services and NHS 
Complaints Regulations 2009, due to 
be published after June 2016;  

• the national patient survey throughout 
2016/17;  

• the national staff survey throughout 
2016/17; 

• Care Quality Commission Intelligent 
Monitoring Report   

• Care Quality Commission reports; and 

• the Head of Internal Audit’s annual 
opinion over the trust’s control 
environment dated 22 May 2017. 

We consider the implications for our 
report if we become aware of any 
apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents 
(collectively the ‘documents’). Our 
responsibilities do not extend to any other 
information. 
We are in compliance with the applicable 
independence and competency 
requirements of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales 
(ICAEW) Code of Ethics. Our team 
comprised assurance practitioners and 
relevant subject matter experts. 
Assurance work performed 
We conducted this limited assurance 
engagement in accordance with 
International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – 
‘Assurance Engagements other than 
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information’ issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 
(‘ISAE 3000’). Our limited assurance 
procedures included: 

• evaluating the design and 
implementation of the key processes 
and controls for managing and 
reporting the indicators; 

• making enquiries of management; 

• testing key management controls;  

• limited testing, on a selective basis, of 
the data used to calculate the indicator 
back to supporting documentation; 

• comparing the content requirements of 
the ‘NHS foundation trust annual 
reporting manual’ to the categories 
reported in the quality report; and 

• reading the documents. 
A limited assurance engagement is 
smaller in scope than a reasonable 
assurance engagement. The nature, 
timing and extent of procedures for 
gathering sufficient appropriate evidence 
are deliberately limited relative to a 
reasonable assurance engagement. 
Limitations 
Non-financial performance information is 
subject to more inherent limitations than 
financial information, given the 
characteristics of the subject matter and 
the methods used for determining such 
information. 
The absence of a significant body of 
established practice on which to draw 
allows for the selection of different, but 
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acceptable measurement techniques 
which can result in materially different 
measurements and can affect 
comparability. The precision of different 
measurement techniques may also vary. 
Furthermore, the nature and methods 
used to determine such information, as 
well as the measurement criteria and the 
precision of these criteria, may change 
over time. It is important to read the 
quality report in the context of the criteria 
set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual’. 
The scope of our assurance work has not 
included testing of indicators other than 
the two selected mandated indicators, or 
consideration of quality governance. 
Basis for qualified conclusion 
The annualised A&E four-hour wait 
indicator is calculated as a percentage of 
the total number of unplanned 
attendances at A&E for which patients 
total time in A&E from arrival is four hours 
or less until discharge, transfer, or 
admission as an inpatient. We have 
tested a sample of 20 unplanned A&E 
attendances during the year.  
Issues identified through testing included:  

• The Trust does not retain an audit trail 
for adjustments made following the 
validation of apparent breaches. 

• Documentation is not always available 
to evidence the rationale for amending 
individual A&E attendance durations. 

• Conflicting information between 
supporting documentation and Trust 
data. 

As a result there is a limitation upon the 
scope of our procedures which means we 
are unable to complete our testing and 
are unable to determine whether the 
indicator has been prepared in 
accordance with the criteria for reporting 
A&E 4 hour waiting times. In addition, we 
are unable to quantify the effect of the 
errors identified on the reported indicator 
for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
The 62 day Cancer wait pathway is 
calculated as a percentage of pathways 

completed within 62 days, from urgent 
GP referral to first treatment start date. 
We tested 20 samples of 62 day Cancer 
pathways during the year.  
Issues identified through testing included:  

• Patients not relevant to the 62 day 
pathway included and reported in the 
pathways. 

• Documentation was not always 
available to evidence the rationale for 
adjusting the pathway days. 

• Errors made in recording the number of 
days adjustments to pathways 

• Conflicting information between 
supporting documentation / Infoflux and 
Open Exeter data. 

Part 2 of the Trust’s Quality Report 
summarises the actions the Trust is 
taking post year end to address the 
issues identified in relation to the 
documentation of its validation 
processes. 
Qualified conclusion 
Based on the results of our procedures, 
except for the effect of the matters set out 
in the basis for qualified conclusion 
paragraph, nothing has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe that, 
for the year ended 31 March 2017: 

• the quality report is not prepared in all 
material respects in line with the criteria 
set out in the ‘NHS foundation trust 
annual reporting manual’; 

• the quality report is not consistent in all 
material respects with the sources 
specified in 2.1 of the Monitor 2017 
Detailed guidance for external 
assurance on quality reports; and 

• the indicators in the quality report 
subject to limited assurance have not 
been reasonably stated in all material 
respects in accordance with the ‘NHS 
foundation trust annual reporting 
manual’. 

Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
St Albans, UK 
30 May 2017 
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Glossary 
 

Acronym Meaning 

A&E Accident & Emergency 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

DATIX National Risk Management and reporting system 

DOL Deprivation of Liberty 

DQ Data Quality 

EOLC End of Life Care 

FFT Friends and Family Test 

GP General Practitioner 

HSMR Hospital Standardised Mortality Ratio 

KPI Key Performance Indicator 

MCA Mental Capacity Act 

NEL Non-Elective 

NELA National Emergency Laparotomy Audit 

NHS National Health Service 

NRLS National Reporting and Learning System 

PALS Patient Advice and Liaison Service 

SHMI Summary Hospital Level Mortality Indicator 

QA Quality Account 

VTE Venous thromboembolism 
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Contact Us 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
Medway Maritime Hospital 
Windmill Road 
Gillingham 
Kent ME7 5NY 
 
Tel: 01634 830000 
Email:  communications@medway.nhs.uk 
www.medway.nhs.uk
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Statement of the Chief Executive's 
responsibilities as the Accounting 
Officer of Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust  
The NHS Act 2006 states that the Chief 
Executive is the Accounting Officer of the 
NHS foundation trust. The relevant 
responsibilities of the accounting officer, 
including their responsibility for the 
propriety and regularity of public finances 
for which they are answerable, and for 
the keeping of proper accounts, are set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum issued 
by NHS Improvement.  
NHS Improvement, in exercise of the 
powers conferred on Monitor by the NHS 
Act 2006, has given Accounts Directions 
which require Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on 
the basis required by those Directions. 
The accounts are prepared on an 
accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of Medway 
NHS Foundation Trust and of its income 
and expenditure, total recognised gains 
and losses and cash flows for the 
financial year.  
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting 
Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Department of Health 
Group Accounting Manual and in 
particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued 
by NHS Improvement, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent 
basis  

• make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual (and the Department of Health 
Group Accounting Manual) have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial 
statements 

• ensure that the use of public funds 
complies with the relevant legislation, 
delegated authorities and guidance and  

• prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis.  

The accounting officer is responsible for 
keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the NHS 
foundation trust and to enable him/her to 
ensure that the accounts comply with 
requirements outlined in the above 
mentioned Act. The Accounting Officer is 
also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the NHS foundation trust and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.  
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I 
have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer 
Memorandum.  
 
 
 

Lesley Dwyer 
Chief Executive 
May 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS AND 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF MEDWAY 
NHS FOUNDATION TRUST 

Opinion on financial statements of 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of 
the Trust’s affairs as at 31 March 2017 
and of its income and expenditure for 
the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the accounting 
policies directed by NHS Improvement 
– Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the National Health 
Service Act 2006. 

The financial statements that we have 
audited comprise: 

• the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income; 

• the Statement of Financial Position; 

• the Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity; 

• the Statement of Cash Flows; and 

• the related notes 1 to 29. 
The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and the accounting 
policies directed by NHS Improvement – 
Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts. 
Going concern – Emphasis of Matter 
We have reviewed the Statement of the 
Chief Executive’s Responsibilities as the 
Accounting Officer contained in Section 4 
and the disclosure made in Note 1.1 that 
the Trust is a going concern.  
The Trust incurred a net deficit of £42.9m 
during the year ended 31 March 2017 
and is projecting a further substantial 

deficit for 2017/18 before impairments 
and revaluations. The Trust has identified 
additional funding is required before the 
end of 2017/18 to support the Trust in 
meeting its liabilities which is yet to be 
formally agreed.  
In response to this, we: 

• reviewed the Trust’s financial 
performance in 2016/17 including its 
achievement of planned cost 
improvements in the year; 

• held discussions with management to 
understand the funding arrangements 
that have been agreed, confirming to 
signed loan agreements. Discussions 
were held regarding management’s 
expectation around further funding 
requirements; 

• reviewed the Trust’s cash flow 
forecasts and the Trust’s financial plan 
submitted to NHS Improvement; and 

• held discussions with management to 
understand the current status of 
contract negotiations with its 
commissioners. 

Whilst we have concluded that the 
Accounting Officer’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate, these conditions indicate the 
existence of a material uncertainty which 
may give rise to significant doubt over the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. The financial statements do not 
include the adjustments that would result 
if the Trust was unable to continue as a 
going concern. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter 
Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the 
audit of the accounts in accordance with 
the requirements of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 and 
the Code of Audit Practice. 
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Summary of our audit approach 

Independence  

We are required to comply with the Code of Audit Practice 
and Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors, and confirm that we are independent of the Trust 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with those standards. 

We confirm that we are 
independent of the Trust and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with 
those standards. We also confirm 
we have not provided any of the 
prohibited non-audit services 
referred to in those standards. 

Our assessment of risks of material 
misstatement 
The assessed risks of material 
misstatement described below are those 
that had the greatest effect on our audit 
strategy, the allocation of resources in the 
audit and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team. 
 
 

NHS revenue and provisions  
Risk description 

As described in Notes 1.2, Accounting 
Convention, and 1.3, Income, there are 
significant judgements in recognition of 
revenue from care of NHS patients and in 
provisioning for disputes with 
commissioners due to: 

Key risks 

 

The key risks that we identified in the current year were: 

Recognition of NHS revenue 

Accounting for Property Valuations 

Management override of controls 

 

These are the same risks identified in the prior year (2015/16). 

 

Materiality The materiality that we used in the current year was £5.0m which was determined 
on the basis of 2% of revenue. 

 

Scoping 

 

Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the entity and its 
environment, including internal control. The Trust does not have any subsidiaries 
and is structured as a single reporting unit and so the whole Trust was subject to a 
full audit scope.  

Significant changes in our 
approach 

In 2015/16 we used 1% of revenue as the basis for materiality. We reassessed the 
percentage used to 2% of revenue. This was based on our cumulative knowledge 
and assessment of the audit risks related to the Trust for this year. 
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• the complexity of the Payment by 
Results regime, in particular in 
determining the level of 
overperformance revenue to recognise; 

• the judgemental nature of provisions 
for disputes with commissioners and 
other counterparties; and 

• the risk of revenue not being 
recognised at fair value due to 
adjustments agreed in settling current 
year disputes and agreement of future 
year contracts. 

Details of the Trust’s income, including 
£248m of Commissioner Requested 
Services, are shown in note 3 to the 
financial statements. NHS debtors are 
shown in note 15 to the financial 
statements.  
The majority of the Trust’s income comes 
from Medway Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) £136m (2015/16: £131.9m) 
and NHS England £29m (2015/16: 
£32.3m). NHS receivables at 31 March 
2017 were £23.2m (2015/16: £13.9m) of 
which £4.7m were provided against at 31 
March 2017.   
How the scope of our audit responded 
to the risk 

We evaluated the design and 
implementation of controls over 
recognition of Payment by Results 
income and the debt provisioning 
process. 
We have agreed baseline contract 
income to underlying contracts and 
checked settlement agreements to third 
party confirmation.  
We reviewed the principal disputes with 
commissioners and challenged key 
judgements around specific areas of 
dispute and actual or potential challenge 
from commissioners and the rationale for 
the accounting treatments adopted. In 
doing so, we considered the historical 
accuracy of provisions for disputes and 
reviewed correspondence with 
commissioners. We also corroborated 
management explanations to 

documentary evidence, such as 
correspondence with commissioners, and 
minutes of relevant meetings. We 
vouched to signed contracts that, having 
administered the healthcare the Trust has 
a contractual claim to this income. 
Key observations 

The evidence we obtained from our audit 
procedures supported the revenue, 
receivables and provisions balance held 
by the Trust and the appropriateness of 
the assumptions used in its provisioning 
calculation.  
Property valuations  
Risk description 

The Trust holds property assets within 
Property, Plant and Equipment at a 
modern equivalent use valuation of 
£146.4m (2015/16: £147.2m). The 
valuations are by nature significant 
estimates which are based on specialist 
and management assumptions (including 
the floor areas for a Modern Equivalent 
Asset, the basis for calculating build 
costs, the level of allowances for 
professional fees and contingency, and 
the remaining life of the assets) and 
which can be subject to material changes 
in value. 
The Trust has applied similar valuation 
assumptions in the current year to those 
applied in 2015/16. The policy is 
disclosed in Note 1.5. 
How the scope of our audit responded 
to the risk 

We evaluated the design and 
implementation of controls over property 
valuations, and tested the accuracy and 
completeness of data provided by the 
Trust to the valuer. 
We used Deloitte internal valuation 
specialists to review and challenge the 
appropriateness of the key assumptions 
used in the valuation of the Trust’s 
properties using benchmarking and 
knowledge of local real estate economy. 
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We have reviewed the disclosures in note 
1.5 and evaluated whether these provide 
sufficient explanation of the basis of the 
valuation and the judgements made in 
preparing the valuation. 
We assessed whether the valuation and 
the accounting treatment of the 
impairment were compliant with the 
relevant accounting standards, and in 
particular whether impairments should be 
recognised in the Income Statement or in 
Other Comprehensive Income. 
Key observations 

The evidence we obtained from our audit 
procedures supported the valuation of the 
property assets held by the Trust and the 
appropriateness of the assumptions used 
in its calculation.  
Management override of controls 
Risk description 

We consider that there remains a 
heightened risk across the NHS that 
management may override controls to 
fraudulently manipulate the financial 
statements or accounting judgements or 
estimates. This is due to the increasingly 
tight financial circumstances of the NHS 
and close scrutiny of the reported 
financial performance of individual 
organisations.  
The Trust has been allocated £10.8m of 
the Sustainability and Transformation 
Fund, contingent on achieving financial 
and operational targets each year, 
equivalent to a “control total” for the year 
of a deficit of £46.6m. NHS Improvement 
has allocated funding for a “bonus” to 
organisations that exceed their control 
total, including offering trusts £1 of 
additional funding for each £1 above the 
control total. This creates an incentive for 
reporting financial results that exceed the 
control total. The Trust’s reported results 
show a deficit of £43.7m, equivalent to 
£2.9m above the control total. 
All NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts 
were requested by NHS Improvement in 
2016  to consider a series of “technical” 

accounting areas and assess both 
whether their current accounting 
approach meets the requirements of 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and to remove “excess 
prudence” to support the overall NHS 
reported financial position. The areas of 
accounting estimate highlighted included 
accruals, deferred income, injury cost 
recovery debtors, partially completed 
patient spells, bad debt provisions, 
property valuations, and useful economic 
lives of assets. 
Details of critical accounting judgements 
and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
are included in note 1.2. 
How the scope of our audit responded 
to the risk 

Manipulation of accounting estimates 

Our work on accounting estimates 
included considering each of the areas of 
judgement identified by NHS 
Improvement. We have considered both 
the individual judgements and their 
impact individually and in aggregate upon 
the financial statements. In testing each 
of the relevant accounting estimates, 
engagement team members were 
directed to consider their findings in the 
context of the identified fraud risk. Where 
relevant, the recognition and valuation 
criteria used were compared to the 
specific requirements of IFRS.  
We tested accounting estimates 
(including in respect of NHS revenue and 
provisions and property valuations 
discussed above), focusing on the areas 
of greatest judgement and value. Our 
procedures included comparing amounts 
recorded or inputs to estimates to 
relevant supporting information from third 
party sources. 
We evaluated the rationale for 
recognising or not recognising balances 
in the financial statements and the 
estimation techniques used in 
calculations, and considered whether 
these were in accordance with 
accounting requirements and were 
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appropriate in the circumstances of the 
Group. 
Manipulation of journal entries 

We used data analytic techniques to 
select journals for testing with 
characteristics indicative of potential 
manipulation of reporting focusing in 
particular upon manual journals. 
We traced the journals to supporting 
documentation, considered whether they 
had been appropriately approved, and 
evaluated the accounting rationale for the 
posting. We evaluated individually and in 
aggregate whether the journals tested 
were indicative of fraud or bias. 
We tested the year-end adjustments 
made outside of the accounting system 
between the general ledger and the 
financial statements. 
We tested the design and implementation 
of controls in relation to journals and 
accounting estimates. 
Accounting for significant or unusual 
transactions 

We considered whether any transactions 
identified in the year required specific 
consideration and, other than additional 
procedures performed to address the 
increased risk in the higher debtors 
balance (see Revenue risk), we did not 
identify any requiring additional 
procedures to address this risk. 
Key observations 

We did not identify any major concerns 
involving management override of control 
or the use of overly aggressive or 
conservative accounting estimates. 
These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. 
 
 
 

Our application of materiality 

We define materiality as the magnitude of 
misstatement in the financial statements 
that makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable 
person would be changed or influenced. 
We use materiality both in planning the 
scope of our audit work and in evaluating 
the results of our work. 
Based on our professional judgement, we 
determined materiality for the financial 
statements as a whole as follows: 
 

Materiality 

 

£5.0m (2015/16: £2.5m) 

Basis for 
determining 
materiality 

 

2% of revenue 
(2015/16: 1% of 
revenue)  

 

We reassessed the 
percentage used in the 
context of our 
cumulative knowledge 
and understanding the 
audit risks at the Trust 
and our assessment of 
those risks for this year. 

 

Rationale for the 
benchmark 
applied 

Revenue was chosen as 
a benchmark as the 
Trust is a non-profit 
organisation, and 
revenue is a key 
measure of financial 
performance for users of 
the financial statements. 
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We agreed with the Integrated Audit 
Committee that we would report to the 
Committee all audit differences in excess 
of £250k (2015/6: £124k), as well as 
differences below that threshold that, in 
our view, warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds.  We also report to the 
Integrated Audit Committee on disclosure 
matters that we identified when assessing 
the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
An overview of the scope of our audit 
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an 
understanding of the Trust and its 
environment, including internal controls, 
and assessing the risks of material 
misstatement at the Trust level. Audit 
work was performed at the Trust’s head 
offices in Gillingham directly by the audit 
engagement team, led by the audit 
partner.  
The audit team included integrated 
Deloitte specialists bringing specific skills 
and experience in property valuations 
and Information Technology systems. 
Opinion on other matters prescribed 
by the National Health Service Act 
2006 

In our opinion: 

• the parts of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and Staff Report 
to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the 
National Health Service Act 2006; and 

• the information given in the 
Performance Report and the 
Accountability Report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to 
report by exception 

Use of resources. We report to you if we 
are not satisfied that the foundation trust 
has put in place proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. 
Basis for qualified conclusion 

The Trust has described the following 
matters in its Annual Governance 
Statement which we consider to be 
relevant to the Trust’s arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness: 

• continuing issues with data quality 
including errors identified in the 
underlying data supporting key 
mandated indicators. This view is 
demonstrated in our qualified 
conclusion on the Quality Report. 

These issues are evidence of 
weaknesses in proper arrangements for 
understanding and using appropriate and 
reliable performance information to 
support informed decision making and 
performance management. 
In addition, there continue to be concerns 
related to financial sustainability: 

Revenue £250.3m Materiality £5.1m

Audit Committee 
reporting threshold 

£0.25m
Revenue Materiality
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• the foundation trust’s outturn position 
for 2016-17 was a £42.9 million deficit. 
This achieved a lower variance against 
plan for 2016-17 but still demonstrated 
significant issues with the sustainable 
deployment of resources; and 

• the foundation trust’s 2017-18 plan 
submission in November 2016 showed 
a further substantial deficit, with a 
forecast deficit of £37.8 million for 
2017-18. 

These issues are evidence of 
weaknesses in proper arrangements for 
planning finances effectively to support 
the sustainable delivery of strategic 
priorities and maintain statutory functions. 
Qualified conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard 
to the guidance issued by the Comptroller 
& Auditor General in November 2016, 
with the exception of the matters reported 
in the basis for qualified conclusion 
paragraph above, we are satisfied that, in 
all significant respects, Medway NHS 
foundation Trust put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 
2017. 
Annual Governance Statement and 
compilation of financial statements. 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are 
required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the Annual Governance Statement 
does not meet the disclosure 
requirements set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual, is misleading, or is  
inconsistent with information of which 
we are aware from our audit; or 

• proper practices have not been 
observed in the compilation of the 
financial statements. 

We are not required to consider, nor have 
we considered, whether the Annual 
Governance Statement addresses all 
risks and controls or that risks are 

satisfactorily addressed by internal 
controls. 
We have nothing to report in respect of 
these matters. 
Reports in the public interest or to the 
regulator. Under the Code of Audit 
Practice, we are also required to report to 
you if:  

• any matters have been reported in the 
public interest under Schedule 10(3) of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 in 
the course of, or at the end of the audit; 
or 

• any reports to the regulator have been 
made under Schedule 10(6) of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 
because we have reason to believe 
that the Trust, or a director or officer of 
the Trust, is about to make, or has 
made, a decision involving unlawful 
expenditure, or is about to take, or has 
taken, unlawful action likely to cause a 
loss or deficiency. 

We have nothing to report in respect of 
these matters. 
Our duty to read other information in 
the Annual Report. Under International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), 
we are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion, information in the annual report 
is: 

• materially inconsistent with the 
information in the audited financial 
statements; or 

• apparently materially incorrect based 
on, or materially inconsistent with, our 
knowledge of the Trust acquired in the 
course of performing our audit; or 
otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to consider 
whether we have identified any 
inconsistencies between our knowledge 
acquired during the audit and the 
directors’ statement that they consider the 
annual report is fair, balanced and 
understandable and whether the annual 
report appropriately discloses those 
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matters that we communicated to the 
audit committee which we consider 
should have been disclosed. 
We confirm that we have not identified 
any such inconsistencies or misleading 
statements. 
Respective responsibilities of Accounting 
Officer and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Accounting 
Officer’s Responsibilities Statement, the 
Accounting Officer is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 
audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law, the Code of Audit Practice 
and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). We also comply with 
International Standard on Quality Control 
1 (UK and Ireland). Our audit 
methodology and tools aim to ensure that 
our quality control procedures are 
effective, understood and applied. Our 
quality controls and systems include our 
dedicated professional standards review 
team and independent partner reviews. 
This report is made solely to the Board of 
Governors and Board of Directors (“the 
Boards”) of Medway NHS Foundation 
Trust, as a body, in accordance with 
paragraph 4 of Schedule 10 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that 
we might state to the Boards those 
matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the 
Trust and the Boards as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Accounting 
Officer; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we 
read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the annual report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired 
by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the 
implications for our report. 
 
 
Craig Wisdom ACA (Senior statutory 
auditor) 
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Auditor 
St Albans 
30 May, 2017 
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Statement of comprehensive income  
2016/17 

    
31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016  

NOTE 
 

£000 
 

£000 
Revenue 

     

Revenue from patient care activities 3 
 

251 635 
 

231 768 
Other operating revenue 4 

 
36 100 

 
23 003 

Operating expenses 5 
 

(327 646)  
 

(303 063)  
Operating deficit 

  
(39 911) 

 
(48 292) 

      
Finance costs 

     

      
Finance income 10 

 
31 

 
35 

Finance expenses - financial liabilities 11 
 

(1 931)  
 

(1 065)  
Finance expenses - unwinding of discount on provisions 19 

 
(22)  

 
(22)  

Public Dividend Capital dividend payable 27 
 

(1 289)  
 

(3 125)  
Net finance costs 

  
(3 211)  

 
(4 177)  

      
Gains/(losses) of disposal of assets 

  
262 

 
(45)  

      
Deficit for the year 

  
(42 860)  

 
(52 514)  

      
Other comprehensive income 

     

      
Revaluation gains and (impairment losses) property, plant and 
equipment 

13 
 

3 429 
 

(11 558)  

Total comprehensive income / (expenditure) for the year 
  

(39 431)  
 

(64 072)  
 
All operating results are derived from continuing operations. 
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Statement of financial position  
2016/17 

    
31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016  

NOTE 
 

£000 
 

£000 
Non Current Assets 

     

      
Property, plant and equipment 12 

 
177 122 

 
166 348 

Trade and other receivables 15 
 

358 
 

511 
Total non current assets 

  
177 480 

 
166 859 

      
Current Assets 

     

      
Inventories 14 

 
6 916 

 
6 351 

Trade and other receivables 15 
 

36 499 
 

21 484 
Cash and cash equivalents 20 

 
1 577 

 
5 620 

Total current assets 
  

44 992 
 

33 455 
      
Current liabilities 

     

      
Trade and other payables 16 

 
(44 333)  

 
(33 246) 

Borrowings 17 
 

(58 134)  
 

(1 352) 
Provisions 19 

 
(193)  

 
(126) 

Other liabilities 16 
 

(2 362)  
 

(1 920) 
Total current liabilities 

  
(105 022) 

 
(36 644)    

      
 

      
Total assets less current liabilities 

  
117 450 

 
163 670    

      
 

      
Non current liabilities 

     

      
Borrowings 17 

 
(78 678)  

 
(90 466) 

Provisions 19 
 

(834)  
 

(833) 
Total non current liabilities 

  
(79 512) 

 
(91 299) 

      
Total assets employed 

  
37 938 

 
72 371 

      
Financed by: 

     

      
Taxpayers' equity 

     

Public dividend capital 
  

134 485 
 

129 487 
Revaluation reserve 

  
35 690 

 
32 261 

Income and expenditure reserve 
  

(132 237)  
 

(89 377)  
      
Total taxpayers' equity 

  
37 938 

 
72 371 

 

Signed: Lesley Dwyer (Chief Executive) 

Date: 30 May 2017 

Signed: Tracey Cotterill  (Director of Finance) 

Date: 30 May 2017 
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended  
2016/17 

    
31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016  

NOTE 
 

£000 
 

£000 
Cash flows from operating activities 

     

Operating deficit from continuing operations 
  

(39 911)  
 

(48 292)  
      
Non-cash income and expense 

     

Depreciation and amortisation 12 
 

9 596 
 

10 007 
Impairments 13 

 
0 
 

(227) 
Non-cash donations/grants credited to income 

  
(361) 

 
(342) 

(Increase) /Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables 15 
 

(15 600) 
 

(1 281) 
(Increase) / decrease in Inventories 14 

 
(565) 

 
(233) 

Increase / (Decrease) in Trade and other Payables 16 
 

7 897 
 

(2 584) 
Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities 16 

 
442 

 
(1 634) 

Increase / (decrease) in Provisions 
  

67 
 

(157) 
Other movements in operating cash flows 

  
3 
 

0 
Net cash generated from operations 

  
(38 432) 

 
(44 743) 

      
Cash flows from investing activities 

     

Interest received 
  

33 
 

35 
Payments to acquire Property, Plant and Equipment 12 

 
(14 735) 

 
(11 134) 

Receipts from sales of Property, Plant and Equipment 12 
 

967 
 

31 
Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets 12 

 
361 
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Net cash used in investing activities 
  

(13 374) 
 

(10 878) 
      
Cash flows from financing activities 

     

Public dividend capital received 
  

4 998 
 

3 533 
Public dividend capital repaid 

  
0 
 

0 
Loans received 17 

 
72 137 

 
82 834 

Loans repaid 17 
 

(27 252) 
 

(22 547) 
Capital element of finance lease rental payments 18 

 
(305) 

 
(755) 

Interest paid 
  

(1 656) 
 

(1 034) 
Interest element of finance leases 18 

 
(101) 

 
(18) 

PDC Dividend paid 
  

(553) 
 

(3 904) 
Cash flows from (used in) other financing activities 

  
495 

 
0 

Net cash used in financial activities 
  

47 763 
 

58 109 
      
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

  
(4 043) 

 
2 488 

      
Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April 20 

 
5 620 

 
3 132 

Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March 20 
 

1 577 
 

5 620 
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Statement of Changes In Equity for the year ended 31 March 2017 

   
Public Dividend 

Capital 

 
Revaluation 

Reserve 

 
Income and 
Expenditure 

Reserve 

 
Total 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

         
At 1 April 2016 

 
129 487 

 
32 261 

 
(89 377) 

 
72 371 

         
Deficit for the year 

 
0 

 
0 

 
(42 860) 

 
(42 860) 

Revaluation gains and impairment 
losses property, plant and equipment 

 
0 

 
3 429 

 
0 

 
3 429 

Public Dividend Capital received 
 

4 998 
 

0 
 

0 
 

4 998 
Public Dividend Capital repaid 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

Transfer of the excess of current cost 
depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure Reserve 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

         
Taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2017 

 
134 485 

 
35 690 

 
(132 237) 

 
37 938 

           
Public dividend 

capital 

 
Revaluation 

reserve 

 
Income and 
expenditure 

reserve 

 
Total 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

         
At 1 April 2015 

 
125 954 

 
45 852 

 
(38 896) 

 
132 910 

         
Deficit for the year 

 
0 

 
0 

 
(52 514) 

 
(52 514) 

Revaluation gains and impairment 
losses property, plant and equipment 

 
0 

 
(11 558) 

 
0 

 
(11 558) 

Transfers between reserves 
 

0 
 

(2 033) 
 

2 033 
 

0 
Public Dividend Capital received 

 
3 533 

 
0 

 
0 

 
3 533 

Transfer of the excess of current cost 
depreciation over historical cost 
depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure Reserve 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

         
Taxpayers' equity as at 31 March 2016 

 
129 487 

 
32 261 

 
 
 (89 377) 

 
  72 371 
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Notes to the Accounts 
Note 1  
Accounting policies and other 
information 

Basis of preparation 

NHS Improvement, in exercising the 
statutory functions conferred on Monitor, 
is responsible for issuing an accounts 
direction to NHS foundation trusts under 
the NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement 
has directed that the financial statements 
of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the 
accounting requirements of the 
Department of Health Group Accounting 
Manual (DH GAM) which shall be agreed 
with the Secretary of State. 
Consequently, the following financial 
statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the DH GAM 2016/17 
issued by the Department of Health The 
accounting policies contained in that 
manual follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM 
Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual to 
the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. 
The accounting policies have been 
applied consistently in dealing with items 
considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 

1.1  
Going Concern 

The Trust has prepared its financial plans 
and cash flow forecasts on the 
assumption that support funding will 
continue to be received through the 
Department of Health. These funds are 
expected to be sufficient to prevent the 
Trust from failing to meet its obligations 
as they fall due and to continue until 
adequate plans are in place to achieve 
financial sustainability for the Trust. 
The Trust incurred a deficit and is 
forecast to incur a deficit in the 
forthcoming financial year, furthermore 
the Trust is reliant on the aforementioned 
funding for the foreseeable future. 

Whilst the Directors are certain that the 
provision of services will continue, there 
are material uncertainties within the 
Trust’s financial performance that may 
cast significant doubt over the Trust’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and 
therefore it may be unable to realise its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business, and around 
the form of the Trust that delivers those 
services. This provision will also be 
dependent on both acceptance and 
delivery of the financial recovery plans 
and continuation of support from the 
Department of Health. Notwithstanding 
the material uncertainty, the Directors 
have not had any communication 
indicating that necessary support funding 
will not be made available for the 
foreseeable future and have therefore 
prepared these financial statements on a 
going concern basis. 
A full statement of the risks and concerns 
are included in this Annual Report. 
There are thus material uncertainties 
which may cast significant doubt as to the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and therefore may be unable to 
realise its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of 
business. The financial statements do not 
include any adjustments that would be 
required if the going concern basis were 
not appropriate. 
The following factors could potentially 
impact the Trust’s performance and 
position: 

• Final partnership organisational 
structure; 

• Increasing demand for mental health, 
learning disabilities and universal 
children’s services; 

• Commissioner’s ability to pay for 
increasing demand for services; 

• Unplanned capital investment required 
to maintain the Trust’s estate and 
infrastructure; 

• Ability to attract and retain highly skilled 
staff. 



192
  

1.2  
Accounting Convention 

These accounts have been prepared 
under the historical cost convention 
modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment at their 
value to the business, inventories, certain 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

Critical Accounting Judgements and 
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

In the application of the Trust’s 
accounting policies management is 
required to make judgments, estimates, 
and assumptions about the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. 
In the application of the Trust's 
accounting policies, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates, 
and assumptions about the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors considered 
of relevance. Actual results may differ 
from those estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed. 
Revisions to estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is 
revised, if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 
The following are the areas where critical 
judgements have been made in the 
process of applying accounting policies at 
the end of the reporting period that have 
a risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year:- 

• Going Concern 
The Trust produces detailed plans and 
forecasts outlining all its assumptions on 
future financial performance. This also 
takes account of the financial context in 
which it operates. 

• Asset valuation 
The Trust conducts regular valuations on 
its property, utilising specialist 
independent valuers. The latest review of 
its property was conducted for 31 March 
2016. 
A standard approach to depreciated 
replacement cost valuations has been 
adopted based on HM Treasury guidance 
and the concept of Modern Equivalent 
Asset (MEA) Valuations. The Depreciated 
Replacement Cost method, used for 
valuing most of the Trust’s properties in 
line with other NHS bodies, is particularly 
judgemental. The Trust also adopted a 
methodology which involved adding back 
at current value to the alternative site 
valuation any existing assets that would 
not be rebuilt on an alternative site. 

• Impairments of receivables  
The Trust regularly reviews the 
collectability of its debtors to ensure 
these are appropriately impaired. This 
assessment is based on the latest cash 
collection records and other external 
factors impacting relationships with 
debtors and the health economy. 

1.3  
Income 

Income in respect of services provided is 
recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs and is measured at 
the fair value of the consideration 
receivable. The main source of income 
for the Trust is contracts with 
commissioners in respect of healthcare 
services provided. For patients whose 
treatment straddles the year end income 
is apportioned across the financial years 
on the basis of length of stay, insofar as it 
is in accordance with the terms of the 
contract. Where income is received for a 
specific activity which is to be delivered in 
the following financial year that income is 
deferred. This includes the Maternity 
pathway funding where the income is 
received at the beginning of the treatment 
and the proportion relating to treatment 
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which is to be delivered in 2016/17 has 
been deferred. 
The basis for the calculation of the 
partially completed spells accrual was 
those patients who were occupying a 
Trust bed on 31st March 2017 but were 
not discharged until the following financial 
year. Average prices by speciality and by 
point of delivery were then applied to 
these spells with adjustments made to 
ensure that income due was 
appropriately distributed between the 
2016/17 and 2017/18 financial years, 
based on the distribution of length of stay. 
Additional contributions from central 
bodies (such as the Department of 
Health) designated as revenue 
contributions are recognised as revenue 
when received or receivable, and are 
separately disclosed, in accordance with 
the requirements of the 2016/17 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual. 
Income from the sale of non-current 
assets is recognised only when all 
material conditions of sale have been 
met, and is measured as the sums due 
under the sale contract. 
Income disclosures re Section 43 NHS 
Act 2006: 
Following Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 
2006 (as amended by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2013) the Trust can 
confirm that the income from the 
provision of goods and services for the 
purposes of the health service in England 
is greater than income we have received 
from the provision of goods and services 
for any other purpose. 

1.4  
Expenditure on goods and services 

Expenditure on goods and services is 
recognised when, and to the extent that 
they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those goods 
and services. Expenditure is recognised 
in operating expenses except where it 

results in the creation of a non-current 
asset such as property, plant and 
equipment. 

1.5  
Property, Plant and Equipment 

Recognition 

Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised where: 

• it is held for use in delivering services 
or for administrative purposes; 

• it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service potential 
be provided to, the Trust; 

• it is expected to be used for more than 
one financial year; 

• the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably; and 

• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or 

• collectively, a number of items have 
cost of at least £5,000 and individually 
have a cost of more than £250, where 
the assets are functionally 
interdependent, had broadly 
simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous 
disposal dates and are under single 
managerial control. 

• form part of the initial equipping and 
setting-up cost of a new building, ward 
or unit irrespective of their individual or 
collective cost. 

Staff costs have also been capitalised 
where they arise directly from the 
construction or acquisition of specific 
property, plant or equipment. 
The finance costs of bringing fixed assets 
into use are not capitalised. 
Where a large asset, for example a 
building, includes a number of 
components with significantly different 
asset lives e.g. plant and equipment, then 
these components are treated as 
separate assets and depreciated over 
their own useful economic lives. 
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Software which is integral to the 
operation of hardware e.g. an operating 
system, is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and 
equipment. Software which is not integral 
to the operation of hardware e.g. 
application software, is capitalised as an 
intangible asset. 

Measurement 

Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment assets 
are measured initially at cost, 
representing the costs directly attributable 
to acquiring or constructing the asset and 
bringing it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by 
management. All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value. 
Land and buildings used for the Trust’s 
services or for administrative purposes 
are stated in the statement of financial 
position at their revalued amounts, being 
the fair value at the date of revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying 
amounts are not materially different from 
those that would be determined at the 
end of the reporting period. Fair values 
are determined as follows; 

• Land and non-specialised buildings – 
market value for existing use 

• Specialised buildings –  
depreciated replacement cost 

A standard approach to depreciated 
replacement cost valuations has been 
adopted based on HM Treasury guidance 
and the concept of Modern Equivalent 
Asset (MEA) Valuations. The valuation 
included in the Statement of Financial 
Position at 31 March 2017 is based on an 
alternative site MEA valuation, 
undertaken specifically in accordance 
with the HM Treasury guidance which 
states that such valuations are an option 

if the Trust's service requirements can be 
met from the alternative site. 
All land and buildings are restated to 
current value using professional 
valuations in accordance with IAS16 
every five years. A yearly interim 
valuation is also carried out. Valuations 
are carried out by professionally qualified 
valuers in accordance with the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 
Appraisal and Valuation Manual. The last 
asset valuations were undertaken in 2017 
as at the valuation date of 31 March 
2017. 
Properties in the course of construction 
for services or administration purposes 
are carried at cost, less any impairment 
loss. Costs includes professional fees but 
not borrowing costs, which are 
recognised as expenses immediately, as 
allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair 
value. Assets are revalued and 
depreciation commences when they are 
brought into use. 
Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and 
equipment were carried at replacement 
cost, as assessed by indexation and 
depreciation of historic cost. From 1 April 
2008 indexation has ceased. The carrying 
value of existing assets at that date are 
written off over their remaining useful 
lives and new fixtures and equipment are 
carried at depreciated historic cost as this 
is not considered to be materially different 
from fair value. For assets over £100,000 
or that have a life over 15 years, these 
will be revalued to fair value if materially 
different from carrying value. 

Subsequent expenditure 

Where subsequent expenditure enhances 
an asset beyond its original specification, 
the directly attributable cost is added to 
the asset’s carrying value. Where a 
component of an asset is replaced, the 
cost of the replacement is capitalised if it 
meets the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part replaced 
is de-recognised. Where subsequent 
expenditure is simply restoring the asset 
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to the specification assumed by its 
economic useful life then the expenditure 
is charged to operating expenses. 
Depreciation 

Items of property, plant and equipment 
are depreciated at rates calculated to 
write them down to estimated residual 
value on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated economic lives. Freehold land 
is considered to have an infinite life and is 
not depreciated. 
Property, plant and equipment which has 
been reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ 
ceases to be depreciated upon the 
reclassification. Assets in the course of 
construction are not depreciated until the 
asset is brought into use. 
Buildings, installations and fittings and 
depreciated on their current value over 
the estimated remaining life of the asset 
as assessed by the Trust’s professional 
valuers. Assets held under a finance 
lease are depreciated over the primary 
lease term. 
Equipment is depreciated on current cost 
evenly over the estimated life of the asset 
using the following lives: 

Plant & Machinery (including medical 
equipment) – 5 to 15 
Furniture & Fittings  - 7 to 10 
Information Technology (including 
installations) 5 to 8 
Buildings (set-up costs in new buildings) - 
10 
Buildings & Dwellings – As per valuer 
Transport (vehicles) - 7 

Information Technology assets also 
include the Picture Archiving and 
Communications Systems (PACS) 
deployment costs, which is depreciated 
over a 10 year life. 

Revaluation gains and losses 

Revaluation gains are recognised in the 
revaluation reserve, except where, and to 
the extent that, they reverse a revaluation 
decrease that has previously been 
recognised in operating expenses, in 
which case they are recognised in 
operating income. 
Revaluation losses are charged to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that 
there is an available balance for the asset 
concerned, and thereafter are charged to 
operating expenses. 
Gains and losses recognised in the 
revaluation reserve are reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as 
an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 

Impairments 

In accordance with the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual, 
impairments that are due to a loss of 
economic benefits or service potential in 
the asset are charged to operating 
expenses. A compensating transfer is 
made from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve of an 
amount equal to the lower of (i) the 
impairment charged to operating 
expenses; and (ii) the balance in the 
revaluation reserve attributable to that 
asset before the impairment. 
An impairment arising from a loss of 
economic benefit or service potential is 
reversed when, and to the extent that, the 
circumstances that gave rise to the loss is 
reversed. Reversals are recognised in 
operating income to the extent that the 
asset is restored to the carrying amount it 
would have had if the impairment had 
never been recognised. Any remaining 
reversal is recognised in the revaluation 
reserve. Where, at the time of the original 
impairment, a transfer was made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and 
expenditure reserve, an amount is 
transferred back to the revaluation 
reserve when the impairment reversal is 
recognised. 
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Other impairments are treated as 
revaluation losses. Reversals of other 
impairments are treated as revaluation 
gains.  

De-recognition 

Assets intended for disposal are 
reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of 
the following criteria are met: 

• the asset is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition subject 
only to terms which are usual and 
customary for such sales; 

• the sale must be highly probable i.e.: 

• management are committed to a plan 
to sell the asset; 

• an active programme has begun to find 
a buyer and complete the sale; 

• the asset is being actively marketed at 
a reasonable price; 

• the sale is expected to be completed 
within 12 months of the date of 
classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and 

• the actions needed to complete the 
plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan 
will be dropped or significant changes 
made to it. 

Following reclassification, the assets are 
measured at the lower of their existing 
carrying amount and their ‘fair value less 
costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be 
charged. Assets are de-recognised when 
all material sale contract conditions have 
been met. 
Property, plant and equipment which is to 
be scrapped or demolished does not 
qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ 
and instead is retained as an operational 
asset and the asset’s economic life is 
adjusted. The asset is de-recognised 
when scrapping or demolition occurs. 

1.6  
Donated, government grant and other 
grant funded assets 

Donated and grant funded property, plant 
and equipment assets are capitalised at 

their fair value on receipt. The 
donation/grant is credited to income at 
the same time, unless the donor has 
imposes a condition that the future 
economic benefits embodied in the grant 
are to be consumed in a manner 
specified by the donor, in which case, the 
donation/grant is deferred within liabilities 
and is carried forward to future financial 
years to the extent that the condition has 
not yet been met. 
The donated and grant funded assets are 
subsequently accounted for in the same 
manner as other items of property, plant 
and equipment. 

1.7  
Revenue government and other grants 

Government grants are grants from 
Government bodies other than income 
from primary care trusts or NHS trusts for 
the provision of services. Where a grant 
is used to fund revenue expenditure it is 
taken to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income to match that expenditure. 

1.8  
Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. The cost of 
inventories is measured using average 
cost of pharmacy stock and latest prices 
for all other stock which is considered to 
be a reasonable approximation to fair 
value due to the high turnover of stocks. 
Inventories comprise goods in 
intermediate stages of production. 

1.9  
Provisions and Contingencies 

The Trust provides for legal or 
constructive obligations that are of 
uncertain timing or amount at the 
Statement of Financial Position date on 
the basis of the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the 
obligation. Where the effect of the time 
value of money is significant, the 
estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are 
discounted using the Treasury's discount 
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rate of 1.13% in real terms, except for 
early retirement provisions and injury 
benefit provisions which both use the HM 
Treasury’s pension discount rate of 
0.24% (2015/16: 1.37%) in real terms. 

Clinical negligence costs 

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) 
operates a risk pooling scheme under 
which the Trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA, which, in 
return, settles all clinical negligence 
claims. Although the NHSLA is 
administratively responsible for all clinical 
negligence cases, the legal liability 
remains with the Trust. The total value of 
clinical negligence provisions carried by 
the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is 
disclosed in the notes to the accounts, 
but is not recognised in the Trust’s 
accounts. 

Non-clinical risk pooling 

The Trust participates in the Property 
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to 
Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the Trust 
pays an annual contribution to the NHS 
Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of 
claims arising. The annual membership 
contributions, and any 'excesses' payable 
in respect of particular claims are 
charged to operating expenses when the 
liability arises. 

Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, 
but are disclosed in note 25, unless the 
probability of a transfer of economic 
benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities 
are defined as: 

• possible obligations arising from past 
events whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the entity’s control; or 

• present obligations arising from past 
events but for which it is not probable 
that a transfer of economic benefits will 
arise or for which the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with 
sufficient reliability. 

1.10  
Expenditure on Employee Benefits 

Short-term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related 
payments are recognised in the period in 
which the service is received from 
employees. The cost of annual leave 
entitlement earned but not taken by 
employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to 
the extent that employees are permitted 
to carry-forward leave into the following 
period. 

Pension costs 

Past and present employees are covered 
by the provision of the NHS Pensions 
Scheme. Details of the benefits payable 
under these provisions can be found on 
the NHS Pensions website at 
www.pensions.nhsbsa.nhs.uk. The 
scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme that covers NHS employers, 
general practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State, in England and Wales. 
It is not possible for the Trust to identify 
its share of the underlying scheme 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as a defined contribution 
scheme. Employers pension cost 
contributions are charged to operating 
expenses as and when they become due. 
Additional pension liabilities arising from 
early retirements are not funded by the 
scheme except where the retirement is 
due to ill-health. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is charged 
to the operating expenses at the time the 
Trust commits itself to the retirement, 
regardless of the method of payment. 
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1.11  
Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with 
any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 
hours. Interest earned on bank accounts 
and interest charged on overdrafts is 
recorded as, respectively, ‘Interest 
receivable’ and ‘Interest Payable’ in the 
periods to which they relate. Bank 
charges are recorded as operating 
expenses in the periods to which they 
relate. 
Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date 
of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash 
with insignificant risk of change in value. 
Deposits held in seven day notice 
accounts are treated as cash equivalents. 
The Trust does not hold any investments 
with maturity dates exceeding one year 
from the date of purchase. 

1.12  
Value Added Tax 

Most of the activities of the Trust are 
outside the scope of VAT and, in general, 
output tax does not apply and input tax 
on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the 
relevant expenditure category or included 
in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or 
input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are 
stated net of VAT. 

1.13  
Financial instruments and financial 
liabilities 

Recognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities 
which arise from contracts for the 
purchase or sale of non-financial items 
(such as goods or services), which are 
entered into in accordance with the 
Trust's normal purchases, sale or usage 
requirements, are recognised when, and 
to the extent which, performance occurs 

i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods 
or services is made. 
Financial assets or financial liabilities in 
respect of assets acquired or disposed of 
through finance leases are recognised 
and measured in accordance with the 
accounting policy for leases described 
below. 
All other financial assets and financial 
liabilities are recognised when the Trust 
becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

De-recognition 

All financial assets are de-recognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the assets have expired or the Trust 
has transferred substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership.  
Financial liabilities are de-recognised 
when the obligation is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

Classification and Measurement 
Financial assets are categorised as 'Fair 
Value through Income and Expenditure', 
‘Loans and receivables’ or ‘available for 
sale financial assets’. The Trust currently 
has not classified any financial assets as 
‘Fair Value through Income and 
Expenditure’ or ‘available for sale 
financial assets’. 
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair 
Value through Income and Expenditure’ 
or ‘Other Financial liabilities’. The Trust 
currently has not classified any financial 
liabilities as ‘Fair Value through Income 
and Expenditure’. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments which are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in 
current and / or non-current assets. 
The Trust's loans and receivables 
comprise: cash and cash equivalents, 
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NHS receivables, accrued income and 
'other receivables'. 
Loans and receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs, and are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost, using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that discounts exactly 
estimated future cash receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
Interest on loans and receivables is 
calculated using the effective interest 
method and credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Other Financial liabilities 

All financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value, net of transaction 
costs incurred, and measured 
subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts 
exactly estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial 
liability or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial liability. 
They are included in current liabilities 
except for amounts payable more than 12 
months after the Statement of Financial 
Position date, which are classified as 
non-current liabilities. 
The Trust’s financial liabilities comprise: 
NHS and non-NHS payables, other 
payables, accrued expenditure, and 
borrowings and finance lease obligations. 
Interest on financial liabilities carried at 
amortised cost is calculated using the 
effective interest method and charged to 
Finance Costs. Interest on financial 
liabilities taken out to finance property, 
plant and equipment is not capitalised as 
part of the cost of those assets. 

Impairment of financial assets 

At the Statement of Financial Position 
date, the Trust assesses whether any 
loans and receivables are impaired. 
Financial assets are impaired and 
impairment losses are recognised if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more 
events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the asset. 
For financial assets carried at amortised 
cost, the amount of the impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the 
asset's carrying amount and the present 
value of the revised future cash flows 
discounted at the asset's original effective 
interest rate. The loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced through the use of an allowance 
account/bad debt provision. 

1.14  
Foreign Exchange 

The functional and presentational 
currency of the Trust is sterling. 
Transactions that are denominated in a 
foreign currency are translated into 
sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the 
dates of the transactions. Resulting 
exchange gains and losses are taken to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

1.15  
Third Party Assets 

Assets belonging to third parties (such as 
money held on behalf of patients) are not 
recognised in the accounts since the 
Trust has no beneficial interest in them. 
However, they are disclosed in a 
separate note to the accounts in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual. 
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1.16  
Leases 

Finance leases 

Where substantially all risks and rewards 
of ownership of a leased asset are borne 
by the Trust, the asset is recorded as 
property, plant and equipment and a 
corresponding liability is recorded. The 
value at which both are recognised is the 
lower of the fair value of the asset or the 
present value of the minimum lease 
payments, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. The implicit 
interest rate is that which produces a 
constant period rate of interest of the 
outstanding liability. 
The asset and liability are recognised at 
the commencement of the lease. The 
annual rental is split between the 
repayment of the liability and a finance 
cost. The annual finance cost is 
calculated by applying the implicit interest 
rate to the outstanding liability, to achieve 
a constant rate of finance over the life of 
the lease, and is charged to Finance 
Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. The lease liability is de-
recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Operating leases 

Other leases are regarded as operating 
leases and the rentals are charged to 
operating expenses on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. 
Operating lease incentives received are 
added to the lease rentals and charged to 
operating expenses over the life of the 
lease. 

Leases of land and buildings 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, 
the land component is separated from the 
building component and the classification 
for each is assessed separately. 

1.17  
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and 
PDC Dividend 

Public dividend capital is a type of public 
sector equity finance based on the 
excess of assets over liabilities at the 
time of establishment of the predecessor 
NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined 
that PDC is not a financial instrument 
within the meaning of IAS 32. 
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital 
utilised by the Trust, is payable as public 
dividend capital dividend. The charge is 
calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury 
(currently 3.5%) on the average relevant 
net assets of the Trust during the financial 
year. Relevant net assets are calculated 
as the value of all assets less the value of 
all liabilities, except for (i) donated assets, 
(ii) average daily cash balances held with 
the Government Banking Services (GBS) 
and National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits, 
excluding cash balances held in GBS 
accounts that relate to a short-term 
working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC 
dividend balance receivable or payable. 
In accordance with the requirements laid 
down by the Department of Health (as the 
issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year 
is calculated on the actual average 
relevant net assets as set out in the pre-
audit version of the annual accounts. The 
dividend thus calculated is not revised 
should any adjustment to net assets 
occur as a result of the audit of the 
annual accounts. 

1.18  
Losses and Special Payments 

Losses and Special Payments are items 
that Parliament would not have 
contemplated when it agreed funds for 
the health service or passed legislation. 
By their nature they are items that ideally 
should not arise. They are therefore 
subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of 
payments. They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way each 
individual case is handled. 
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Losses and Special Payments are 
charged to the relevant functional 
headings in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on an accruals 
basis, including losses which would have 
been made good through insurance cover 
had the trust not been bearing its own 
risks (with insurance premiums then 
being included as normal revenue 
expenditure). 
However, the losses and special 
payments note is compiled directly from 
the losses and compensations register 
which reports on an accruals basis with 
the exception of provisions for future 
losses. 

1.19  
Gifts 

Gifts are items that are voluntarily 
donated, with no preconditions and 
without the expectation of any return. 
Gifts include all transactions economically 
equivalent to free and unremunerated 
transfers, such as the loan of an asset for 
its expected useful life, and the sale or 
lease of assets at below market value. 

1.20  
Charitable Funds 

The Trust is the corporate Trustee of 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust 
Charitable Fund – Registered Charity 
number 1051748. The foundation trust 
has assessed its relationship to the 
charitable fund and determined it to be a 
subsidiary because the foundation trust 
has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the charitable fund 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities 
for itself, its patients or its staff. 
Prior to 2013/14, the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual permitted 
the NHS foundation trust not to 
consolidate the charitable fund due to a 
dispensation from HM Treasury relating 
to the application of IAS 27. From 
2013/14, the dispensation was removed 
however given the value of the charity the 

foundation trust has not consolidated the 
charitable fund as at is not deemed 
material to the accounts of the foundation 
trust. 

1.21  
Judgements in applying accounting 
policies 

The following are the judgements, apart 
from those involving estimations (see 
below) that management has made in the 
process of applying the NHS foundation 
trust’s accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements: 
[Disclose the judgements made by the 
NHS foundation trust's management, as 
required by IAS 1 para 122.] 

1.22  
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are assumptions about the 
future and other major sources of 
estimation uncertainty that have a 
significant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year: 
[Disclose information about assumptions 
and sources of estimation uncertainty, as 
required by IAS 1 para 125. Disclosures 
must include the nature of the 
assumption and the carrying amount of 
the asset/liability at the end of the 
reporting period and may include 
sensitivity of the carrying amount to the 
assumptions, expected resolution of 
uncertainty and range of possible 
outcomes within the next financial year, 
and an explanation of changes to past 
assumptions if the uncertainty remains 
unresolved. Examples could include: 
indices used for asset valuations, asset 
lives, provision balances, intangible asset 
valuations.] 
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1.23  
Accounting standards that have been 
issued but have not yet been adopted 

The DH GAM does not require the 
following Standards and Interpretations to 
be applied in 2016/17. These standards 
are still subject to HM Treasury FReM 
adoption, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being 
for implementation in 2018/19, and the 
government implementation date for 
IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury 
consideration. 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – 
Application required for accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018, but not yet adopted by the FReM: 
early adoption is not therefore permitted 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers -– Application required for 
accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018, but not yet 
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is 
not therefore permitted 

• IFRS 16 Leases – Application required 
for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2019, but not yet 
adopted by the FReM: early adoption is 
not therefore permitted. 

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency 
Transactions and Advance 
Consideration – Application required 
for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018. 

Note 2  
Operating Segments 

The Trust has only one segment of 
business which is the provision of 
healthcare. The segment has been 
identified with reference to how the Trust 
is organised and the way in which the 
chief operating decision maker 
(determined to be the Board of Directors) 
runs the Trust. 
The geographical and regulatory 
environment and the nature of services 
provided are consistent across the 
organisation and are therefore presented 
in one segment. The necessary 
information to develop detailed income 
and expenditure for each product and 
service provided by the Trust is currently 
not discretely available and the cost to 
develop this information would be 
excessive. 
Significant amounts of income are 
received from transactions with the 
Department of Health and other NHS 
bodies. Disclosure of all material 
transactions with related parties is 
included in note 26 to these financial 
statements. There are no other parties 
that account for more than 10% of total 
income. 
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Note 3  
Operating income from patient care activities 

Note 3.1  
Income from patient care activities (by nature) 

Income by classification 

  
31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016  

£000 
 

£000 
    
Elective income 35 584 

 
34 771 

Non elective income 80 126 
 

75 699 
Outpatient income 42 804 

 
38 197 

A & E income 11 714 
 

9 868 
Other NHS clinical income 80 046 

 
72 107 

Private patient income 372 
 

309 
Other non-protected clinical income 

   

  - Injury cost recovery (including Road Traffic Act Income) 989 
 

817  
251 635 

 
231 768 

 
All income from activities relates to commissioner requested services. 

Note 3.2  
Income from patient care activities (by source) 

Income from patient care activities received from: 
  

31 March 2017 
 
31 March 2016  

  £000 
 

£000 
    
Clinical Care Groups and NHS England 248 193 

 
228 462 

Public Health England 1 791 
 

2 180 
NHS Foundation Trusts 184 

 
0 

NHS Trusts 0 
 

0 
Non NHS: 

   

      - Private patients 91 
 

103 
      - Overseas patients (non-reciprocal) 371 
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      - Injury cost recovery (including Road Traffic Act Income) 989 
 

817 
      - Other 16 

 
0  

251 635 
 

231 768 
 
Injury Cost Recovery income is subject to a provision for doubtful debts of 22.94% 
(2015/16: 17.9%) to reflect expected rates of collection. 
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Note 3.3  
Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the NHS foundation trust) 
  

31 March 2017 
 
31 March 2016  

£000 
 

£000 
    
Income recognised this year 371 
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Cash payments received in-year (relating to invoices raised in current and 
previous years) 

66 
 

46 

    
Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables (relating to 
invoices raised in current and prior years) 

174 
 

0 

    
Amounts written off in-year (relating to invoices raised in current and 
previous years) 

7 
 

45 

 

Note 4  
Other operating income 

  
31 March 2017   31 March 2016  

£000   £000 
    
Research and development 973   1 054 
Education and training 8 718 

 
7 247 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 361 
 

413 
Non-patient care services to other bodies 5 130   5 355 
Reversal of Impairment 0   0 
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income 1 10 826   0 
Other income 9 715   8 934 
Income in respect of staff costs where accounted on gross basis   377   0  

36 100   23 003  
      

Other Income includes        
31 March 2017   31 March 2016  

£000   £000 
    
Car parking 2 049   1 615 
Staff accommodation 522   483 
Crèche 367 

 
339 

Catering 1 127   903 
Clinical tests 1 440 

 
0 

Other 2  4 210   5 594 
  9 715   8 934 

 
1  
Sustainability and Transformation includes £8.3m core funding, £1.3m finance and £1.2m bonus incentives from NHS 
England. 
2  
Other income is mainly in relation to pharmacy sales and clinical excellence awards. 
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Note 5.1  
Operating expenses 

  
31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016  

£000 
 

£000 
    
Services from NHS Foundation Trusts  854 

 
3 464 

Services from NHS Trusts  5 608 
 

3 248 
Services from other NHS bodies  0 

 
0 

Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 5 952 
 

2 627 
Employee expenses - executive directors 1 391 

 
1 614 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 199 
 

136 
Employee expenses - staff 210 249 

 
193 835 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 31 656 
 

31 691 
Supplies and services - general  6 347 

 
5 889 

Establishment  3 118 
 

2 665 
Research and development 1 381 

 
1 074 

Employee travel 503 
 

573 
Transport   401 

 
354 

Premises 6 483 
 

6 674 
Increase/(decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 1 4 356 

 
858 

Change in provisions discount rate(s) 50 
 

3 
Drugs   29 781 

 
28 072 

Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments 355 
 

256 
Depreciation  9 596 

 
10 007 

Net impairments  0 
 

(227)  
Statutory audit fee 108 

 
71 

Other auditor remuneration 0 
 

76 
Internal audit  121 

 
182 

Clinical negligence - amounts payable to the NHSLA (premiums) 5 610  4 764 
Legal fees 252 

 
140 

Consultancy costs 450 
 

1 878 
Training, courses and conferences 843 

 
782 

Patient travel 80 
 

66 
Car parking & security 365 
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Redundancy2 295 
 

939 
Hospitality  33 

 
37 

Insurance 178 
 

129 
Losses & special payments 34 

 
9 

Other    997 
 

973  
327 646 

 
303 063 

 
1  
The net increase in provision for impairment of receivables includes £4.4m (2015/16 £0.3m) in relation to NHS 
receivables. 
2  
Redundancy Costs include £0.08m not included in employee expenses 
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Note 6  
Operating leases 

Operating expenses include: 

Payments recognised as an expense 

  
        31 March 2017   31 March 2016  
        £000   £000 

        
Minimum lease payments         355   256  

        355   256 
        
Total future minimum lease payments               
         

        31 March 2017   31 March 2016  
Buildings   Other   Total   Total 

        
Payable: £000   £000   £000   £000 
Not later than one year 95   3   98   168 
Between one and five years 304   5   309   177 
Later than five years 76   0   76   0 
Total 475   8   483   345 
 
In general, operating leases are for various pieces of equipment and are for a five year 
period. Generally all equipment leases are taken out under the ‘NHS Conditions of 
Contract for the Lease of Goods.’  
The most significant leases are in relation to Stirling Park (£0.087m pa). This is a fifteen 
year lease, with break clauses at years five and ten. 

Note 7  
The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 

  
31 March 2017   31 March 2016  

£000   £000  
      

Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims made 
under this legislation 

20   218 

 
The Trust’s aim is to comply with the Better Payment Practice Code with the target being 
to pay all non-NHS trade creditors within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice 
(whichever is later) unless other payment terms have been agreed. 
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Note 8  
Employee benefits 

Note 8.1  
Staff costs 

  
2016/17 

  
2015/16 

  
 

Total Permanently 
Employed 

Other Total Permanently 
Employed 

Other 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
       
Salaries and wages 183 234 142 704 40 530 171 357 126 272 45 085 
Social Security Costs 13 915 13 915 0 10 530 10 530 0 
Employer contributions to NHS 
Pension Scheme 

15 549 15 549 0 14 592 14 592 0 

Termination benefits 220 220 0 939 939 0 
        

212 918 172 388 40 530 197 418 152 333 45 085 
 
This analysis excludes non-executive director costs of £0.2m (2015/16: £0.1m). 
 

Note 8.2  
Directors' Remuneration and Other Benefits 

  
31 March 2017  31 March 2016 

 £000  £000 
    
Directors Remuneration 1 193  1 489 
Social Security Costs 133  78 
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme 65  47 
    
Total Remuneration 1 391  1 614 

 
Two Directors (2015/16: 2) are accruing pension benefits under the NHS Pension Scheme 
(defined benefits). 
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Note 8.3  
Average number of persons employed 

 
 2016/17   2015/16   

 Total 
Permanently 

Employed Other Total 
Permanently 

Employed Other 
 Number Number Number Number Number Number 

       
Medical and dental 578 503 75 604 504 100 
Administration and estates 1 416 1 328 88 1 279 1 135 144 
Healthcare assistants and other 
support staff 626 585 41 774 653 121 
Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting staff 1 440 1 159 281 1 323 1 074 249 
Nursing, midwifery and health 
visiting learners 0 0 0 14 14 0 
Scientific, therapeutic and 
technical staff 515 466 49 360 284 76 
       
Total 4 575 4 041 534 4 354 3 664 690 

 

Note 8.4  
Staff sickness 

  
31 March 2017  31 March 2016  

Number  Number 
    
Total days lost 56 060  52 288 
Total Staff Years 3 912  3 655 
Average working days lost 14  14 

Note 8.5  
Reporting of other compensation schemes - exit packages 

 
 2016/17 

 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

Cost of  
other 

departures 
agreed 

Total  
number of  

exit packages 
Total cost of 

exit packages 
Exit package cost band Number £000s Number £000s Number £000s 
       
<£10,000 0 0 1 3 1 3 
£10,001 - £25,000 0 0 1 25 1 25 
£25,001 - 50,000 1 34 0 0 1 34 
£50,001 - £100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 
£100,001 - £150,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 
£150,001 - £200,000 1 158 0 0 1 158 
>£200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total 2 192 2 28 4 220 
 2015/16 

 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of  
other  

departures 
agreed 

Cost of  
other  

departures 
agreed 

Total  
number of exit 

packages 
Total cost of  

exit packages 
Exit package cost band Number £000s Number £000s Number £000s 
       
<£10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 
£10,001 - £25,000 0 0 3 52 3 52 
£25,001 - 50,000 0 0 1 27 1 27 
£50,001 - £100,000 0 0 2 187 2 187 
£100,001 - £150,000 0 0 5 673 5 673 
£150,001 - £200,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 
>£200,001 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total 0 0 11 939 11 939 
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There have been no (2015/16: none) 
departures where special payments have 
been made. 

Note 8.6  
Retirements due to ill-health 

During 2016/17 there were 4 (2015/16: 4) 
early retirements from the Trust on the 
grounds of ill-health. The estimated 
additional pension liabilities of these ill-
health retirements will be £0.4m 
(2015/16: £0.2m). The cost of these ill-
health retirements will be borne by the 
NHS Business Services Authority - 
Pensions Division. 

Note 9  
Pension costs 

Past and present employees are covered 
by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable 
and rules of the Schemes can be found 
on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are 
unfunded defined benefit schemes that 
cover NHS employers, GP practices and 
other bodies, allowed under the direction 
of the Secretary of State in England and 
Wales. They are not designed to be run in 
a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying 
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, 
each scheme is accounted for as if it 
were a defined contribution scheme: the 
cost to the NHS body of participating in 
each scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to that scheme for 
the accounting period. 
In order that the defined benefit 
obligations recognised in the financial 
statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the 
reporting date by a formal actuarial 
valuation, the FReM requires that “the 
period between formal valuations shall be 
four years, with approximate 
assessments in intervening years”. An 
outline of these follows: 

a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried 
out annually by the scheme actuary 
(currently the Government Actuary’s 
Department) as at the end of the 
reporting period. This utilises an actuarial 
assessment for the previous accounting 
period in conjunction with updated 
membership and financial data for the 
current reporting period, and are 
accepted as providing suitably robust 
figures for financial reporting purposes. 
The valuation of scheme liability as at 31 
March 2017, is based on valuation data 
as 31 March 2016, updated to 31 March 
2017 with summary global member and 
accounting data. In undertaking this 
actuarial assessment, the methodology 
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 
interpretations, and the discount rate 
prescribed by HM Treasury have also 
been used. 
The latest assessment of the liabilities of 
the scheme is contained in the scheme 
actuary report, which forms part of the 
annual NHS Pension Scheme (England 
and Wales) Pension Accounts. These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS 
Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained 
from The Stationery Office. 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess 
the level of liability in respect of the 
benefits due under the schemes (taking 
into account their recent demographic 
experience), and to recommend 
contribution rates payable by employees 
and employers. 
The last published actuarial valuation 
undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme 
was completed for the year ending 31 
March 2012. 
The Scheme Regulations allow for the 
level of contribution rates to be changed 
by the Secretary of State for Health, with 
the consent of HM Treasury, and 
consideration of the advice of the 
Scheme Actuary and appropriate 
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employee and employer representatives 
as deemed appropriate. 

c) Alternative Pension Scheme 

For those employees who do not have 
access to the NHS pensions scheme but 
who are otherwise classified as 
employees with an entitlement to 

automatic enrolment in an appropriate 
pension the Trust has put in place an 
alternative workplace pension scheme. 
This scheme is administered by NEST 
(National Employment Savings Trust) and 
is a defined contribution pension scheme. 
The total contribution costs for this 
scheme for the financial year 2016/17 
amount to £6,173 (2015/16: £6,571).
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Note 10  
Finance income 
 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Interest on bank accounts 31  35 
 31  35 

Note 11  
Finance expenses – financial liabilities 
 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Commercial loans  1 804  830 
Finance leases 106  17 
Other 21  218 
 1 931  1 065 
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Note 12.1  
Property, plant and equipment 2016/17 
 

 

Total Land  Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings  Assets under 
construction 

and POA 

Plant and 
machinery  

Transport 
equipment  

Information 
technology  

Furniture 
& fittings  

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016 207 959 6 063 135 609 6 156 2 230 37 355 150 16 553 3 843 
Additions - purchased  17 564 0 34 0 14 314 2 650 0 566 0 
Additions - donated  361 0 0 0 244 117 0 0 0 
Additions - leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairments charged to the revaluation 
reserve (173)  0 (173)  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reclassifications 0 0 1 528 10 (1 821)  170 0 101 12 
Revaluation  164 42 51 71 0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals  (3 338)  (370)  0 (291)  0 (328)  (10)  (2 317)  (22)  
Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2017 222 537 5 735 137 049 5 946 14 967 39 964 140 14 903 3 833 
Depreciation at 1 April 2016 41 611 0 534 56 0 28 125 99 9 876 2 921 
Provided during the year  9 596 0 4 895 337 0 2 120 14 2 060 170 
Impairments  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluation  (3 438)  0 (3 416)  (22)  0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals  (2 354)  0 0 (8)  0 0 (7)  (2 317)  (22)  
Depreciation at 31 March 2017 45 415 0 2 013 363 0 30 245 106 9 619 3 069 
Net book value           
- Owned at 1 April 2016 164 243 6 063 133 789 6 100 2 230 8 516 48 6 592 905 
- Finance lease at 1 April 2016 181 0 0 0 0 102 0 79 0 
- Donated at 1 April 2016 1 924 0 1 286 0 0 612 3 6 17 
- Total at 1 April 2016 166 348 6 063 135 075 6 100 2 230 9 230 51 6 677 922 
- Owned at 31 March 2017 176 514 5 735 135 036 5 583 14 564 9 514 34 5 284 764 
- Finance lease at 31 March 2017 205 0 0 0 0 205 0 0 0 
- Donated at 31 March 2017 403 0 0 0 403 0 0 0 0 
- Total at 31 March 2017 177 122 5 735 135 036 5 583 14 967 9 719 34 5 284 764 

 

Note 12.2  
Property, plant and equipment 2015/16 
 

 

Total Land  Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

Dwellings  Assets under 
construction 

and POA 

Plant and 
machinery  

Transport 
equipment  

Information 
technology  

Furniture & 
fittings  

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2015 214 327 23 335 126 403 6 063 3 302 35 332 143 16 093 3 656 
Additions - purchased  10 825 0 86 0 8 513 1 919 7 300 0 
Additions - donated  342 0 0 0 0 305 0 1 36 
Additions - leased 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Impairments  (18 982)  (17 284)  (1 469)  (229)  0 0 0 0 0 
Reversal of impairments 246 0 246 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reclassifications 0 0 8 223 285 (9 585)  767 0 159 151 
Revaluation  2 189 12 2 140 37 0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals  (988)  0 (20)  0 0 (968)  0 0 0 
Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2016 207 959 6 063 135 609 6 156 2 230 37 355 150 16 553 3 843 
Depreciation at 1 April 2015 37 732 0 437 56 0 26 859 89 7 544 2 747 
Provided during the year  10 007 0 5 010 323 0 2 158 10 2 332 174 
Impairments  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Revaluation  (5 216)  0 (4 893)  (323)  0 0 0 0 0 
Disposals  (912)  0 (20)  0 0 (892)  0 0 0 
Depreciation at 31 March 2016 41 611 0 534 56 0 28 125 99 9 876 2 921 
Net book value           
- Owned at 1 April 2016 173 615 23 335 124 758 6 007 3 302 6 999 49 8 279 886 
- Finance lease at 1 April 2016 920 0 0 0 0 660 0 260 0 
- Donated at 1 April 2016 2 060 0 1 208 0 0 814 5 10 23 
- Total at 1 April 2016 176 595 23 335 125 966 6 007 3 302 8 473 54 8 549 909 
- Owned at 31  March 2016 164 243 6 063 133 789 6 100 2 230 8 516 48 6 592 905 
- Finance lease at 31 March 2016 181 0 0 0 0 102 0 79 0 
- Donated at 31 March 2016 1 924 0 1 286 0 0 612 3 6 17 
- Total at 31 March 2016 166 348 6 063 135 075 6 100 2 230 9 230 51 6 677 922 
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Note 13.1  
Revaluations 

 
  31 March 2017   31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
    
Changes in market price     
Land 42   12 
Property, plant and Equipment 3 560   7 393 
        
TOTAL REVALUATIONS1 3 602   7 405 
        
        
       
  31 March 2017   31 March 2016 
 £000   £000 
Land    
Changes in market price 0   (17 284) 
Reversal of impairments 0   0 
        
TOTAL - Land 0   (17 284) 
        
Property, plant and Equipment £'000   £'000 
Loss or damage from normal operations (173)   (1 698) 
Changes in market price 0   (19) 
Reversal of impairments 0   246 
        
TOTAL - Property, plant and Equipment (173)   (1 471) 
        
TOTAL IMPAIRMENTS2 (173)   (18 755) 

 
 
2016/17 £3.6m Revaluation was credited to the Revaluation Reserve (2015/16, £7.4m) 

2  
2016/17 £0.2m Impairment was charged to the Revaluation Reserve (2015/16, £18.9m) 
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Note 13.2  
Economic lives and valuations 

Information on the economic life of property, plant and equipment is included in the 
accounting policies. 
During the year the land, buildings and dwellings were valued by DVS Property Specialists 
on a Modern Equivalent Asset basis. 

Note 14.1  
Inventories 

 

 31 March 2017   31 March 2016 
 £000   £000 
       
Drugs 2 111   1 800 
Consumables 4 805   4 551 
       
TOTAL 6 916   6 351 

Note 15.1  
Trade and other receivables 

 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Current:    
NHS receivables 1 23 264  13 899 
Provision for impaired receivables2 (980)  (1 265) 
Provision for NHS Receivables3 (4 674)  0 
Prepayments, accrued income and deferred expenditure 2 13 876  3 026 
Other receivables 5 013  5 824 
TOTAL 36 499  21 484 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Non-Current:    
Provision for impaired receivables (78)  (111) 
Other receivables 436  622 
TOTAL 358  511 
 
1  
Included in NHS receivables is £11.5m relating to over performance with our main commissioners. 
2  
Included within accrued income is £4.6m STF and there is a £1.1m increase in partially completed spells. 
3  
Provision for clinical Income Invoices 
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Note 15.2  
Provision for impairment of receivables 
 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Balance at 1 April  1 376  518 
Increase in provision 4 356  858 
Amount utilised 0  0 
Balance at 31 March  5 732  1 376 
 
This principally relates to a provision for Clinical Income, discussions are ongoing with 
commissioner. 
The carried forward provision mainly relates to doubtful debts of 22.94% (2015/16: 17.9%) 
for Road Traffic Act income. No provision for NHS debts has been made in accordance 
with Department of Health guidance. 

Note 15.3  
Analysis of receivables past due impaired and non-impaired 

 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Ageing of past due impaired receivables    
0 - 30 days 2 374  3 
30-60 Days 0  6 
60-90 days 0  5 
90- 180 days 114  134 
Over 180 days 3 244  1 228 
 5 732  1 376 
Ageing of past due non-impaired receivables    
0 - 30 days 382  939 
30-60 Days 811  1 246 
60-90 days 394  862 
90- 180 days 4 152  4 504 
over 180 days 1 694  3 276 
 7 433  10 827 

Note 16.1  
Trade and other payables 

 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Current    
NHS payables 5 562  3 740 
Non - NHS trade payables - revenue 16 215  12 721 
Non - NHS trade payables - capital 6 853  3 663 
Social security costs 2 136  1 560 
Other taxes payable 1 815  1 601 
Other payables 413  188 
Accruals 11 339  9 773 
                                 
TOTAL 44 333  33 246 
 
Non-NHS trade payables revenue include £2.1m of outstanding pension contributions at 
31 March 2017 (31 March 2016 £2m). 
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Note 16.2  
Deferred Income 

 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Current    
Deferred Income - goods and services 2 362  1 919 
Other deferred Income 0  1 
TOTAL 2 362  1 920 
 
Included in Deferred Income is £2.1m in relation to maternity pathway and £0.3m for 
research and development. 

Note 17  
Borrowings 

 
 31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000 
Current    
Other loans 14  28 
Obligations under finance leases 133  133 
Capital loans from Department of Health 1 187  1 191 
Revenue loans from Department of Health 56 800  0 
 58 134  1 352 
    
Non Current    
Other loans 0  14 
Obligations under finance leases 135  21 
Capital loans from Department of Health 5 206  6 397 
Revenue loans from Department of Health 73 337  84 034 
 78 678  90 466 
 
The Trust is party to twelve Department of Health loans as follows (the principal sums 
which can be seen below): 
 

Loan 
Amount 
£'m Purpose of Loan Repayments continue until: 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate: 
Balance @ 

01/04/16 
Loans 

Received 
Loans 

Repaid 
Balance @ 

31/03/17 
         
1 1.6 Capital investment October 2019 7.14% 0.9 0.0 (0.2)  0.7 
2 5.4 Capital investment September 2020 7.69% 3.8 0.0 (0.8)  3.0 
3 3.1 Capital investment November 2038 1.26% 2.9 0.0 (0.1)  2.8 
4 22.5 Revenue Support March 2020 1.50% 22.5 0.0 0.0 22.5 
5 56.8 Revenue Support March 2018 1.50% 56.8 0.0 0.0 56.8 
6 21.3 Revenue Support ₁ January 2020 1.50% 0.0 21.3 0.0 21.3 
7 5.1 Revenue Support November 2019 1.50% 0.0 5.1 0.0 5.1 
8 4.6 Revenue Support December 2019 1.50% 0.0 4.6 0.0 4.6 
9 6.3 Revenue Support January 2020 1.50% 0.0 6.3 0.0 6.3 
10 3.3 Revenue Support February 2020 1.50% 0.0 3.3 0.0 3.3 
11 6.1 Revenue Support March 2020 1.50% 0.0 6.1 0.0 6.1 

12 4.2 Revenue Support₂ 

Repayable upon confirmation of 
Allocation of 2016/17 Q3 & Q4 
STP funding 1.50%   4.2 0.0 4.2 

13 21.3 Working Capital Facility 
Converted by Board Resolution to 
Uncommitted Loan   4.7 21.3 (26.0)  0.0 

₁ Loan 6 - This was formerly the Working Capital Facility which was fully drawn during 2016/17, this loan facility was 
subsequently converted into a Revenue Loan Facility in February 2017. 

₂ Loan 12 – This loan was a Cash advance for the Trusts’ 2016/17 Q3 & Q4 STP allocation. The loan is repayable upon 
confirmation of Allocation of 2016/17 Q3 & Q4 STP funding. 
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Note 18  
Finance lease obligations 

 

 Minimum lease payments  
Present value of minimum 
lease payments 

 31 March 2017  31 March 2016  31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
 £000  £000  £000  £000 
        
Within one year 133  133  133  133 
Between one and five years 135  23  135  23 
Less future finance charges 0  (2)   0  (2)  
Present value of minimum lease 
payments 268  155  268  155 
        
Included in:        
  Current borrowings     133  133 
  Non-current borrowings     135  23 
     268  156 

 
The largest finance leases are for a MRI Scanner and IT hardware for a five year period. 

Note 19  
Provisions for liabilities and charges 

 
 Current    Non-current    

31 March 2017 
 
31 March 2016 

 
31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016  

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 
 

£000 
        
Pensions relating to staff 72 

 
72 

 
720 

 
719 

Legal claims 121 
 

54 
 

0 
 

0 
Dilapidation 0  0  114  114 
        
TOTAL 193 

 
126 

 
834 

 
833 

 
 2016/17    2015/16    

 
Pensions  

relating to staff 
Legal  

claims Dilapidation Total 
Pensions  

relating to staff 
Legal  

claims Dilapidation Total  
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

         
At 1st April 791 54 114 959 913 67 114 1 094 
Change in the discount rate 50 0 0 50 3 0 0 3 
Arising during the year 254 67 0 321 67 75 0 142 
Utilised during the year (94) 0 0 (94) (100) (80) 0 (180)  
Reversed unused (231) 0 0 (231) (114) (8) 0 (122)  
Unwinding of discount 22 0 0 22 22 0 0 22 
At 31st March 792 121 114 1 027 791 54 114 959 
         
Expected timing of cashflows: 

        

Within one year 72 121 0 193 72 54 0 126 
Between one and five years 288 0 0 288 279 0 0 279 
After five years 432 0 114 546 440 0 114 554  

792 121 114 1 027 791 54 114 959 

 
The provision for pensions relating to staff reflects the liabilities due to early retirements 
prior to 6 March 1995. The legal claims provision reflects liabilities arising from Public and 
Employee Liability claims. 
Other provisions include a dilapidation provision relating to Stirling Park. 
£111.8m is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2017 in 
respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust (£111.9m at 31 March 2016).  
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Note 20  
Cash and cash equivalents 

 

  
At  

1 April 2016  
Cash changes 

2016/17  
At  

31 March 2017 
  £000  £000  £000 
       
Government Banking Service cash at bank  5 509  (2 827)  2 682 
Commercial cash at bank and in hand  111  (1 216)  (1 105) 
       
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Cash 
Flows and Statement of Financial Position  5 620  (4 043)   1 577 

Note 21  
Capital Commitments 

There are two capital commitments under 
capital expenditure contracts totalling 
£13m at 31 March 2017 (£NIL at 31 
March 2016). 
£12m relates to the Emergency 
Department development and £1m 
relates to a CT scanner. 

Note 22  
Contingencies 

The contingent liabilities relating to the 
Trust as at 31 March 2017 were £0.05m 
(£0.03m at 31 March 2016) relating to 
NHS Litigation Authority Legal Claims. 

Note 23  
Related Party Transactions 

The Medway NHS Foundation Trust is a 
corporate body established by order of 
the Secretary of State for Health. 
 

The Trust has taken advantage of the 
exemption provided by IAS 24 ‘Related 
Party Disclosures’, where the parent’s 
own financial statements are presented 
together with the consolidated financial 
statements and any transactions or 
balances between group entities have 
been eliminated on consolidation.  
The Department of Health is regarded as 
a related party. During the year the Trust 
has had a significant number of material 
transactions with the Department and 
with other entities for which the 
Department is regarded as the parent 
Department. These entities are listed 
below: 

• NHS England 
• Clinical Commissioning Groups 
• NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation 

Trusts 
• NHS Arms Length Bodies 
• Health Education England 
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The main entities with which the Trust had material transactions are within the Kent and 
Medway Health Economy, or are Arms Length Bodies and are: 
 
 2016/17 2016/17 31 March 2017 31 March 2017 

 
Payments to 

Related Party 
Receipts from 
Related Party 

Amounts owed to 
related Party 

Amounts due from 
Related Party 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
     
NHS England 0 46 882 1 10 002 
Health Education England 9 8 780 7 317 
     
Clinical Commissioning Groups     
NHS Dartford, Gravesham And Swanley CCG 0 11 482 24 1 354 
NHS Medway CCG 0 141 508 1 542 10 961 
NHS Swale CCG 0 50 333 451 5 962 
NHS West Kent CCG 0 6 371 22 643 
     
NHS Trusts     
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 2 666 651 1 434 293 
Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care NHS Trust 184 987 13 130 
Kent Community Healthcare 0 0 0 0 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 2 965 633 1 463 426 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 0 0 0 0 
     
NHS Foundation Trusts     
East Kent Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 648 2 071 435 315 
Queen Victoria Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 0 1 092 121 667 
Royal Surrey County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 0 866 0 0 
     
NHS Arms Length Bodies     
NHS Litigation Authority 5 617 0 20 0 
NHS Pensions Agency 15 549 0 2 189 0 
     
Other Government Departments     
HM Revenue and Customs 13 915 0 3 951 773 
Medway Council 0 932 0 0 

 
 
Note 23 Related Party Transactions continued: 
 
 2015/16 2015/16 31 March 2016 31 March 2016 

 
Payments to 

Related Party 
Receipts from 
Related Party 

Amounts owed to 
related Party 

Amounts due from 
Related Party 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 
     
NHS England 0 32 335 0 2 208 
Health Education England 0 7 142 0 419 
     
Clinical Commissioning Groups     
NHS Dartford, Gravesham And Swanley CCG 0 11882 0 429 
NHS Medway CCG 0 131 857 1 442 3 612 
NHS Swale CCG 0 44 383 477 2 048 
NHS West Kent CCG 0 6 395 0 472 
     
NHS Trusts     
Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust 2 770 673 1 045 563 
Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care NHS Trust 276 1 013 147 404 
Kent Community Healthcare 0 0 0 0 
Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells NHS Trust 3 802 549 1 113 358 
     
NHS Foundation Trusts     
East Kent Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 512 1 889 234 695 
     
NHS Arms Length Bodies     
NHS Litigation Authority 4 764 0 6 0 
NHS Pensions Agency 14 952 0 0 0 
     
Other Government Departments     
HM Revenue and Customs 0 0 0 1 044 
Medway Council 0 1 702 0 0 
 
The Trust has also received income from charitable funds where the Trust is the corporate Trustee 
Medway NHS Foundation Trust Charitable Fund 0 71 0 0 
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Note 24  
Financial Instruments 

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 
requires disclosure of the role that 
financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks 
an entity faces in undertaking its 
activities. The Trust actively seeks to 
minimise its financial risks. In line with 
this policy, the Trust neither buys nor sells 
financial instruments. Financial assets 
and liabilities are generated by day-to-
day operational activities rather than 
being held to change the risks facing the 
Trust in undertaking its activities. 
The Trust holds surplus cash based on 
forecasted cash flows with the 
Government Banking Service in order to 
minimise the PDC dividend charge. 

Interest-Rate Risk 

All of the Trust's financial liabilities carry 
nil or fixed rates of interest. The only 
element of the Trust's assets that are  
subject to a variable rate are short term 
cash investments. The Trust is not, 
therefore, exposed to significant interest-
rate risk. 

Foreign Currency Risk 

The Trust has negligible foreign currency 
income or expenditure. 

Credit Risk 

The Trust operates primarily within the 
NHS market and receives the majority of 
its income from other NHS organisations. 
There is therefore little risk that one party 
will fail to discharge its obligations with 
the other. Disputes can arise, however, 

around how the amounts owed are 
calculated, particularly due to the 
complex nature of the Payments by 
Results regime. For this reason the Trust 
makes a provision for irrecoverable 
amounts based on historic patterns and 
the best information available at the time 
the accounts are prepared. The Trust 
does not hold any collateral as security. 
The Trust’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk is £1.5m. 

Liquidity Risk 

The Trust's net operating costs are 
incurred under contracts with local 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, which 
are financed from resources voted 
annually by Parliament. The Trust 
received such contract income in 
accordance with Payments by Results 
(PBR), which is intended to match the 
income received in year to the activity 
delivered in that year by reference to the 
National Tariff procedure cost. The Trust 
receives cash each month based on an 
annually agreed level of contract activity 
and there are monthly payments made to 
adjust for the actual income due under 
PBR. 
The Trust presently finances its capital 
expenditure from internally generated 
funds or funds made available from 
Government, in the form of additional 
Public Dividend Capital, under an agreed 
limit. In addition, the Trust can borrow 
from the Department of Health and 
commercially to finance capital schemes. 
Financing is drawn down to match the 
capital spend profile of the scheme 
concerned and the Trust is not, therefore, 
exposed to significant liquidity risks in this 
area. 

  



221

 

 
 

Financial assets by category 

 
 Loans and     
 receivables  Book Value  Fair Value 
 £000  £000   £000  
At 31 March 2017      
Trade and other receivables 34 999  34 999  34 999 
Cash and cash equivalents 1 577  1 577  1 577 
 36 576  36 576  36 576 
      
At 31 March 2016      
Trade and other receivables 17 176  17 176  17 176 
Cash and cash equivalents 5 620  5 620  5 620 
 22 796  22 796  22 796 
      
Financial liabilities by category      
 Other  Book Value  Fair Value 
 £000   £000   £000  
At 31 March 2017      
Borrowings excluding finance leases 136 544  136 544  136 544 
Finance leases 268  268  268 
Trade and other payables 44 013  44 013  44 013 
 180 825  180 825  180 825 
      
At 31 March 2016      
Borrowings excluding finance leases 91 664  91 664  91 664 
Finance leases 154  154  154 
Trade and other payables 33 243  33 243  33 243 
 125 061  125 061  125 061 
      
Maturity of financial liabilities      
   31 March 2017  31 March 2016 
   £000  £000 
      
In one year or less   101 390  34 594 
In more than one year but not more than two years   0  58 027 
In more than two years but not more than five years   76 335  30 162 
In more than five years   3 100  2 278 
   180 825  125 061 

 

Note 25  
Third Party Assets 

The Trust held £0.004m cash at bank and 
in hand at 31 March 2017 (£0.003m at 31 
March 2016) which relates to monies held 
on behalf of patients. This has been 
excluded from cash at bank and in hand 
figure reported in the accounts. 

Note 26  
Losses and Special Payments 

There were 35 cases of losses and 
special payments (2015/16: 51 cases) 

totalling £0.08m (2015/16: £0.1m) paid 
during 2016/17. 
These amounts are reported on an 
accruals basis but excluding provisions 
for future losses. 
Clinical negligence cases are managed 
by the National Health Service Litigation 
Authority and transactions relating to 
such cases are held in their accounts. 
The Trust pays a premium for their 
services and excesses on some cases. 
Therefore, these cases have not been 
accounted for in the Trust’s accounts. 
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Note 27  
Public Dividend Capital Dividend 

The Trust is required to demonstrate that 
the PDC dividend payable is in line with 
the actual rate of 3.5% of average 
relevant net assets. The dividend payable 
relating to the period to 31 March 2017 
was £1.3m, based on average relevant 
net assets of £36.8m. 
Note 28  
Post balance sheet event 
The Board of Directors is able to confirm 
that there are no significant issues since 
the Statement of Financial Position date 
that have had an impact on the 
Foundation Trust accounts. 
Note 29 
Audit Arrangements 

The external auditor to the Trust is 
Deloitte LLP, 3 Victoria Square, Victoria 
Street, St Albans AL1 3TF 
The Auditor was appointed by the 
Assembly of Governors in November 
2013 following a competitive tender.  
Tenure for the appointment is for an initial 
term of three years, subject to extension 
to five years subject to satisfactory 
performance which is reviewed by the 
Audit Committee. 
Remuneration of the Auditor for 2016/17 
was £73,000. Additional work relating to 
the Trust’s Quality Report was conducted 
at a cost of £8,550. 
Where the Trust’s Auditor provides non-
audit service, these would be considered 
on a case by case basis, by the Board of 
Directors to ensure the Auditor’s 
independence would not be 
compromised.  Such appointments are 
reported to the Audit Committee which 
receives reports on the outcomes of the 
work, and generally involve a different 
team to ensure independence. 
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